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CHAI RPERSON CROALEY: Good afternoon. Wy
nane is Elizabeth Gowmey. | chair the Fire and
Crimnal Justice Commttee her at the Gty Council.
Today's hearing is a joint oversight hearing with the
Conmittee on Health, Chaired by ny Coll eague here,
Corey Johnson, and the Commttee on Mental Health
chaired by Council Menber Andrew Cohen. We wil|
exam ne the |l evel of violence and the provision of
mental health and nedical service within New York
Cty jails. The commttee will also hear Intro 292
sponsored by Council Menbers Dromm King, and
Lancrman, which requires the Departnent of Corrections
to post a nonthly report on its website regarding
punitive segregation statistics for the city jail. |
want to thank nmy co-chairs and their staff for their
work on this hearing. 1'd like to al so acknow edge
that in addition to the two co-chairs, that we've
been joined by Council Menber Lancman and Public
Advocate Letitia Janes.

Over the past several years, there has
been an alarmng increase in jail violence. After
heari ng May de Bl asi 0's Executive Budget Plan for
Fi scal Year 2015 and |l earning that the Departmnent of

Corrections has not [sic] asked for additional




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

COW TTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH, DEVELOPMENTAL DI SABI LI TY,
ALCOHCOLI SM  SUBSTANCE ABUSE AND DI SABI LI TY SERVI CES JO NTLY
WTH THE COMM TTEE ON FI RE AND CRI M NAL JUSTI CE SERVI CES

AND THE COWM TTEE ON HEALTH 6
resources for this next fiscal year, which begins in
July. But rather, it believes that it will spend

| ess noney than it did this past fiscal year. | am
not confident that the Adm nistration understands the
reality on R kers Island, and that action and
resources are needed now. Sone have attributed the
rise in violence to the staffing cuts the departnent
has made over the past few years. And as a result,
correction officers work ungodly anounts of overtine.
In fact, the overtine spending is out of control.

The department will spend over $140 nillion in
overtinme this fiscal year. And there is no plan in
pl ace to increase that anopunt of noney, or increase
staffing.

At the Executive Budget heari ng,
Conmi ssi oner Ponte al so addressed the issue of jail
vi ol ence, and said candidly it was clear to himthat
despite the efforts of the prior adm nistration, the
department is in deep trouble. | appreciate the
Conmi ssi oner's candor, and his acknow edgenent that
over the past fours uses of force has increased by
59% Sl ashi ngs and st abbi ngs have increased by 100%
and assaults on staff have increased by nore than

30% The nunbers show a departnment crying out for
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hel p. The city jails nust be safe, safe for inmates,
and safe for staff. Steps need to be taken to
address inmates with serious nental health di agnoses.
Sonme of them do not belong in a jail setting on
Ri kers Island. The adm nistration nust al so address
t he housing of non-violent inmates with viol ent
inmates. It just does not nmake any sense.
Currently, the broken system of classification of 600
i nmat es who have been found guilty of commtting
infractions facing no disciplined housing. But with
t he general popul ation where they are likely to re-
attract or coerce or cause violent incidents.

At the Budget Hearing | ast nonth,
Commi ssioner Platt had no plan of action to house
these inmates, and this issue is of alarm ng concern.
A conprehensive plan to reduce jail violence is
needed. The plan needs to include additiona
training for correction officers and supervisors;
i ncrease coordination with the Departnent of Health;
i ncrease programm ng for inmates so that they' re not
idle; and have nore access to chapels. The recent
deaths of two nmentally ill inmates, Bradley Ballard
and Jerome Murdough, show the dire need for reforns

at Rikers. And the release of Daniel St. Hubert from
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the State Department of Corrections highlights the
horrors that can occur when nmentally ill inmates are
rel eased onto the general public wthout nental
heal th treatment and oversi ght needed.

I now woul d |i ke recogni ze Council Menber
Corey Johnson for his opening Statenent.

CO CHAI RPERSON JOHNSON:  Thank you, Chair
Crow ey. Good afternoon everyone. M nane is Corey
Johnson. |I'mthe Chair of the Council's Commttee on
Health. | want to thank you for joining us at
today's hearing on violence and the provision of
mental health and nedical services in New York Gty
Jails. (coughs) Excuse ne. As well as a hearing on
I ntroduction No. 292 requiring the Departnent of
Corrections to report punitive segregation violence
statistics for city jails. | would like to thank ny
co-chairs Council Menber Andrew Cohen, and especially
Counci| Menber Elizabeth Crow ey, who has been a
| eader on inproving the Gty's jail system These
are incredibly inportant matters before us, and
deserving of serious scrutiny.

| am deeply disturbed by recent reports
about rising rates of violence in prisons. The poor

and i nadequate treatnent of inmates wi th nental
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heal th probl ens, and what | believe is the woefully

i nadequat e safety of healthcare workers at these
facilities. As a prelimnary matter, although
today's hearing is specifically about violence in the
city's jails and a good deal of ny focus would be on
the safety of healthcare workers, equally as
inportant is the issue of whether inmates are
receiving quality healthcare. 1'd like to exam ne

t he adequacy of health and nental health services in
the city's jails in a subsequent hearing. Wether
inmates are getting proper and adequate treatnent and
how nedi cal are in our jails figures into our overal
heal th systemis an inportant and big topic.

So we will be revisiting that. But
violence and quality of access to care are rel ated.
W need to | ook at what needs to be done to inprove
the systemto nmake it nore humane for the inmates and
wor kers who serve them The heal thcare works in our
city's jails, the doctors, the nurses, dentists, and
soci al workers performa noble service. These are
peopl e who have al ready dedi cated thenselves to a
hel pi ng profession, and have taken extra steps to
work in one of the nost chall engi ng environnents you

could imagine. Their safety is paranount. Their
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safety is inportant not just because they deserve it,
that it is the right thing to do, but because we need
to attract new candidates to these difficult jobs.
But al so, because it is vital to the health of the
inmates they are serving.

The recent rise in violence agai nst
heal t hcare workers stunning. One innmate who was
i ncarcerated on a charge of assaulting a woman
al l egedly beat a 24-year-old nedical intern resulting
in the intern sustaining a broken jaw, and nunerous
facial fractures. |'ve heard other reports from
heal t hcare workers who we're going to hear from today
that are very disturbing. For exanple, healthcare
wor kers are sonetinmes |eft alone to escort uncuffed
i nmat es down corridors, or are left out of sightlines
of correction officers when treating an inmate. And
the failure to give healthcare workers panic buttons
woul d have cl ear protocols on how heal t hcare workers
shoul d alert correctional officers when they are, in
fact, in danger. Sonme heal thcare providers have
stated that they believe recent reforns in punitive
consequences have contributed to recent spikes in
violence. | would like to hear fromthe

Admi nistration on that point, and whether they think
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policy changes have caused the recent surge in
vi ol ence.

As anyone who has studied this issue
knows, the problem of violence, adequacy of health
and corrections staffing, and healthcare for innmates
are deeply interconnected. The availability of and
tinmely access to nental care and nental health
servi ces can exacerbate the behavior of inmates, a
likely contributing factor to the rise in violence
agai nst healthcare workers. Additionally, the
l[imtations in staff size of corrections officers
inpacts their ability to properly coordinate the
heal t hcare of inmates, which in turn may | ead to nore
violence. W can't |ook at our correctional system
in isolation of the inpacts it has on society.
Ensuri ng adequate health and nental health services
isn't just vital to inproving the correctional system
itself, it's essentially about the safety of all New
Yor kers.

W have seen the horrible consequences in
the formof victins of a killing spree, that of
Dani el St. Hubert that he recently went on. Although
M. St. Hubert was incarcerated in state prison, this

tragi c event should give us all pause to think about
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how crime, inprisonnent, and recidivismare al

mar ked by violence at every step. A nentally il
inmate who is not properly screened at intake, and is
not provided with consistent behavioral health

servi ces and nedi cati on can have their synptons
worsen potentially |eading to violence against

t hensel ves or others, and an extended tine in a
correctional facility. Wthout services, once

rel eased, this person is then subject to the sane
flare-up of synptons that potential aggression that
may | ead themright back to the doors of Rikers. W
need to ensure the consistency and quality of
services at every step to try to stop this cycle of
vi ol ence.

The point to underscore here is that none
of these issues, the safety of corrections officers,
heal t hcare workers, and the health and wel | bei ng of
detainees is nore inportant than the other. So as
you |l ook at reformof this system we need to think
about all potential consequences. As many of you
know, with the arrival of our new Comm ssioner, M.
Ponte, the new Conm ssioner of the Departnent of
Corrections, Mary de Blasio is breathing life into

these issues. And | hope we end up with a package of
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reforms that rethinks the systemfromtop to bottom
and from pre-detention to post-rel ease.

It will allow the creation of this new
task force and the serious attention being paid to
how we address the treatnment of inmates with nmental
heal th i ssues, we have to take pains to nmake sure al
voi ces are heard. Too often, what we think is a
nodel where groundbreaking reforns are nmade, but too
little attention is paid to how those will play out
on the ground level by frontline workers. | urge the
Admi nistration to solicit the viewpoints of
heal t hcare workers, corrections officers, and inmates
thenselves. W're going to hear froma w de variety
of experts today, people who have hel ped shine a
light on these probl ens, and understand what policies
need to be put in place. This is the beginning of
what | hope is fruitful conversation about positive
steps that our city can take in this arena. The goal
is to have systemthat works across the board, and I
truly believe you only get there if you take al
Vi ewpoi nts into account.

As we | ook toward the future, ny
col l eagues and | have a | ot of questions. | would

like to focus on how training of corrections and
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heal th staff should be inproved and better
coordi nat ed, what policy changes, and changes to the
physical plan of DOC facilities need to be nade in
order to inprove the safety of healthcare workers.
Whet her there shoul d be greater oversight by DOHVH of
Corizon the independent contractor charged with
providing health services in our city jails. And how
can we get these agencies and inmates to work
together nore so that we can reduce violence while

i ncreasing positive health outcones for inmates.
Finally, | believe that the bill before us today, of
which | am a co-sponsor would be critical in helping
the Council and public get a handle on the quality of
our jail system and how the systemis performng in
terns of the treatnment of inmates. | also question
whet her the public needs nore data to better assess
DOHVH and Cori zon's performance.

Lastly, | want to acknow edge ny
col | eagues on the Health Comm ttee who are joining
us. We are joined by Council Menber Espinal who is
on the conmttee. W' ve also been joined by Counci
Menber Vall one, and Council Menber Koo, and a
col | eague, Council Menber Lancman and Public Advocate

Janmes. | want to thank ny Legislative Director Louis
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Chol den- Brown; Health Conmittee Counsel Dan Hafiz
[sp?]; Policy Analyst for the Health Conmmittee
Crystal Pond; Finance Analyst for the Health
Conmttee Cril hien Francisco, as well as the staff of
the commttees on Fire and Crimnal Justice Services
and Mental Health for all their hard work in making
this hearing happen today. Thank you very nuch,
Chair.

CHAI RPERSON CROWALEY: Al right. 1'd
like to recogni ze Council Menber Cohen for his
openi ng st atenent.

CO CHAI RPERSON COHEN:  Chair, good
afternoon. Thank you. |'m Council Menber Andrew
Cohen Chair of the Council's Conmm ttee on Mental
Heal th, Devel opnental Disability, Al coholism Drug
Abuse and Disability Services. | am pleased to be
hol ding this joint hearing today with Council Menber
Crow ey, Chair of the Fire and Crimnal Justice
Comm ttee, and Council Menber Johnson Chair of the
Health Conmittee, as well as our Public Advocate.
Today, | look forward to discuss -- Today, | |ook --
today we are here to discuss violence and the
creation of nental health and nedi cal services in New

York City jails. 1'msure everyone here has read the
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recent news article about violence in city jails and
the increase in the percentage of nentally il
inmates. The G ty's Independent Budget O fice just
rel eased a report stating that 37% of the roughly
12,000 inmates in New York City jails have a nental
heal t h di agnosi s.

Now, a nental health diagnosis al one does
not result in violence. 1In fact, the vast ngjority
of people with nental illness are not violent, and
far nore likely to be the victimof a violent crinmne.
However, studi es have shown that when people with
severe nental illness have a co-occurring substance
abuse di sorder, their risk for violence increases.
Unfortunately, research has al so shown that in
national jail populations the majority of the people
neeting the criteria for serious nental illness also
have a co-occurring substance abuse di sorder.
Therefore, today | amhoping to | earn nore about how
inmates are assessed for nmental health di sorder and
subst ance abuse di sorders, and how those suffering
fromthose disorders are treated, and what we can do
better.

I"d like to |l earn nore about how such

inmates are prepared for release fromthe Departnment
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of Corrections' custody, and provided with foll ow up
services. | look forward to an ongoi ng di al ogue, and
| also want to thank the staff for hel ping ne
prepared for today's committee.

[ Pause]

CHAI RPERSON CROWLEY: We were al so
briefly joined by Council Menber Cabrera, which wll
be back soon. W'd like to hear fromthe
Adm nistration. W'd also like first to remnd the
Admi ni stration sonetines the Adm nistration can go
wong, and we're a conmittee here, three different
committees with a | ot of questions today. And nore
severe testinony probably could be answered with
guestions. But the attention span of the people in
the roomis usually better to cut the opening
statenent to only a few minutes, and open up quickly
for questions. So it's 1:25 now W would ask the
Adm nistration to try to stay within 20 m nutes of
testinony. And I'mnot sure if the Departnent of
Corrections will speak first or the Departnent of
Heal th, but then of the 20 mnutes if they could
divide it, ten and ten, sonething |like that.

COW SSI ONER PONTE:  Good aft ernoon,

Chai r persons Crowl ey, Johnson, Cohen, and nenbers of
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the Committee on Fire and Crimnal Justice Services
and Mental Health and New Mental Health. | am Joe
Pont e, Comm ssioner of the New York City Depart nment
of Corrections. Beside ne is Deputy Conm ssioner
Berliner, who is in charge of planning of prograns
for the agency. And we al so have the Chief of the
Departnment WIlliam Cl enons sitting out here in front.
Thank you for the opportunity to testify today. | am
pl eased to be here in the conpany of ny coll eague Dr.
Bassett of the Departnent of Health and Mental
Hygi ene. As you know, New York City is one of the
only jurisdictions in the United States that | odges
responsibility for jail security and health services
in two separate agencies. This approach provides
i ndependent oversight of the Correctional Healthcare
Program but it also requires an extra | evel of
i nteragency coordination. Qur joint appearance today
i s evidence our agencies share commtnent to work
together to address the serious issues on today's
agenda, which is violence and the provision of nental
heal th and nental services in New York Gty jails.
Just ten days ago before the Commttee on
Fire and Crimnal Justice Service, | presented ny

initial assessnent of the Departnment of Corrections
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after two nonths on the job. | described how
assaults on staff, assaults on other innmates, and

spl ashi ng and stabbing incidents as well as uses of
force by staff have al so substantially increased over
t he past several years. These long-termtrends years
in the making are clearly unacceptable, and reversing
themis ny top priority. But as a correction

prof essional with over 40 years experience, | mnust
assure you that the process will not be quick, nor
will it be easy. A key conponent wll be recogni zing
that the Departnent of Corrections job is changing.
Over the past decade, our average daily popul ation
declined from 13,000 in fiscal year 2004 to as | ow as
10,008 in recent nonths. The character of our inmate
popul ati on has shifted.

One of the nost significant devel opnents

is the increasing rate of nental illness in our
jails. in fiscal year 2007, 24% of inmate popul ation
had a di agnosed nental illness. Today, that is
nearly 40% | do not nean to equate nental illness

with violent behavior, but I do want to stress that
any conprehensive strategic plan to reduce viol ence
in jails nmust include significant reforns in the way

we manage and treat inmates with nental illness. The
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task force on behavioral health and the crim nal
justice systemthat Mayor de Bl asi o announced earlier
this nonth will be a great help in this regard. It
wi Il be devel oping strategies to keep nentally il
people fromentering the crimnal justice system when
they do not have to. And also inprove in-custody and
post-rel ease treatnent for those who cone into our
cust ody.

Dr. Bassett and | are both part of the
task force, and I'm sure she would agree that we are
| ooking forward to participating inits
del i berations, and acting on its recommendations. In
t he neantime, however, we are already coll aborating
to make facilities safer for staff, and innmates
alike, and to ensure that quality care is delivered
to those in need. The need for better staff training
and steady assignnents is paranount, and the current
class of recruited officers in DOC Acadeny will be
receiving an additional eight hours of nental health
training that we've developed jointly in addition to
the established 38.5 hours. The new training
i ncludes an overview of nental illness, and substance
use disorders; introduces the participants to risk

factors and warning signs of nental health problens;
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and buil ds understandi ng of how nental illness nmay
i npact security staff efforts.

It has al so becone apparent to us to that
the security of Mental Health staff need to be able
to share nore informati on about the behaviors |ikely
to be exhibited by the inmates in a particular unit.
DOC is now providing officers and clinical staff with
i nformati on about rel evant behavioral information
wi th housing area officers. dinical staff has al so
been sharing information. DOC staff cannot know an
i nmat e' s di agnosi s or nedication details, for
exanmpl e. However, working together, DOC and DOHVH
are determining the level of detail that is both
necessary and appropriate to keep housi ng areas safe,
while still respecting inmate's nmedical privacy.

In recent nonths, much of the discussion
on inmate mental health needs has focused on punitive
segregation even though this accounts for |ess than
si x percent of our total inmate popul ation. As you
know, punitive segregation is a corrections practice
common t hroughout the United States in which i nmates
who m sbehave especially in ways that jeopardize the
safety of inmates and staff are tenporarily renoved

fromthe general popul ation and confined to their
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cell nost of the day. Over the past year and a half,
si gni fi cant changes have been nmade in how the jail
based di sciplinary process responds to inmates with
mental illnesses. DOC and DOHVH s | ongst andi ng
housi ng response to inmates with nental illness who
have been found guilty of an infraction goes to the
Mental Health Assessnent Unit for Infracted | nmates.
I nmat es commonly refer to this as MHAUI 1. Wile well
intended, its creation in the late 1990s, the unit
failed to provi de adequate care, and routinely saw
sone of the Departnent's highest rate of uses of
force.

I n Decenber 2013, the last MHAUI |l units
were closed pernanently after punitive segregation
underwent sonme reform and inmates were transferred
to alternative housing units generally devel oped by
DOC, DOHVH. The dinical Alternative to Punitive
Segregation or CAPS, and restricted housing units,
whi ch go by the acronym RHU, are the new units that
have been devel oped. The Cinical Alternative to
punitive segregation provides a hospital style
clinical-driven treatnent focused environnment for
seriously nmentally ill inmates who have m sbehaved,

that is conpletely non-punitive. Inmates in CAPS are
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not confined to their cells. They're not expected to
participate in multiple treatnent orientated
activities throughout the day. CAPS, which to our
know edge is the only jail-based unit of its kind in
the nation is an unqualified success. Rates of use
of force and inmate of force and i nnmate viol ence are
extrenmely | ow conpared to the fornmer MHAUI I or even
the current nmental operation housing. The non-

treat mnent segregation housing the departnent uses for
inmates with nental illness wants nental illness to
warrant special attention. This suggests that nore
treatnment and nore activity can reduce violence, and
this behavior anobunt all inmates with serious nental
illness. W are working with DOHVH t o deterni ne
whet her the CATS nodel, which is very expensive, has
a broader application in nental application housing
areas for those inmates who have not i nfracted.
Restricted housing units previous -- Restricted
housi ng units have punitive segregation with a
progressive approach that includes a self-paced
behavi oral treatnent program RHUs offer inmates an
opportunity to earn additional time out of their
cells each day for good behavior and clinica

engagenment. The programis built around a step
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system \When i nmates behave and participate, they
progress through the steps and earn incentives
i ncluding additional out-of-cell tinme. Rule
violations usually result in a step backward, and a
| ost of earned incentives rather than a new
infraction with additional segregation tine.

Since bringing the RHUs to scale in
Decenber of 2013, DOC and DOHWVH jointly rel ocated the
units fromfacilities in which they were open to an
alternative site that is nore conducive to
progranm ng, and better managenent of the inmates.
We have subsequently seen a steep decline in the
nunber of splashing incidents, and sizeable
reductions in the uses of force. W also know there
have been -- the inmates have participated in
progranm ng nuch nore than they had in the prior
units. The early or the early incarnations of the
RHUs. So the RHUs have been evol ving over tinme, and
we think they're better today than they were when we
first established them

We are working with DOHWVH to refine our
RHU nodel and nmake it even nore program focused,
bui | di ng on successes that we have already had.

These prograns, which once again apply to only a
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smal | fraction of our total inmate popul ation, have
denonstrated the principles that can be applied to
reduce violence in the general popul ation |eading
ultimately to the reduction in the use of punitive
segregation as a disciplinary tool. The first is
that steady staff commtted to the mssion of the
unit makes a big difference. Consistency and
famliar staff provided the structure that the
inmates seemto need. It also allows staff to

antici pate and head off problens before force becones
necessary.

The next principle is that training is
crucial. Wile officers and captains are not
permtted to know t he diagnhostics of an inmate or
treatnent information about the inmates in custody,
they are certainly able to | earn behaviors, triggers,
and warning signs. For decades, our nental health
training has focused on policy and not on skil
bui | di ng, the necessary piece to nmanage the current
needs of our jail population. New Training in the
CAPS and RHU settings that include behavior
recognition, trigger identification and avoi dance
techniques in addition to nodern de-escal ation

approaches has shown tangi bl e benefits.
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The third principle is that punitive
segregation tinme is not the only appropriate nethod
to respond to m sbehavior. It is one of many tools
that DOC should be able to use to manage viol ence in
our jails. The RHUs denonstrate the val ue of
alternative i nmate managenent techni ques, such as
incentives |ike extended | ockout tinme for good
behavior. It is inportant to understand, however,
that these units were quickly inplenented as the
WMHAUI | was di scontinued, and nanagenent of these
units has been continuously readjusted in the face of
unacceptably high levels of violence. And there is
nore to learn. Just last night, an officer who works
daily with the nentally ill population is specially
trained in the setting, and was foll ow ng proper
procedure was assaulted as he uncuffed an i nmate who
had been progressing well through this program and
was about to participate in group therapy.

Staff safety nust continue to be our
hi ghest priority. Moreover, while incentives in
i nformal and i nmedi ate sanctions such as the | oss of
outdoor rank and | ocking an inmate in through the
| ockout hours, could be used to discourage

m sbehavi or, they are largely prohibited by the Board
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of Corrections Standards. W hope to work with the
Board, which is engaged in rul enmaking to open up

t hese options. DOC is focusing on issues of punitive
segregation, and its effectiveness within jail
systens in order to develop a thoughtful and

ef fective approach going forward. One that can
provide the possibility of separation of violent
inmates fromthe popul ation for the appropriate
period of time while continuing to observe basic
standards of care that conport with science.

The Council has asked about our general
approach to violence reduction. Wat | have
described is intended for staff working directly with
the nentally ill. However, it represents the
underlying strategi c approach to general issues of
vi ol ence reduction. W need to better understand the
ri sks, and the needs of an increasing conplex inmate
popul ati on. W nust nake our officers confident that
they have the skills and tools necessary to contro
their housing areas, and the inmates within themto
prevent incidents and avoid uses of force. W nust
al so provide constructive activities for the i nmates
fromincreased recreation to progranmm ng i n housing

areas, and elsewhere in the jails. By reducing idle
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time and engaging inmates in productive activities,
we can neke significant gains in reducing violence.
This can only be done through systematic cultural
changes. The |ongstanding trend toward increased

vi ol ence cannot be resolved with nenos and staff
neetings or even a new program System change,
particularly in an organi zation the size and scope of
ours, nust be carefully planned and inpl enented, and
wi |l include upgraded facilities, training staff, and
recreating a culture. These significant changes wll
take tine, but there are steps that we are taking now
to make the jail safe. The first is comunication.
The new exchange of information between DOC and DOHWVH
staff will make everyone working in these housing
areas nore aware of the potential dangers and help
prevent viol ence.

The second is training. Departnment w de
training reformw || take tinme to undertake, but the
process is beginning. And the next recruit class
will receive new nental health training. Training
reformincludes a greater focus on field training.
Agai n, our staff, who go through the Training
Acadeny, are placed in these housing units. And the

ol d concept of having field-training officers to help
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and gui de our officers on-site no longer exists in
any of our facilities.

Training reforms -- we will need field
training staff to develop officer skills so they have
the confidence to apply what they've learned in the
classroomto real everyday situations. The third is
the i medi ate responses to m sbehavior. W hope to
work with the DOC to nmake these tools available. |
bel i eve one way we can neke everyone fromthe Cty
Council to the taxpayers of New York City to the
inmates in our custody confident that the work is
ongoi ng and taking effect is that to be transparent
about it. We will continue to update you on our
strategic plan and inplenentation, especially
regardi ng violence reduction initiatives, and
treatnent for the nmentally ill. And to work with the
| abor unions, oversight bodies, and advocacy
organi zati ons that have a vested interest with an
out cones of this inportant work. Thank you for the
opportunity to testify today, and obviously we're
avai |l abl e for questions. Thank you.

Madam Chair, should | proceed?

CHAI RPERSON CROWLEY:  Yes.
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DR MARY BASSETT: CGood afternoon,
Chai r persons Crowl ey, Cohen, Johnson, Menbers of the
Conmmittee and our Public Advocate Letitia Janmes. |'m
Dr. Mary Bassett, Conmi ssioner of the New York City
Departnent of Health and Mental Hygiene. |'mjoined
al so by Dr. Amanda Parsons of Heal thcare Access and
| nprovenent. She's our Deputy Conm ssioner with the
Departnent, as well as Dr. Homer Venters, who is the
Departnment's Assi stant Conm ssioner for Correctional
Health Services. | amgrateful for the opportunity
to testify today on the topic of violence and the
prevention of nental health and nedical services in
New York City jails. This is an inportant and
conplicated issue for both our departnent and for our
city, and I thank you for focusing onit. | am
m ndf ul of your comrents at the outset of our
testinony, but | hope that ny testinony will answer
many of your questions, and I...

CHAI RPERSON CRONLEY: [interposing] |I'm
sorry, but | don't want to cut your testinony down.
The Commi ssioner's testinony, witten testinony, was
a bit shorter than yours, the DOC Conm ssioner, and
he took about 20 m nutes.

DR. MARY BASSETT: |'Il do ny best.
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CHAI RPERSON CROALEY: If you could --

DR. MARY BASSETT: I'Il do ny best. |
realize that we also started a bit late. So this is
a very inmportant topic, and | am eager to share sone
for that information with you, and I will do my best
to get to ny testinmony. So what I'mgoing to do is
provide an overview of the role of the Health
Departnent and the New York City jails. And | can
poi nt out at the outset that Conm ssioner Ponte and |
have al ready net on several occasions. 1've had the
opportunity to visit the R kers conplex, and |I'm
going to now today discuss sone of the activities in
whi ch Conm ssioner Ponte and | with our respective
agencies are currently collaborating, as well as sone
of the newinitiatives in reducing violence. It has
no place in any heal thcare setting.

The Department is charged under city
charter with providing health and nental health
services in the city's correctional facilities. As
you know, the city has 12 jail facilities. Each of
t hem have at |east one clinic. W have about 11, 000
people in these jails daily. Mst stay for only a
short period of time. Over 90% of inmates are nale.

Nearly all are African-Anerican or Latino, and many




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

COW TTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH, DEVELOPMENTAL DI SABI LI TY,
ALCOHCOLI SM  SUBSTANCE ABUSE AND DI SABI LI TY SERVI CES JO NTLY
WTH THE COMM TTEE ON FI RE AND CRI M NAL JUSTI CE SERVI CES

AND THE COWM TTEE ON HEALTH 32
come fromthe poorest neighborhoods in the city. The
inmates enter the jail systemalready with a high
burden of disease.

The mi ssion of the Departnent's Bureau of
Correctional Health Services is to provide the best
possi bl e nedi cal assessnment and treatnent during an
inmate' s detention, and appropriate health rel ated
di scharge pl anning services. These services are
critical both for the patient's safety and health
while they are in jail, and they're also inportant
for safeguarding the health of the community to which
they will return. Each nonth, the Departnent
provi des over 63,000 healthcare visits in the jails,
nost of which occur at Rikers. These include 5,300
conpr ehensi ve i ntake exans; 40,000 nedi cal and dental
visits, 2,300 specialty clinic visits, and 20, 000
mental health visits. Al inmtes receive a ful
medi al i ntake exam nation wthin the first 24 hours
of entering custody. This intake examallows us to
screen patients, and guess our subsequent referral to
arrange services. Qur screenings include a
conpr ehensi ve health assess, screening for sexually
transmtted di seases, and an initial nental health

assessnment. Approxi mately 46% of inmates report that
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t hey have active substance abuse use when they are
first seen, but we believe that the actual preval ence
of substance abuse use may be nuch higher. W seek
to actively identify and assist individuals with a
hi story of substance use in order to provide them
with care when they are detailed so that they can
return to their communities |inked with appropriate
assi st ance.

We are the only large correctional system
to provided Methadone treatnment. We've provided
t hese services since 1987. They include both
detoxi fication and Met hadone nai nt enance, and we
treat about 17,000 patients annually, and di scharge
patients to comrunity searches. Further expansion of
addi ction services would be useful. In addition to
t hese services, the Departnent offers specia
prograns. A Road Not Taken is a substance use
treat nent program about which I would be glad to tell
you nore in question and answer. W are also a
national |eader in the adoption and use of a
prevention oriented el ectronic health record, which
all ows our health workers to better coordinate the

care of their patients. These patient health records
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can be shared with comunity providers as well
t hrough a regional health information organizati on.
Al t hough the oversight of Health Services
and Di scharge Planning in the city jails is the
Departnent's responsibility, direct medical, nental
heal th, dental care services are perfornmed by a
vendor -- vendor personnel from health services
providers. These include Corizon Health, Inc., we
call it Corizon, and the Dam an Fam |y Care Centers.
We call that Dam an. Hospital |evel services are
provided by the New York City Hospitals Corporation
Corizon, the largest private for-profit correctional
heal th services provided in the United States nanages
nost of the day-to-day nedical and nental health
services, all of themactually on Rikers Island as
well as two other jail facilities. And the Dam an
Fam |y Care Center, which is a non-profit provider
provi des services as the Vernon C. Bain Correctional
Services. W closely nonitor both of these vendors
through multiple lines of supervision. These include
the credentialing of their physicians, their
physi cian assistants, formulating all policies
related to nedical nursing, nmental health, and

substance use services, as well as ensuring
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conpliance with those policies through a rigorous
gual ity assurance process that is based on reporting
of 40 performnce neasures.

Identifying inmates with nental ill ness
and hel ping themreceive appropriate services is the
core focus of our work. All arriving inmtes of part
of the intake assessnent receive a behavioral health
screen. And those that are determ ned to neet a nore
i n-depth nmental health eval uati on receive one with 72
hours. CQur data show that about 25% of the inmates
are assessed to have sone formof nental health
diagnosis while in jail. A nmuch smaller nunber, 4.5%
of the total inmate population is designated as
seriously mentally ill, and this includes psychotic
il nesses such as schi zophrenia. The renaining
nmental heal th di agnoses include such conditions as
depression, anxiety, adjustnent disorders. |It's
worth noting that the rates of diagnosis that both
mental illness and serious nental illness in the
jails are consistent with the rates of the United
States popul ation overall. However, at any given
time in the correctional system the overall burden
of mental illness is about 38% This |arger

proportion arises fromthe fact that nental health
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di agnoses are associated with on average | onger
| engt hs of incarceration. So, because people with
mental health diagnoses are less likely to exit the
system they are over-represented in the inmte
popul ation. W don't know exactly the reasons for
this, and we | ook forward to exploring it nore as
wel | as many other issues with Conm ssioner Ponte and
ot her nenbers of the Mayor's Behavioral Health and
Crimnal Justice Task Force in the com ng nonths.

The majority of patients assessed to have
a serious nental illness are housed on nental
observation units, which Conm ssioner Ponte touched
upon earlier, which are designed to neet these
patients' needs. The Departnent operates 19 nent al
observation units, which currently house about 645
patients. These patients are provided with a range
of services ranging fromoutpatient |evel of care
with talk therapy to inpatient |evel of care,
coordination with social workers, psychol ogists,
psychiatrists, and pharmaci sts. And we are currently
engaged in the process of exam ning these nental
observations in the housing areas with the goal of
reformng their operations, and | will cone back to

this a bit |ater.
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There are conplexities that arise from
the joint ainms of maintaining security and pronoting
heal th and access to care. Qur data show that nental
health and violence in the jails are intertw ned.
Research conducted by the Departnent reveal s that
serious nmental illness and placenent in solitary
confinenent as punishnment are predictive of acts of
self-harmincluding lethal self-harm | ndependent of
other factors, placenent in solitary confinenent as
puni shnent increases the risk of self-harm And this
risk is especially high anong adol escent, whom we
found to be seven tines as |likely to engage in self-
harm ng behavior. Mental Cbservation Units are anong
the nost violent settings on Rikers as was the recent
closed MAHUI I Unit, which housed nentally ill inmates
who were placed in solitary confinenent as
puni shnent .

Research published by the Depart nent
shows that half of adol escents arrive in jail with a
hi story of having been struck on the head and
suffering altered consciousness. These factors are
associated with traumatic brain injury. Ohers wll
sustain head injuries while in jail with injuries

frominmate fights, and as a result of reported use
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of force by correctional officers. And about 30% of
violent interactions between correctional officers
and i nmates, there's evidence of a blow to the head.
We're in ongoing discussions with the Departnent of
Corrections to determ ne how we can create a nore

t herapeutic setting as data show that standard
practices in the correctional systemincluding
particularly solitary confinenent as puni shnment and
reliance on force can be linked to outcones that we
all seek to prevent, including the violence against
self and ot hers.

As you have already heard from
Conmi ssi oner Ponte, as a result of this discussion
the Departnment along with DOC, work to elim nate
solitary confinenent as puni shnent anong seriously
nmentally ill -- anmong the seriously nmentally ill, and
open the clinical alternatives to punitive
segregation or CAPS Units. There are three CAPS
Unit, two for males, one for female inmates, and
these offer better opportunities for inmates to
engage with clinicians, receive nental health
services. And our initial experience shows that
t hese approaches i nprove health outconmes, and reduce

inmate self-injury and consistently experience | ower
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rates of violence and self-harm These are now | ess
than half the rates on units where these patients
have been housed previously. The CAPS Units report
about 40 acts of self-harm per 100 patients conpared
to 260 acts of self-harmper 100 patients in the
restricted housing units, which conbine solitary
confinenment as punishnment with sone nental health
servi ces.

During a recent visit to Rikers, | net a
patient in one of the CAPS Units who had spent nearly
two years in solitary confinenment as puni shnment for
various infractions where he was involved in nultiple
viol ent encounters every nonth. Wen | saw himin
the CAPS Unit, he had spent about six nonths w thout
any violent encounters or any other problenms. W
have a total of 32 clinical staff in these units, and
as you've heard from Conmm ssi oner Ponte, these units
are nore intensive, and nore costly to operate. They
are for the seriously -- but they do provide

progranmng as well as enriched nental health

services for the seriously nentally ill nmen and wonen
who are housed there. In addition, we have worked to
design new units for inmates with nental ill ness.

These include six restricted housing units across the
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jails, four for adult inmates, and one for adol escent
mal e i nmates, and one for female inmates. As
Conmi ssi oner Ponte has nmentioned, these units are a
work in progress. They are evolving as we strive to
bal ance puni shnent and appropriate treatnent.
Finally, the Departnent provides
di scharge planning to eligible inmates with nental
illness. These services, which are provided to about
20, 000 i ndivi dual s annual Iy, include arranging for
post-rel ease nedical and nmental health care, applying
for or re-activating Medicaid; applying for public
assi stance; providing a supply and prescription for
medi cations; arranging for transportation; organizing
post-rel ease follow up. The success of healthcare
delivery in our jails depends on the safety of
correctional healthcare workers. [It's difficult to
overstate how di stressing the recent increases in
assaults are to the Adm nistration, to the
Departnent, and to ne personally. Incidents of
assaul ts agai nst healthcare workers at Ri kers spi ked
in Decenber 2013, and have continued on average to
occur at a higher rate in 2014 than in years past.
We are working to better understand the factors that

have contributed to this rise in violence. And our
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nost urgent priority is to work as we have begun to
work with both DOC and Corizon to protect our
heal thcare workers. W are inproving conmunication
bet ween heal t hcare workers and correctional staff.
Thi s ensures that heal thcare and DOC st af f
communi cate about high risk patients after every tour
of duty. Allowing staff to identify behavi oral
shifts, and target resources and treatnment to these
patient. Second, healthcare staff and jail wardens
are nmeeting to address jail specific safety concerns
resulting in inprovenents to staff workflows, and
addi ti onal security neasures in the clinic. W have
al so revised our protocols so that high-risk patients
receive services in clinic areas instead of in their
housing units to ensure a safer setting for staff to
admi ni ster care.

Further, the Departnent, the Departnent
of Corrections and Corizon are addressing
environnental issues in jail facilities, which
i nvolve noving units in areas with unsafe features
such as narrow corridors to areas that have a nore
secure |layout. W also have put an aggressive alert
patient -- an aggressive patient alert function in

our electronic health record. So that safety
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precautions can be addressed prior to treating these
hi gh-ri sk patients, and focusing our attention on

| ocati ons where assaults are nost frequent, such as
the nmental health areas and high security settings.

Al t hough we don't believe staffing needs to be

i ncreased across the board, there are areas where we
thi nk additional staffing may inprove safety, such as
the nmental observation units to better identify
patients in crisis and provide themw th the services
in order to prevent a violent encounter.

The Department is al so working closely
with the DOC to reassess the treatnment of nentally
ill and seriously nmentally ill inmates. Especially
since a majority of recent assaults on staff and
pati ent deaths have occurred in the nental
observation units. As | had nentioned earlier, we
are working together to redesign workflows in these
units, inprove staff safety, and patient health. And
the goals of this redesign include giving staff nore
say in these units about how they are run, enhancing
support to our social workers, instilling routine
pati ent-centered comruni cati on between health and
security staff that covers the basic elenents of each

patient's status. The Mental Cbservation Unit




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

COW TTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH, DEVELOPMENTAL DI SABI LI TY,
ALCOHCOLI SM  SUBSTANCE ABUSE AND DI SABI LI TY SERVI CES JO NTLY
WTH THE COMM TTEE ON FI RE AND CRI M NAL JUSTI CE SERVI CES

AND THE COWM TTEE ON HEALTH 43
redesign process is expected to take several nonths,
and we | ook forward to sharing nore information with
you about these changes in the future.

Finally, 1 want to reiterate what
Conmi ssioner Ponte said earlier that he and |
communi cate regularly, not just about jail safety and
inmate health issues, but also on the issues of
broader reforns in the crimnal justice systemas we
wor k together on the Mayor's Behavioral Health and
Crimnal Justice System Task Force. The Task Force
chaired by Deputy Mayor Lilliam Barios-Paoli and the
City's Director of the Ofice of Crimnal Justice
El i zabeth 3 azer is charged with devel opi ng and
i npl ementing strategies to ensure the appropriate
diversion of nmentally ill people away fromthe
crimnal justice system | |ook forward
col l aboration with Comm ssioner Ponte, and his agency
as we nove forward together to inprove health and
safety of staff and inmates in our city's jails. |
t hank you for the opportunity to testify, and ny
col l eagues and | are happy to answer any questi ons.

CHAI RPERSON CROWALEY: Thank you for your
testinony. W' ve been joined by Council Menber

Barron, Council Menber Eugene. We were joined
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earlier by Council Menber WIlls. Before |I recognize
the Public Advocate for her questions and comrents,
l"d like for the staff to know, for the conmttee
here also to know that | ast year the |ndependent
Ofice -- Budget Ofice put out a report saying how
many nmentally ill inmates are in the city jails. And
how does that conpare with the capacity of the City's
psychiatric facilities, and it's nearly equal. There
is no availability in our city for nore psychiatric
patients in our hospitals. Yet, we have al nost the
sanme anmount of inmates with nental health diagnoses
inour jails, and that's extrenely troubling. Public
Advocat e Janes.

PUBLI C ADVOCATE JAMES: Thank you, Chair,
and I want to thank all the Chairs. Just to give you
some -- the Conm ssioner some perspective. Back in
2008 -- 9, excuse ne, 8 when | was a City Counci
Menber | was involved in the hearing involving the
18-year-ol d Chri stopher Robi nson who was an
adol escent and who died. And, in fact, | was
involved in authoring the | aw, Local Law 29, which
requires the Departnent of Corrections to report on
certain jail security indicators regarding

adol escents on a quarterly basis. So obviously, this
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is an issue going back that | have -- going back for
sone tine that | have been interested in. And
obvi ously, the nost -- the recent nunber of avoidable
deaths, as | said behind the wall, is disturbing.
And that is why I'mhere today to see how we can
address the issue. Let ne just go on to say that we
cannot continue to sustain overtime costs both behind
the wall, by the Departnent of Corrections and
outsi de the wall by NYPD

The issue is really about safety, and I
al so believe that officers of the Departnent of
Corrections are not adequately trained or, in fact,
really not in a position to address inmates wth
hi stories of nental health. And so, really | want to
get to the issue of those inmates who suffer from
mental illness. And | particularly want to talk
about a report, which was authored by, or
comm ssioned by then Mayor Bl oonberg. And what is
really disturbing is that the report found that
people with nental illnesses had al nbst doubl ed the
I ength of stay in city jails. But what's really
disturbing is that the majority of adm ssions to city
jails are detainees who are basically unable to nmake

bail at arraignments. And that the question and the
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report recommended that the City needed to devel op
alternatives to detention to people with nental

i1l ness who can safely be rel eased as opposed to
being held in restrictive detention centers.

And so, ny question really is: As a
result of this report, have any of these
recomrendat i ons been adopted? Have you thought about
a diversion programworking with OCA, Ofice of Court
Adm ni stration? Wat can we do to working with
defense counsel? As a forner Legal Aid attorney, and
sonmeone who involved herself with identifying
individuals with nmental health illness in the
crimnal justice systemwhen | was an attorney then.
What can we do to identify those individuals, divert
themfromthe crimnal justice system and get them
t he assistance that they need? And lastly, those
individuals with serious nmental health illness, what
are we doi ng when they are di scharged working with
the comunity based nmental health organizations to
have a di scharge plan for those individuals suffering
fromnental health?

And then, ny other question is: The
i ndi vidual s who unfortunately died that was reported

nost recently, M. Ballard and M. Mirdough. Wy
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were they not in the programthat was nentioned
earlier, and that is the CAPS Progran? |I|f those two
i ssues can be addressed, that would be greatly
appreciated. And if you can talk a little bit about
the delivery of healthcare behind the wall, the
contract with Corizon and what nmental health services
do they offer? How often do you nonitor that
contract, and their performance? M understanding is
that sone staff has cone forward with regards to

i nadequate staffing levels. And the fact that there
is mniml anount of time dealing with individuals
who seek out healthcare services at these agencies,
or at these conpanies, which are, for the nost part,
for-profit conpanies who are in contract with the
Cty of New York for hundreds of mllions of dollars.

[ Pause]

DR. MARY BASSETT: Thank you for a whole
series of very good questions. | hope | got all of
them If not, you'll remnd nme. The first question
was about the observation that people with nental
i1l ness diagnoses are nore likely to spend | onger in
the jail systemthan people who don't have these
di agnoses. In fact, it is a twofold difference, and

that is accurate, and it continues to be accurate. I
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can't tell you all the reasons for that, but it
certainly is true that people with nmental health

di agnosis are nore likely to have | onger stays on

Ri kers. You asked about the early --

PUBLI C ADVOCATE JAMES: [i nterposi ng]
Stop. But could it be because of their -- because of
their psychosis, they're not in a position to--

DR. MARY BASSETT: [interposing] | can
speculate, if you' d like nme to speculate, but | can't
tell you that 1've -- we've |ooked at the data to
tell you.

PUBLI C ADVOCATE JAMES:. [interposing] No
| understand that.

DR. MARY BASSETT: [interposing] So it's
maybe that they're nore likely to get into trouble
because t hey- -

PUBLI C ADVOCATE JAMES: [interposing] How
about this, how about this. Wat if they're not in a
position perhaps to consult with counsel, and conme up
with a defense. And because of that situation, that
is the cause for the delay. That's ny opinion, and
what do you think of that? And if there's anyone
el se who can junp in and confirmthat hypothesis,

t hat woul d be hel pful.
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DR. MARY BASSETT: So, okay, | wll pass
it to ny colleague. | amunable to answer that.

PUBLI C ADVOCATE JAMES: Getting in

trouble? |1 don't know what getting in trouble nmeans.
Getting in trouble would be -- it's a synptomof a
mental health illness.

DR. HOVER VENTERS: So, what we think we
know about this problemis that at al nbst every point
in the crimnal justice system people with nental
ill ness have sl owdowns. And one of themis al nost
assuredly an inability work with counsel as clearly
or as concisely as sonebody w thout nmental ill ness.
But it's really at every point that the work of the -
- the work that went into the report that you tal ked
about sort of gets at the point that from arrai gnnent
all the way through di scharge, everything goes a
little bit slower for people with nental ill nesses.
That probably spans the range of probable reasons
froman inability to work as clearly with counsel to
a lack relative to their anount of nmentally il
counterparts, a lack of community support to expedite
di scharge processes. To sonetines the need for

programm ng solutions to be in place in addition to
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crimnal justice adjudication. And so those are
probably the primary reasons that things slow down.

PUBLI C ADVOCATE JAMES: Thank you.

DR. MARY BASSETT: It's worth noting I
think that in the same report that you nentioned,
that you're referencing that was produced during the
previous adm nistration shows the people with serious
nmental illness. They are people, who I nentioned
have psychoti c di agnoses |i ke Schi zophrenia had so
much shorter stays than the classification of people
with mental health di agnoses. So serious nental
illness at 91 days; nental health diagnosis | believe
was over 120 days. You al so asked a question so you
are happy with the conversation about the | ength of
stay. You al so asked the question--

CHAI RPERSON CROWALEY: [i nterposing] Sorry
about that.

DR. MARY BASSETT: That's okay.

CHAI RPERSON CROWALEY: | think there's a
poi nt that has not been brought up in that an average
inmate at Rikers Island is a recidivist, and that on
average |'ve seen nunbers such as eight tinmes or nine
tinmes that they' ve been to Rikers Island. Now, we

have to |l ook at that as it relates to the nentally
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i1l population. Because what happens once they are
di scharged? And what type of oversight the
Departnment of Mental Health has to nake sure that

t hese once i nmates, but yes people with diagnosis are
still under the care of a physician.

DR MARY BASSETT: Right.

CHAI RPERSON CROALEY: And if they're not
under the care of physician, they're nore likely to
infract on the streets and get in trouble, and cone
back into the jail system Cbviously, otherw se, the
nunbers woul dn't be so great. So | nmean there has to
be an answer to that that we need to get to the heart
of as well.

DR. MARY BASSETT: So should I-- You had
a series of other questions. Should I continue with
your questions, or should |I nove on to--

CHAI RPERSON CROWMLEY: Length of stay is a
really good question

DR. MARY BASSETT: [interposing] Ckay.

CHAI RPERSON CROWALEY:  You say 91 days for
the average inmate with a nental heal th di agnosi s--

DR. MARY BASSETT: [interposing] No, that

was the serious nental illness.
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CHAI RPERSON CROALEY:  Serious but 120
days versus another innmate that doesn't have a
di agnoses, and their stay is only about 50 or 55
days. So, | nmean look, it's staying and it's com ng
back, and it's inportant to us.

DR. MARY BASSETT: [interposing] Yes.

CHAI RPERSON CROALEY: It's a nore
i nportant question today because it's DOH that is
having to keep track--

DR. MARY BASSETT: [interposing] |'m
happy to answer your question, Chair. | just was
aski ng whether | had a series of questions fromthe
Publ i c Advocate.

CHAI RPERSON CROMALEY: [ nt er posi ng]

Vell, we would |i ke every question answered.

DR. MARY BASSETT: So |'m happy to answer

every questions that | have. Although I -- | don't

know how | ong the people in the roomare willing to

st ay.

CHAI RPERSON CROWNLEY: [i nterposing] Well,
the questions, we'll stay here all afternoon to
eveni ng.

DR. MARY BASSETT: [interposing] But |

just wondered what order | should go with. So on
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di scharge pl anning, as you know, we have a cl ass of
patients who are stipul ated under court -- Under the
Brad H Stipulation, that we should, for whom we do
our di scharge planning. And we do discharge
pl anni ng, active di scharge planning for about 20,000
i ndi vidual s each year. W are not in the position of
mandating treatnment. W can connect people to care.
We can ensure that they have the resources to get
care. W can work to get themre-enrolled in
Medi cai d, ensure that they have public assistance;
work to connect themto comunity-based service
providers. But we do not nandate that people get
that care. There is court-nmandated supervision of
people. That's under the Kendra's Law, but the
court's mandate treatnent, not the Health Departnent.

PUBLI C ADVOCATE JAMES: Can | ask you a
question? |If they are a threat to thensel ves and/ or
to others, are you then nmandated to get them
assi stance?

DR MARY BASSETT: The court makes that
determ nation

PUBLI C ADVOCATE JAMES: So at any point

intime you have the ability to go to court, and get
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a court order to nmandate that a certain inmte who is
presenting certain problens get nedicated?

DR. MARY BASSETT: No, let ne turn to --
let me turn to the people who are actually doing this
work to ask how the process of getting it court
mandat ed wor ks.

PUBLI C ADVOCATE JAMES: A court order.

DR. MARY BASSETT: Are we tal king about--
are we tal king about--? We're tal king about a Rikers
i nmat e- -

PUBLI C ADVOCATE JAMES: [interposing]

Yes.

DR. MARY BASSETT: --who you i nagine that
they m ght have been seen by a nental health
provi der, and we consider that they-- they're about
to be di scharged?

PUBLI C ADVOCATE JAMES. No.

DR. MARY BASSETT: And we consi der that
they are a risk to thensel ves and to others?

PUBLI C ADVOCCATE JAMES: No, no. No, |
know obvi ously with, you know, with privacy concerns
you obvi ously cannot get the nedical records of

inmates. | got that. O can you? Can you get the
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medi cal records of inmates? Probably not because of
privacy.

DR. AMANDA PARSONS: If patients give us
consent, we can access nedical records.

PUBLI C ADVOCATE JAMES: (Kkay.

CHAI RPERSON CROALEY: A point of
clarification also that is the Departnent of Health,
not the Departnent of Corrections?

DR. MARY BASSETT: That is correct.

CHAI RPERSON CROMNLEY: The Departnent of
Corrections does not have access to health records?

PUBLI C ADVOCATE JAMES:. [i nterposing]

Ri ght.

DR. MARY BASSETT: That is correct.

CHAI RPERSON CROALEY: So t he Depart nent
of Heal th--

DR. MARY BASSETT: [interposing] And we
get access to health records of the patient's
agreenment and consent.

PUBLI C ADVOCATE JAMES: So if -- so if an
inmate enters the Departnent of Corrections, can the
Departnment of Corrections and the inmate presents
synpt ons, whi ch suggest that they have a nental

heal th history, right, and the individual is
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unwi lling -- is unwilling to take nedication. At
that point, in tinme, can the Departnent of
Corrections go to court, get a court order so that
this individual can get nedicated? Yes or no.

DR. MARY BASSETT: So this is about
people who are in the jail?

PUBLI C ADVOCATE JAMES: Correct.

DR. MARY BASSETT: You're aski ng about
ensuring the people in jail--

PUBLI C ADVOCATE JAMES: [interposing]
Yeah, yeah, yes, yes.

DR. MARY BASSETT: | don't know. Do you
know anyt hi ng about getting a court order.

COWMM SSI ONER PONTE: It can still be
done.

DEPUTY COWM SSI ONER BERLI NER:  Yes, we at
the Departnment of Corrections can't do that. W
woul dn't really necessarily know that they weren't
taking their nedication. That would be a transaction
that they have with their healthcare provider. There
are options, of course, for a hospitalization that
point. R ght, and the hospital at the point woul d get

the forced order for nedication




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

COW TTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH, DEVELOPMENTAL DI SABI LI TY,
ALCOHCOLI SM  SUBSTANCE ABUSE AND DI SABI LI TY SERVI CES JO NTLY
WTH THE COMM TTEE ON FI RE AND CRI M NAL JUSTI CE SERVI CES

AND THE COWM TTEE ON HEALTH 57
PUBLI C ADVOCATE JAMES: (Ckay. So what
|"mseeing is that the only option that is utilized
for the nore part by the Departnent of Corrections is
sonme sort of segregation. And in the absence of
consent, or in the absence of | guess hospitalization
inmates are basically just penalized. Mental health
i nmates are penalized, and there's no-- As far as |
can tell, and correct ne if I'"'mwong, what is the
Department of Corrections doing to either divert
inmates, or inmates with nmental health histories from
the Department of Corrections facility and/or get
them assi stance; get them adequately nedi cate?
COW SSI ONER PONTE: Let nme try just a
little bit on that one. You know, we don't take --
we don't ask for innmates to come to us. They are
al ready adjudicated by a court. So they're here
because the court says we need to incarcerate them
Once an inmate conmes into the system he cones into
our intake area, he gets nmet by an officer. He goes
t hrough a search procedure. He is then | ooked at by
Mental Health and nedical staff. So at that point,
it beconmes their process. So we're not punishing
them It becones a nedical process as to where he

lives if he's nentally ill. If he's seriously
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mentally ill, there's Bellevue? Bellevue Hospital
So there's all kind of options avail able at that
point right comng in the door.

PUBLI C ADVOCATE JAMES:. So the two
i nstances where it resulted in death, the Mirdough
case, and the other case that | just cited. Wat is
it? I'msorry. M. Ballard. Wat failed? What
happened? Wy did not those two individuals get
assi stance, nedical assistance, particularly nental
heal th services?

DR. MARY BASSETT: Both of these patients
were in the Mental Cbservation Unit. So they had
di agnoses of nental illness, and--

PUBLI C ADVOCATE JAMES:. [interposing] But
clearly, Comm ssioner, sonething fail ed.

DR. MARY BASSETT: | agree with you.

PUBLI C ADVOCATE JAMES: So what failed?

DR. MARY BASSETT: Sonething failed and,
as you know, both of these cases are being litigated
in the courts. | consider these tragic and
unnecessary deaths, and ones in which nultiple
systens failed. W are |looking at this carefully,

both with our contractor, with the Departnent of
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Corrections, and we are intent on identifying the
sources of failure, and correcting them

PUBLI C ADVOCATE JAMES: And lastly, |
really want to thank the Chairs. DR MARY BASSETT:
[interposing] Can |I-- ? Just one other thing | wanted
to--

PUBLI C ADVOCATE JAMES. [interposing] Is
anyone tal king to the Departnment -- OCA, Ofice of
Court Administration with regards to this? There
seens to be a third leg in this, which is mssing,
and that is the -- the Ofice of Court Adm nistration
continue to refer -- to refer or remand individual s
with nental health histories to the Departnent of
Corrections.

DR. MARY BASSETT: One of the things that
| wanted to tell you about under your question about
what are we doing as a result of this previous
steering comnmttee that exam ned these issues. And a
programthat was established that has now been
| aunched and i s underway and should soon, by July I
bel i eve be expanded to all four boroughs. It's
call ed the Court-Based Intervention Resource Team
And the intention of this programis to identify

people with nental illness in the jails who can be
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sort of fast tracked to early release. And to divert
-- get people out of the jails, we need to have their
mental health issues addressed that don't need to be
injail. So that's really part of a broader picture
of diversion, which we all -- which we intend to | ook
at as part of the newly established Task Force on
Behavioral Health in the Crimnal Justice System
think that the case of M. Mrdough, and |I' m | ooki ng
towards our General Counsel, | can say that a
guestion can be asked: Were else could he have been
other than in jail? And that's a question that we
all have to be able to answer. The first question is
how do people who are nentally end up in jail in the
first place? And what are the opportunities for

di versi on before sonmeone ends up in jail? And there
are a nunber of points along the way. At

arrai gnnment; when people get to jail we have the
search. Then there's the whol e chall enge of

di scharge planning, and availability of services in
the cormunity to which we want people to be
connected. Al of this will be addressed as we go

forward with the task force.
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PUBLI C ADVOCATE JAMES: [interposing] And
that includes inmates who cannot nmake bail who are
i ncarcerated because they cannot nmeke it?
DR. MARY BASSETT: [interposing] That is
correct. That is correct.

PUBLI C ADVOCATE JAMES: Thank you,

Chairs.

CHAI RPERSON CROWNLEY: Thank you, Public
Advocate. So earlier, | referenced the |Independent
Budget -- O fice of Budget -- |Independent Ofice --

| ndependent Budget O fice, and how they said there
are X anmount of people living on Rikers Island with
mental health needs versus a nunber of patients in
psychiatric facilities. It seens as if the people
who are poor and indigent, and don't have the neans
for healthcare are going to Rikers Island. So if
they can't put up the noney for bail, and that you
have a popul ation there that should really be in a
psychiatric facility. But our City does not have the
expanded psychiatric facilities to house a popul ation
that you have on Rikers.

DR. MARY BASSETT: As you're -- | think
that what you're pointing out is a graph that shows a

nunber of people on Rikers Island with nental health
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di agnoses versus avail abl e psychiatric beds. Mny of
the people, as | nentioned, on Rikers Island have
mental heal th diagnoses for which I-- And |I'mnot a
psychiatrist, but for which I as a physician woul dn't
think that they needed to be institutionalized. In
general, we like to try and take care of as many
people in a community setting as we can. |f we can
get the appropriate supports, appropriate care. And
t he supports include nore than access to nedi cal
care, both for their general health and their nental
heal th needs. It includes issues of supportive
housi ng, issues of job training, job placenent. But
it's better for many of the people with nmental health
di agnoses to be in comunities and getting
appropriate services. So | think in a way that's
provocative graph, but it's an apples and oranges
graph. | don't think that all the people with a
mental health diagnosis on R kers need to be in
psychiatric hospitals. | also think that it's
i mportant for you to challenge us, to say to us,
Well, do they belong on Rikers? And that is
sonmething that will be--

CHAI RPERSON CROWALEY: [interposing] O

whet her they need to be not in a facility so as an
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institution but certainly if they have nental health
needs, they should be under the care of a physician.

DR. MARY BASSETT: [interposing] Well
they -- people -- let ne reiterate what | said in ny
testinony that on day one, or within the first 24
hours all incom ng innates have an intake assessnent,
whi ch includes a behavioral health screening. Anyone
for whom we have concerns--

CHAI RPERSON CROWLEY: [interposing] On,
okay, we heard that. W read it.

DR MARY BASSETT: --within 17 hours has a
full nmental heal th di agnosi s.

CHAI RPERSON CROWNLEY: [interposing] It
was in the testinmony. W know that. Just get into
t he harder questi ons.

DR MARY BASSETT: And then we do
treat ment.

CHAI RPERSON CROWALEY: [ nt er posi ng]

Right. | understand that.

DR MARY BASSETT: So we don't just
identify the problens.

CHAI RPERSON CROWALEY: [i nterposing] What
I"'mtrying to get at--

DR. MARY BASSETT: People get treatnent.
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CHAlI RPERSON CROWALEY: --is the violence

that is out of control. There is a popul ation that

doesn't necessarily-- |Is there a population -- in

order to have a greater staff to inmate ratio so that
there could be better care and control on Rikers

I sl and, should there be a percentage of the inmates
taken out of a jail setting, and put in a hospital
type setting. You said of the roughly four to five

t housands i nnates that have nental heal th di agnosi s,
approxi mately one-third of them have a significant
serious nmental health diagnosis.

DR. MARY BASSETT: W do have connections
with the hospital system as | noted with the Health
and Hospitals Corporation and Bel |l evue Hospital.
Patients who have nental health conditions, which we
cannot manage safely for themor for the popul ation
wll be referred to the hospital systemfor care.

CHAI RPERSON CROWLEY: This next question
is for the Comm ssioner of the Departnent of
Corrections. Wat is the ratio on any given day and
DC, which is the jail that houses adol escents, or
G\NDC [sp?] , which is the jail for adults, what is
the staff to inmate ratio in those jails? And what

is it in those particular jails conpared to the
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overall staff to inmate ratio on any given day? And
this is a question that's getting at the heart of the
control because as | nentioned in ny statenent
earlier, the violence is spiraling out of control. |
don't expect you to be able to bring that nunber down
significantly in one day. But it has spiral ed out of
control in a short anmount of tinme. So it is ny hope
that we can put a tinetable together, and bring that
nunber into a reasonabl e area where we reduce
significantly the incidents of violence?

COW SSI ONER PONTE: | don't have the
nunbers for the staff ratios for all the individua
facilities, but we can get those. The staffing plan
for any facility could and will be |ooked at as a
factor of responding to the issues that are occurring
at that facility.

CHAI RPERSON CROWLEY: For four and a half
years, for as long as |I've been chairing this
commttee, year after year |'ve been asking for a
tabl e of organization for staffing levels. | nean,
the Departnent has no idea how nmany officers are
needed for each individual jail. |If you did know -

COW SSI ONER PONTE: [interposing] Yes,

we do.
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CHAI RPERSON CROALEY: --you woul d have a
better handle on ratio.

COW SSI ONER PONTE:  Yes we do. | don't
have the ratios off the top of ny head, but | can
produce a staffing plan at least for our facilities.

CHAI RPERSON CROALEY: Wl |, when we spoke
at the Budget hearing | ast nonth, or about ten days
ago, | asked about the overall Executive Budget, and
it's inportant today because we're | ooking at a
budget that starts next nonth--

COWM SSI ONER PONTE:  [i nterposi ng]
Correct.

CHAI RPERSON CROALEY: --in only a few
weeks. Your Executive Budget is significantly |ess
than what we're expected to spend this fiscal year
al though there is no staff changing. There's no
staffing -- increased staffing that would possibly
bring down the overtine budget. But your overtinme
budget for this year, | understand half was in the
previous admi nistration. But |'ve already seen
nunbers fromApril and May as it relates to the
overtime that is happening wthin the jails. It
angers ne because | believe that the Departnment is

being run to the ground. Qur officers are tired.
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They' re worki ng an ungodly anopunt of overtimne.
Correctional officers are working without a day off,
and there is a standard that the Board of Corrections
reports saying that anything nore than 32 hours or 33
hours per nonth is too nmuch. But you have officers
inthe city that are working over 72 hours a nonth in
overtinme. They're tired. They're run down. Wen

vi ol ence occurs, | nean how could they be as ready to
stop it as an officer that just works a regular 40-
hour shift?

So in that question is: Wat are we
doing to cute down the overtine? Wy is it that
we're anticipating spending a significantly anmount
less in overtine if we're already in mnd to spend a
hell of a lot on overtine? And why are we not
staffing up if there is so much vi ol ence happening in
these jails. And this is sonmething if you
inmplenmented it in the short-term if you were able to
hire nore officers, you would be able to bring down
the level of crime. |If you just |ook at how many
nore officers we had five, six years ago, you would
see that there was | ess viol ence happening. |
under stand your popul ation is changi ng, but the

officers don't know who is nentally ill or not, and
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they're not allowed to. But they're the ones on the
front line. They' re keeping the order and control in
the jails, and how can they do it with |less? And
then be expected to spend so much tinme every week

wor ki ng beyond their regular shift?

COWM SSI ONER PONTE:  |'m not sure what
the actual question is. | agree with your
assessnent. | agree that those are all critical --

CHAI RPERSON CROWALEY: [i nterposing] |
thing an answer would be | have to go back to the
Mayor and say, | need nore noney to hire nore
correction officers. O how are the staffing ratios
going to change. Because | believe when | ooking at
statistics and nunber don't lie, violence has gone up
significantly year after year, and you | ook at
staffing ratios, and you could see that there is a
greater nunber of inmates to each officer year after
year. And with that, you have an increase in
violence with no plan right now to address it.

COWM SSI ONER PONTE: Again, | arrived
here on April 7th. The budget was substantially
conpleted by then. It would be irresponsible for ne
as an executive of the Cty Governnent to offer you a

conceptual response to this issue. As you painted
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out very clearly, it would be irresponsible to say |
need 100 peopl e, 200 people or ask the Mayor for
anything. | nean there's been four years of records
by others before nme to do all of that you said,
reduce the violence, inprove on the overtine. That
hasn't wor ked- -

CHAI RPERSON CROWLEY: [ nterposing] But
year after year | asked Commi ssioner Shiro to hire
nore correctional officers, and year after year,
there were fewer in the budget. Year after year |
asked her to go to Mayor Bl oonberg, and | was hoping
for change in this Admnistration. But the budget
we're looking at in July has no greater anount of
officers or increase in staffing that would have
anything to do with reducing the ratio. And | was
hopi ng that we woul d have change. W're six nonths
into the Adm nistration. | want to give you a shot,
Conmi ssioner. | understand you've only been the
Conmi ssioner for two nonths, but | feel it's ny
responsibility and it's the Commttee's responsible
to have the proper oversight. | understand you have
| ong-term plans of building better facilities, and I

support that whol eheartedly. Unfortunately, the
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capital process in the Gty of New York takes years.
W need quick fixes. W need action now.

COW SSI ONER PONTE: | agree.

CHAI RPERSON CROWNLEY: And then |astly,
" mgoing to have one question, and then I'mgoing to
turn it over to ny coll eagues who have plenty of
questions. You have nearly 600 or nore innmates that
have been found guilty of infractions and they have
mental health diagnoses. But they're in general
popul ati on because there's nowhere to put them And
there is no segregated area away from genera
population. And it is often those inmates in that
popul ati on that infract again, and continue to cause
vi ol ence. And earlier you spoke about CAPS and RHU
which | support and the comm ttee we worked
diligently with the previous comm ssioners who that
have done that. But there is no real plan for
expandi ng that. Right now, you have only about a
hundred beds in a facility with a waiting list of 600
plus. And if there were sone way of treating the 600
that have infracted and are nore likely to continue
to infract instead of keeping themw th the genera
popul ati on, you would be able to get at the heart of

the violence and where it exists. So what's the plan
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of action to bring down that waiting list, and to
hel p bring order?

COWMM SSI ONER PONTE: | think as nentioned
before, a lot of the inmates are not in prograns. So
the prograns, or the intense prograns that are
avail able in RHUs and MOU units are working and
they're pretty effective. The availability of that
sanme | evel of programmng, both clinically and at any
programis just not available to the genera
popul ation. So as we | ook at RHUs--

CHAI RPERSON CROALEY: I'msorry, | don't
want to interrupt, but Conm ssioner, you're so
untinmely. Everybody knows that those prograns are
not available to the general popul ati on.

COWM SSI ONER PONTE:  [i nterposi ng]
Correct.

CHAI RPERSON CROALEY: Those prograns are
not available to the 600. Those prograns are very
expensive. Those prograns are good. You have
statistics showing that they work. Wy can't you
give those prograns to all 12,000 inmates? Wy can't
they use their tine at Rikers Island to conduct it,
you know, whether you're violent or non-violent, or

if you have a nental health diagnosis or you don't
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have a nmental health diagnosis, you' re spending on
average 50+ days on Rikers Island. And those 50 days
instead of staring at the walls, one could be
participating in prograns. Those progranms cost
noney, but those prograns give you results. But
ri ght now you have 600 peopl e who have infracted who
are staring at the walls, who are starting fights
with other people as well as people in the genera
popul ation. And there's no way of preventing them
fromcontinuing to get into fights because those
prograns are limted.

COW SSI ONER PONTE: That's correct.

CHAl RPERSON CROALEY: So can we agree
that you have -- it would be a good idea to expand
t hose prograns?

COWM SSI ONER PONTE: It woul d be a great
i dea not just those prograns, but other evidence-
based programm ng as shown to be very good at
reducing violence in jails and prisons across the
country. And they all cost noney, and we have staff
training and lots of lead tinme for inplenentation.

CHAI RPERSON CROALEY: Thank you.

CO CHAI RPERSON JOHNSON: Thank you,

Conmi ssioners. I'mgoing to try to be as quick as
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possi bl e because I know we have a | ot of questions
fromcolleagues. | just want to say that | think the
frustration that you're hearing has to do with there
seens to be -- and | know we're just six nmonths into
a new adm nistration -- but there seens to be rea
system ¢ change that is necessary. | know this task
force is going to hopefully look into that. | know
that it's difficult for governnent to think big
sonetinmes, and to think in transformational terns.

But this mlIl of sorts of the nentally ill being
housed in prisons not getting effective treatnment to
take care of thenselves. Being |et out, reoffending,
and goi ng back into prison. | know that these things
cost noney, but ny hope is that we can start to have
a conversation and conme up with a real concrete plan
on what we're going to do, and that it happen sooner
than later. There are tenporary neasures, which we
know can stem sone of the inmedi ate violence that are
occurring -- that's occurring. But | think that we
have to nmake sure that this task force is getting al
perspectives. As | said in nmy opening statenent, are
inmates going to be part of this task force? | don't
think so. They are, okay. Because | want to nake

sure all viewpoints are part of it so that this
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actually is done in a real way and not -- W fast
track sonme of these things. So that six nonths or a
year fromnow we're not sitting in the same conmttee
room aski ng the sane questions, |ooking at simlar
statistics with potentially small decreases or even
sone i ncreases.

So a few quick questions. Conm ssioner
Ponte, you stated that violent inmates are flagged
for healthcare staff. What is the protocol when a
heal t hcare worker sees a violent patient?

COWM SSI ONER PONTE: | believe your
question is about what the protocol is within the
facility?

CO- CHAI RPERSON JOHNSON:  Yes, so soneone
sees a violent patient, a healthcare worker, what
t hen happens?

COWMM SSI ONER PONTE:  Sonmebody anti ci pat es
t he vi ol ence?

CO CHAI RPERSON JOHNSON:  Yes.

DR. MARY BASSETT: [off mic] So the idea
there is that you have a forewarning of a person who
is a potentially aggressive patient, and that a plan
will be made to ensure that correction officers are

avail able at the tinme the patient is seen. And that
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the location is a safe and secure one. And as |
nmentioned, it's better for these patients to be seen
in a medical room than not on the housing units.

CO CHAI RPERSON JOHNSON:  So they --7

DR. MARY BASSETT: So | should further
poi nt out that the -- we have correction officers
and, in fact, we depend on them and present in our
health clinics. And the challenge there is to ensure
-- because they are rather large. You know, they're
not huge, but they're multi-roomfacilities. So
that's -- we need to ensure that there's enough
comruni cation so that if a potential aggressive
patient is identified, and that the corrections
officer is available at that tinme, and not distracted
doing other things at the tine that the person is
seen. W also really hope that our healthcare
wor kers, and with support fromthe corrections
officers, can work to de-escal ate the encounter so
that it doesn't result in a use of force. Wich in
our opinion really serves to escalate a clinmate of
viol ence and not contain it.

CO- CHAI RPERSON JOHNSON: | understand the

Department of Corrections' reporting on the nunber of
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assaults on staff does not include assaults on
heal t hcare staff. |Is that correct?

[ Pause]

DEPUTY COWMM SSI ONER BERLI NER:  The
(coughs) excise ne. The nunber that we report as
assaults on staff are assaults on the uniformed
corrections staff. The assaults on healthcare
workers are captured in a different netric, which is
the netric we call the crimnal act on DOC property,
whi ch woul d i nclude assaults on any civilian enpl oyee
of the Departnment or of another conparable--

CO CHAI RPERSON JOHNSON:  [i nt er posi ng]

But they're not in a standal one group because they're
all metric. Are they?

DEPUTY COWM SSI ONER BERLINER:  No, there
is no capturing --

CO- CHAI RPERSON JOHNSON:  Way not ?

DEPUTY COW SSI ONER BERLI NER:  Because up
until the last two years, they represented a single
digit nunber so it was being captured in a statistics
that captured assaults on say a nmai ntenance wor ker at
DOC or a clinical staff person, or even an assault on

an officer by a non-innmate.
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CO CHAI RPERSON JOHNSON:  So it's ny
opinion that this should be a separate netric, a
separate reported nunber that is captured to
under stand what is going on so that we have an
accurate and true picture about the nunber of violent
i ncidents that occur against doctors, nurses, nental
heal th professionals. Do you have that nunber?

DR. MARY BASSETT: Yeah, | do. Yes.

CO- CHAI RPERSON JOHNSON:  You track it?

DR MARY BASSETT: Yes.

CO CHAI RPERSON JOHNSON:  Is it -- is that
data made public anywhere? 1Is it reported -- ?

DR. MARY BASSETT: Now, that | don't
know. 1'mgoing to tell you the nunber.

DR. AMANDA PARSONS: We brought it to the
Boar d.

DR. MARY BASSETT: W brought it to the
Board of Corrections. And if you want ne to tell you
sone nunbers now- -

CO CHAI RPERSON JOHNSON:  Yes.

DR. MARY BASSETT: ~--1 think that will
make the data public. 1n 2013, there were 32

assaults or attenpted assaults. And so far this
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year, there have been 25. So that does increase
t hat .

CO CHAI RPERSON JOHNSON:  [i nterposing] So
there's a significant rise?

DR. MARY BASSETT: An increase. About
two-thirds of these assaults are what are known as
splashing, and | don't know if the conmttee is
famliar with that term But it nmeans splashing the
wor ker either a corrections officer or a healthcare
worker with a liquid, sometinmes blood or sonetines
urine. And so that's an assault, and accounted for
as an assault, and about a third of them are physi cal
assaul ts.

CO CHAI RPERSON JOHNSON:  But what do you
attribute the increase to cone fron? W're talking
about this increase. Wat do you attribute to the
i ncrease in violence? So you think it happens -- does
it have -- does punitive segregation play a role in
this increase?

DR. MARY BASSETT: | can tell you that
the figures that | observe that we've tal ked about an
alternative to solitary confinement for seriously
mentally ill individuals. | think the Public

Advocate asked ne a question about an area that I'm
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not sure that | got to because Chair Crow ey had a

| ot of other questions. But the -- this program
called the dinical Alternative to Punitive
Segregation has seen a great de-escalation in
violence. And both violent encounters with the
staff, and also with self-harm So we do know a
strategy that works. Qur challenge is to identify
the el enents of those strategies that could feasibly
be extended to other settings. One of them seens an
obvi ous one, and is part of our response to these
attacks on health workers, which is better

comuni cati on between our staffs. |In the CAPS Unit
both correction staff, and health staff are al
present there. They have a |l ot of interaction with
the inmates and they can observe when an i nmate seens
to be sort of due conpensating. The behavior of
sonebody prior to a violent episode is sonetines a
better predictor than even their past record. So now
we have by nutual agreenent a sign-out effectively at
the end of every shift where both the correction
staff, and the house staff exchange information on
patients identified as high risk and report to each

ot her any changes that they've noted in behavior.
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CO- CHAI RPERSON JOHNSON:  [i nterposing] Do
you think there are other contributing factors?

DR. MARY BASSETT: Well, | think that
the-- the, um 1I'mgoing to let Dr. Parsons, who is
trying to tell ne something. But | think just to
clarify the question, |I think that you are referring
to what contributes to violence in the jails. Are
you aski ng what contributes to the violence in jail?

CO- CHAI RPERSON JOHNSON:  Specifically
around heal thcare, heal thcare workers' violence.

DR. MARY BASSETT: kay.

DR. AMANDA PARSONS: So in an anal ysis of
the splashing, it |ooked |ike about 89% of the people
who were doing the splashing had a nental health
di agnosi s, and 92% of those were occurring in
punitive site center. So based on that snapshot, it
does appear that punitive site--

CO CHAI RPERSON JOHNSON:  [i nt er posi ng]
Plays into that.

DR. AMANDA PARSONS: --plays into at
| east the splashings. Through sonme interviews with
the people who actually commtted the spl ashi ngs when
asked to explain why they did, a nunber of reasons

were elicited. A general thene was people were angry
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over a lack of -- of the person's |ack of services.
They felt like they weren't getting the access that
they wanted in the tinmefrane that they wanted. They
were things |Iike the phones, and showers, and |ike,
et cetera.

CO- CHAI RPERSON JOHNSON:  [i nt er posi ng]
kay.

DR. AMANDA PARSONS: They were angry
sonetinmes with i ssues with the nedical and nent al
health treatnment, and felt like this was a way to
make that known to us.

CO CHAI RPERSON JOHNSON:  [i nt er posi ng]
kay.

DR. AMANDA PARSONS: And lastly, sone of
the just wanted to get out of their confinenment
setting, and that was what our interviews turned up.

CO- CHAI RPERSON JOHNSON:  Thank you.

Commi ssi oner, final question and then |I'mgoing to go
back to the Chair, and then | will take -- Hear a bit
from Chair Cohen, and then | will wait for the second
round to conme back to sone of these, but I want to
give tine to everyone else. This is for Conm ssioner
Ponte. You stated in your testinony that you wll

work with the Board of Corrections to make tools
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avail able for i medi ate response to m sbehavior. You
said that towards the end of your testinony. Can you
el aborate a bit on that, what you nean in that
regard? What types of tools are you | ooking for?

COWM SSI ONER PONTE:  For the officers to
take i medi ate response to i nmate behavior |ike
wal king an inmate in, taking away free tine, taking
away property, or anything that could be used in a
way for a violent outburst while we take a | ook at
what's causing that. And possibly, while this is a
tenmporary, to look at a |l onger-range plan for this
particular inmate. R ght now, the answer is you
wite the inmate up. He gets a hearing, and nmaybe
they'Il put himin seg [sicland nmay not. But this is
kind of allowing the officer to have the ability to
take i medi ate response to prevent violence prior to
t he actual incident occurring.

CO CHAI RPERSON JOHNSON: So when you sai d
you were | ooking to go to the Board of Corrections to
make tools available, are you | ooking at |arger
pol i cy change?

COWMM SSI ONER PONTE:  Yes, sir.

CO CHAI RPERSON JOHNSON:  And | think it

woul d be hel pful for us, if when you're going to do
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that, for the Council to be infornmed of what you're
thinking in that regard so that we can weigh in on
that as well. Just to nmake sure we have a

col | aborative process here. The point of today's
hearing is that we care trenendously about what
happens, and we have oversight over into what is
going to go on.

COWM SSI ONER PONTE:  Sure. Absol utely.

CO CHAI RPERSON JOHNSON:  Thank you. I'm
going to turn it over to ny Chair.

CO CHAI RPERSON COHEN:  Thank you
Conm ssioners. | appreciate your testinony. | have
some questions regarding-- You nentioned that a
significant portion of your popul ation are people who
are not able to nake bail. Could you quantify that?
What percentage of people are being held in Rikers
for not being able to make bail during their court
pr oceedi ngs?

DEPUTY COWM SSI ONER BERLINER: A little
over 80% of our popul ation are detai nees. Sone
nunber that | cannot quantify for you right now, but
| certainly can in a follow up, are remanded and so
bail is not the issue. But the large nmgjority, the

overwhel mng majority are not remanded. They are
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some neasure of bail. That could be anything from
one dollar to many mllions of dollars.

CO- CHAI RPERSON COHEN: | mean just the
prem se of that circunstance and these people -- A
judge feels that these people don't necessarily have
to be incarcerated at all. And they're only being
incarcerated by virtually not being able to nake
bail. | mean that seens to me to be sort of
fundanmental to why we have this population, and we're
deal i ng- - What |' m concerned about at Rikers is the
nmental health facility of last resort, and that
people are sinply getting there because of financi al
ci rcunmst ances not being able to nake bail. | don't
know if that's reflected in your own managenent of
people that are incarcerated there. But do you nmeke
sonme sort of-- 1s the assessnment when people cone in
with sort of a propensity for violence or |ike what
happens? Like how do we sort the popul ation as you
get then?

COWM SSI ONER PONTE: We do have a risk
assessnent that we use internally on how we hold
i nmates both | ook at themon the arrest prior

hi story, and al so nedical and nental health needs.
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But that doesn't do anything for setting the bail or
risk to the conmunity.

CO- CHAI RPERSON COHEN: I n the assessnent,
the initial assessnment, the health assessnment, you
determ ne-- | think Comm ssioner Bassett, you said
that you identified Iike 46% who had a substance
abuse problem and you said you suspected it m ght be
nore. If | have a substance abuse problem does that
trigger a nmental health assessnment within three days?

DR. MARY BASSETT: Everybody on the
initial assessment has a mental health assessnent
whet her a substance use problemis identified or not.
So part of the overall intake exam nation includes a
general physical exam a conprehensive health
assessnment, as well as a behavioral health screen.

So anyone about whomthere is further concern, has it
Wi thin 72 hours an additional nore conprehensive
nmental health assessnent. So people are screened
both for nmental health issues, and substance use

i ssues on intake.

CO CHAI RPERSON COHEN:  Woul d drug
addition trigger a subsequent nental health
assessnment within 72 hours?

[ Pause]
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DR. MARY BASSETT: --to this question,
but yes. The answer to that question is yes.

CO- CHAI RPERSON COHEN: So hypot hetical ly
if I--if I-- 1 mght ultimately be eligible for
Met hadone if | was a heroin addict. Mght | not get
treatment for that until 72 hours?

DR. MARY BASSETT: No, | believe is
sonmebody cones in, is on Methadone and it's on their
treatnment record, that will be continued. That's one
of the ways we identify people's substance use
history. And they will be continued on either
Met hadone mai nt enance or Met hadone detoxification

CO CHAI RPERSON COHEN: | guess |'m just
wondering if you think the issues of detox are
contributing to violence at Ri kers?

[ Pause]

DR. MARY BASSETT: There is no data to
suggest that. So it's an interesting question
whet her people are com ng who | think your
hypot hesis, if | may characterize it in that way, is
that people conme in who are not identified as opioid
dependent, who are not treated for their substance --
for their addiction and, therefore, create behavioral

problens including violence in the jail. | think
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that's as they go into withdrawal or something of
that sort. | don't believe that we have data on
that, but | can discuss it with ny team

CO CHAI RPERSON COHEN: | appreciate that,
and | guess just finally in the 4 point -- | think
you said 4.5%you identify as--

DR. MARY BASSETT: [i nterposing]
Seriously nentally ill.

CO- CHAI RPERSON COHEN:  Seriously nentally
ill.

DR. MARY BASSETT: They're psychotic
al nost .

CO CHAI RPERSON COHEN:  How | ong doe sit
take to get people --

DR. MARY BASSETT: [interposing] Many of
whom we don't think should be in psychiatric
hospitals either.

CO CHAI RPERSON COHEN:  You do not think
that they should be in psychiatric-- Wll, they
could be -- they could function in the system --

DR. MARY BASSETT: [interposing] Yes,
appropri ately nmanaged.

CO CHAI RPERSON COHEN:  --if properly

managed?
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DR. MARY BASSETT: Correct.

CO CHAI RPERSON COHEN:  What are the
i ssues of getting those people on nedication and that
process? Is there, you know, in a transition, do we
-- is that like sort of an inflection point of
violence if you try to get those people appropriately
managed?

DR. MARY BASSETT: |I'm not sure whet her
you're tal king about within the jail or outside of
the jail. |Is your question--

CO- CHAI RPERSON COHEN: [interposing] In
the jail.

DR. MARY BASSETT: --in the jail?

CO CHAI RPERSON COHEN:  Wien they cone
into your gap.

DR. MARY BASSETT: So let me pass this to
Dr. Parsons, but as | understand the question you
want to know whether within that gap of 72 hours, or
within the treatnment plan is there sort of an
opportunity for people who are psychotic or
i nadequat el y managed until they cone under adequate
treat nent ?

DR. AMANDA PARSONS: The first thing that

| would note as part of our conprehensive intake, one
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of the things that we check are the community

nmedi cations for each patient. So assum ng that the
patient is on nedication in the community, we are
able to ascertain that. And that |lets us know what
ki nds of nedications we need to continue i medi ately.
In addition, there is a screen that's done with both
of us, but also in addition it's done pre-arrai gnnent
to determ ne whether or not this patient is at risk
of withdrawal in general. Nobody is going to die
froman opiate withdrawal, but we're particularly
concerned about deaths related to al cohol withdrawal.
But we screen for both on arraignnent and then on

i ntake. During nedical intake we al so ask patients
to tell us what are their nedical histories, and to
tell us what nedications they're on. And that's

anot her way that we ascertain what kind of treatnent
we need to pull together. So in no way, shape, or
formdo | want to |lead you to believe that we don't
deal with any nmental health issue until the 72-hour
mar k. We begin all of those. It's just to say that
for people who need a nore intensive treatnent, and
who can wait for 72 hours, we do continue their -- to
do a rmuch nore thorough | ook at their nmental health

i ssues and a deep dive into those. For those who
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need i mredi ate nmental health treatnment, they get it
daily.

CO- CHAI RPERSON COHEN:  Thank you very
much.

CHAI RPERSON CROWNLEY: Earlier when the
Publ i c Advocat e asked about in the questions is one
your inmates are rel eased back to the public, how
far-- How nmuch Brad H, how nuch did that |awsuit say
that the Departnent of Health has to have a di scharge
plan for this particular individual? Wat is that
di scharge plan like? Are they giving housing
i nsurance, do they have Medicare or Medicaid? How
can we rest assured that these inmates whil e under
the supervision are getting the care for their nental
heal th di agnosis will be getting access to care
out si de?

DR. MARY BASSETT: Onh, thank you for that
question. The discharge planning for persons with
mental illness includes an effort to refer people to
community services so that they have continuity of
care to ensure that they have health insurance
coverage, which in many cases invol ves either
enrolling or re-enrolling the inmate in Medicaid

prior to discharge. Wrking to ensure that any other
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public benefits to which the inmate is entitled, they
have applied for. So, as well as additional services
for general nedical care, substance abuse disorders
that they have been provided a pathway to all of the
services that they will need on discharge. Now we do
not --

CHAI RPERSON CROALEY: [interposing] Wat
if they don't have a place to go? Wat if they don't
have a honme?

DR. MARY BASSETT: Well, |, yeah, ny
understanding is that they are referred to the
shel ter system

CHAI RPERSON CROALEY: But they cone into
Ri kers often as we saw in the case of M. Mirdough
that he was honel ess and he- -

DR. MARY BASSETT: [interposing] He was
honel ess.

CHAI RPERSON CROALEY: --he didn't want to
go to the shelter system

DR. MARY BASSETT: That's right.

CHAI RPERSON CROWLEY: Are there like the
Fortune Society or other types of housing that you

could work with to put inmates who are honel ess?
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DR MARY BASSETT: Well, there are
supportive housing for people with serious nental
illness. | think that the general chall enge that
you're asking is one that | alluded to earlier where
in the case of sonmeone |ike M. Mrdough where shoul d
he have gone? | want to refer again to the task
fore, which I think is challenged to identify nore
streaml i ned approaches to ensure that we have pl aces
that people can go that they will be safe, in which
their nmental health needs will be addressed. And
there are ot her broader social support needs will be
addressed. Because it seens to ne that one of the
key chal | enges for providing a healthy popul ati on at
Ri kers is to ensuring that the people who don't need
to be there are not there. So there are many steps
along the way, and it begins with the encounter
between a police officer, and a person who has a
mental illness, and what options are available to
that officer at that tine.

CHAlI RPERSON CROWLEY: \What does it cost a
year to house -- As the Conm ssioner of Departnent
of Health, what does it cost to house sonebody in

place like a hospital. Not a jail. Like Bellevue.
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DR. MARY BASSETT: Yeah, | nean hospitals
are very expensive. So | would -- | haven't
di scussed this with Conm ssioner Ponte, but | would
bet that a hospital bed costs a |lot nore than a bunk
at Rikers. $1,200 a day.

CHAI RPERSON CROWLEY: [i nterposing] |
woul d bet ten tinmes as nuch.

DR. MARY BASSETT: Yes, but--

CHAI RPERSON CROWLEY: But $1,200 a day
that's significantly much nore than-- Wat does it
cost a night at Ri kers?

DR. MARY BASSETT: But that m ght not be
the right conparator. The right conparator m ght be
anot her community bases servi ce.

CHAI RPERSON CROWLEY: [i nterposing] |
just don't-- | nean | hear you with this financi al
hurdle. | nean Mayor Bl oonberg had a task force put
together, and he spent a few years trying to find
creative solutions to this problem So the problem
the previous adm nistration was well aware of, and
yeah, |'m hopeful that this admnistration with this
new plan of putting this task force together wl|
essentially to a degree be able to inplenment prograns

that will stop people who don't belong at Rikers
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I sl and, but from going there, from going there.
However, you know, at the same tine any rea
successful progranms aren't going to the extensive
care. Conm ssioner Ponte didn't share with us
exactly how nmuch he needs to inplenent prograns for
600 people who are on the waiting list for nental
heal th needs who are not getting the prograns, but

the 100 are. So within RHU where the CAPS unit is.

So, I"mgoing to now recogni ze Council Menber Dronm
who has a bill that | mentioned earlier in ny
opening, and we're hearing that bill today. So |I'm

going to ask Council Menber Drommto ask a few

questions and to give any type of introduction.

Thank you

COUNCI L MEMBER DROW  Thank you, Chair
Crowey. | appreciate you allowing us to hear this
bill today as well. | did not in the testinony --
I"msorry | was late. | had and Education Committee

hearing, which | chaired the commttee so | couldn't
| eave -- cone over, but | did not see in the

Conmm ssioner's testinony either one any nention of
the bill, and I'm wondering what your standing is on

it.




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

COW TTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH, DEVELOPMENTAL DI SABI LI TY,
ALCOHCOLI SM  SUBSTANCE ABUSE AND DI SABI LI TY SERVI CES JO NTLY
WTH THE COMM TTEE ON FI RE AND CRI M NAL JUSTI CE SERVI CES

AND THE COWM TTEE ON HEALTH 95

COWM SSI ONER PONTE: | think as the --
fromwhat we know, we're obviously nore interested in
cooperating with the Council and devel oping matri xes
that we all agree these are good neasures noving
forward. | think it would help us all build a better
plan to be nore effective and efficient with our
City's resources. The Departnent of Mental Health
and | are already working on matrixes with our two
agencies collectively. W'Ill |ook at how our, what
type of our programis and neasurenents to give us
good indications that what works and what doesn't
work. So we're very interested and willing to work
with you on noving forward.

COUNCI L MEMBER DROMM  Very good because
we've had a lot of difficulty in the past trying to
get people's nunbers, and that's why we actually had
to wite legislation to nmake sure that that happened.
And we're very, very interested in see what those
nunbers are. So | just wanted to-- Let nme go to
t hese questions in regard to punitive segregation.
The United Nations Special Rapporteur said that
solitary confinenment when used for the purpose of
puni shnment cannot be justified for any reason.

Preci sely because it inposes severe nental pain, and
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suffering beyond any reasonable retribution for
crimnal behavior. So |I'm wondering why we're even
in the business of that, particularly why we're in
t he busi ness of that when we have nentally patients.
' ve questioned the Departnent both of them on
previ ous occasions at other hearings. Wy are we
continuing to do that especially at |engths of stays
t hat have been reported to us by people who have
experienced solitary at Rikers? The State has passed
legislation in regard to juveniles. Wat noves are
you taking to nove in the sane direction?
COW SSI ONER PONTE: As it pertains to
mentally ill offenders, | think we've already noved
away from putting those inmates in punitive
segregation. And we're very actively -- we've got a
good programin place. |It's productive, but those
people that are clinically nentally ill those are
somebody with a level of nmental illness that's the
RHU pl acenments. | think we've already progressive
noved down that road to | ook at alternatives, and we
continue to |l ook at the RHU node as a good foundation
for where do we need to go fromhere? | think we're
al ready heading down the road. But as it pertains to

juveniles, | agree. In nost of the country, if you
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| ook across the country, it's already wal ked away
fromthe idea, the concept of punitive say for a
juvenile. W don't call themjuveniles. W cal
t hem adol escents. In every other state in the
country they wouldn't be the devel oped system It
presents us with a unique problemthat we are
addressing. So we've got a pretty active conmttee
| ooking specifically at that problem not only how we
house juveniles, how we use punitive seg, and how do
we have appropriate programm ng to avoid the need for
punitive seg. But all of those are big costly pieces
that will add to our systens, but we're noving
clearly in that direction

COUNCI L MEMBER DROWM  So | think I've
presented Ri kers now four tines since | becane deeply
interested in this issue. And on each of those
visits to Rikers, | was shocked at the conditions
that exist there physically. The hallways snell of
urine or the condition of the cells in which i nmates
are held; the rusted beds; the |ack of open air; the
w ndows. And | thought the last visit when you were
there Comm ssioner as well with us, there was one
cell where papers had been taped up above the vent,

whi ch was directly above the bed. | would think
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that's probably how that inmate died fromit being
too hot in the cell. That hot air and cold air

com ng down on top of you. |Is there any plan for a
capital programto reconstruct these buildings? |
mean the conditions are absolutely horrendous.

COWM SSI ONER PONTE: | agree. Most of
our facilities are very old. They probably could
stand to be replaced, nost of them It's very
expensive, but it's one of the things we're | ooking
at. W have one facility on design now that we're
| ooking at a prototype, and what do we need in the
way of bed space, but what type of bed space do we
need. And we are heading in that direction, very
| ong-term and very expensive.

COUNCI L MEMBER DROVWM  So just to go back
to the different prograns that you're piloting the
CAPS the Cinical Alternative to Punitive
Segregation. Fromwhen we went out on a visit, |
bel i eve you said you had 20 people in that progranf?

DR. MARY BASSETT: 65 now.

COUNCI L MEMBER DROWM 65 now, and how
many woul d be eligible or are eligible for that

programthat you cannot accommobdat e?




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

COW TTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH, DEVELOPMENTAL DI SABI LI TY,
ALCOHCOLI SM  SUBSTANCE ABUSE AND DI SABI LI TY SERVI CES JO NTLY
WTH THE COMM TTEE ON FI RE AND CRI M NAL JUSTI CE SERVI CES

AND THE COWM TTEE ON HEALTH 99

DR. MARY BASSETT: This is punitive
segregation or solitary. These are patients that
woul d have previously been sent to solitary
confinenment with serious nmental illness. So we feel
that we have an adequate nunber of beds for that
popul ation, which is presently the population that's
eligible for the CAPS facility. There are other
solitary confinenment facilities. Theses are called
the restricted housing units, which are not -- have
not transitioned to a non-solitary confinenment
approach to handling people who break jail rules.

COUNCI L MEMBER DROWM  So one other. How
many rules are there that they can break?

DR. MARY BASSETT: | don't know the
answer to that. | should ask ny coll eague but |
think there are a lot.

COUNCI L MEMBER DROWM  [interposing] W
were told there were over 100, over 100 rul es they
col d break--

DR MARY BASSETT: Yes, there are a |ot.

COUNCI L MEMBER DROM -- that coul d get
t hem -

DR. MARY BASSETT: Not all of the

i nvol ving violence. | should point out.
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COWM SSI ONER PONTE:  And not al ways wi ||
get themto solitary confinenent or to punitive
segregati on.

COUNCI L MEMBER DROMM  What's the average
I ength of stay for a person that's held in punitive
segregation at Ri kers?

DEPUTY COMM SSI ONER BERLI NER:  The
average sentence | ength posted in our sentencing
reformfor themlast year is about 14 days. | have
to calculate the length of stay and send it to you.

COUNCI L MEMBER DROW Ckay, |'d like to
have that information. And what's the maxi mum | ength
of stay?

DEPUTY COMM SSI ONER BERLI NER:  There is
none.

COUNCI L MEMBER DROWM  There's no
maxi mum So they could be there constantly for years
and years and years if they keep com ng back. What
about tinme owed? Sonebody that |I know who was
sentenced to 100 and sonet hi ng days conpl eted the
majority of them Went Upstate. Cane out and was in
the Fortune Society. Unfortunately, got rearrested
again. Went back in, and imediately had to do 30

days tinme owed. |Is that practice still in place?
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DEPUTY COWMM SSI ONER BERLI NER:  Ti ne owed

froma prior incarceration is still kept on one's

record for one year post-release for nost

infractions, and for two years post-rel ease for

assaults on staff, assaults on other inmates causing

injury or assaults with a weapon.

COUNCI L MEMBER DROMM  They go right back

DEPUTY COWM SSI ONER BERLI NER:  They may
not go right back in, but they --

COUNCI L MEMBER DROWM  [i nterposing]
Because there's a waiting list?

DEPUTY COWMM SSI ONER BERLI NER:  Ri ght, but
t here woul d be assist --

COUNCI L MEMBER DROWM  [interposing] How
long is the waiting list for solitary?

DEPUTY COWM SSI ONER BERLI NER:  Their
waiting list for the general population in the
punitive segregation area averages about 50 to 70
peopl e, which is about a one to two days turnover.
The 600 that Chair Crow ey references is the waiting
list for the RHUs, which is about -- averagi ng about

650 peopl e.
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COUNCI L MEMBER DROW  One of the
concerns that 1've heard from peopl e who have been in
solitary is that they're in there basically 24 hours
a day. | know that they are supposed to be all owed
to cone out one hour a day. Wen we visited Rikers a
coupl e of the corrections officers told ne that
generally if they want to take advantage of that one
hour a day, they are awakened at 5:00 a.m and they
will be there from5:00 a.m to 6:00 a.m She said
times it's even earlier from4:00 to 5:00 a.m |Is
that generally what the time is for getting out of
their cell between 4:00 and 6:00 a.m in the norning?

COWMM SSI ONER PONTE:  It's schedul ed.
Everybody woul dn't be schedul ed at 4:00 or 5:00. It
woul d be unusual to have peopl e schedul ed at 4:00
a.m but the day starts so the feeding and the rec.
You have to start because there's only so nuch space.
So it's a scheduled activity that sone people woul d
start early, but it would be happeni ng throughout the
day.

COUNCI L MEMBER DROMM  But generally how
many peopl e have to get up between 4:00 and 6:00 a. m

to take advantage of that?
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COWMM SSI ONER PONTE: What's feeding is it

5: 007
DEPUTY COMM SSI ONER BERLI NER:  5: 00.
COW SSI ONER PONTE:  So t he breakf ast
feeding starts at 5:00. |'mnot sure of how many

spaces you have in there.

COUNCI L MEMBER DROVWM  So nost i nmates
tend to skip that.

COWM SSI ONER PONTE:  They can.

COUNCI L MEMBER DROW | f they do, then
they don't get out of their cell at all for the day
basically unless they have a visit or sone type of

clinical appointnent or sonething like that, which

doesn't happen all that often. So what's the average

size of the cell in segregation at R kers?
DEPUTY COWM SSI ONER BERLINER: | think
t he di mensions of nost-- The cells in the punitive

seg are the sane as the cells that are not in
punitive seg depending on the age of the jail. But
believe they' re 8x10.

COUNCI L MEMBER DROMM  8x10. That's very
smal | and they probably have |ike a very small

wi ndow. What's the size of the window in there?
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DEPUTY COWM SSI ONER BERLINER:  |'Il have
to get back to you with that.

COUNCI L MEMBER DROMM  kay. So there
used to be a |lot of data on the DOE ... DOC. DCE
guess I'mcom ng fromthe Education here. DOCC s
website, which is no | onger available to the public
in terns of the nunbers, et cetera. Wre you aware
that that data is no | onger avail able on the website
as of yesterday?

COWM SSI ONER PONTE: | know we' re wor ki ng
on new data sets

[ Pause]

DEPUTY COWMM SSI ONER BERLI NER:  The
website was really launched. There are |inks
avail able, and we'll send you the |inks.

COUNCI L MEMBER DROW  kay, | hope the
public woul d be nade nore aware of that as well so
that we can | ook at those nunmbers. How many
individuals in terns of segregation are 16 and 17
years ol d, and how many are 18 and 20 years ol d?

DEPUTY COWM SSI ONER BERLI NER:  We' I | have
to get back to you with an age-by-age breakdown.

COUNCI L MEMBER DROVWM  That's why ny bil

is so inportant because we definitely need to know
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these statistics. It was nentioned | think that
20,000 patients a year by the Heal th Conm ssi oner
recei ve di scharge planning. Wat percentage of those
| eaving is that?

DR. MARY BASSETT: | think I was
referring to the discharge planning on the Brad H.
Stipul ation.

DR. AMANDA PARSONS: |'msmling because
| actually just requested this graph yesterday of
| ooking at it annually how many people cone into the
system and at what point do they exit? W know that
for those who stay | ong enough to get the discharge
plan to be eligible for the stipulation, it's about
93% of themwho get it. But | cannot tell you what
proportion of theml|eave w thout a conpl ete discharge
plan. But it's worth noting that the discharge
planning is a process. |It's not just a fina
docunent, and for people-- Most people |eave, and we
have no i dea when they' re going to | eave. And so,
what we end up giving themis a referral because they
coul d go out tonorrow.

They could go out in three weeks, and so
you cannot be meking it and schedul i ng appoi nt nents.

So what we're doing is we're giving people referrals.
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Unfortunately, 1'd | ooked at sone of the data
yest erday, and suggests that a | ot of people don't
follow up with their referrals. And so, w're trying
to understand as part of the work we'll be doing with
the coomittee what is the best way of reconnecting
people to care when we don't have a way of planning
for the release the way that we would like to. That
way that you could for instance in the prison system
And for those who have a known rel ease date, and
that's a very small percentage of the popul ation for
t hose fol ks they do get appointnments. And we foll ow
up with themw thin three days of the appointnment to
make sure that they have seen their provider.

COUNCI L MEMBER DROWM  So, this holds
true also for those who are in solitary, they can
just be in solitary one day, go to court and then be
rel eased to the street w thout any planni ng?

DR. AMANDA PARSONS: So they could be
rel eased without any planning. |In general, we try to
get people referrals. W know that they are likely
to be released without us knowing. So we try to give
thema referral very early on in their say to say, If
you are to be rel eased, your referral to this place.

If they're released fromthe jail, they're brought
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down to clinic, and actually given a piece of paper
and sonme nore information. |If they're rel eased from
the court, they have to go back to the notion of the
referral that was cited to them It could be several
days to prepare it.

COUNCI L MEMBER DROWM  Just very quickly.
One of the things that | did hear when | was on
Ri kers fromthe Departnment of Corrections -- froma
correction officer when I went in association [sic]
is the lack of communication in terns of the
di agnosi s for nmany of these people who have nent al
illnesses. |s there a way that the Departnent of
Corrections, that corrections officers can be
i nformed wi thout violating any privacy |aws. So that
t hey can be supportive in the job that they have to
do?

DR. AMANDA PARSONS: We're currently in
di scussions with DOC about what is the nost useful
pi ece of information. And the staff, the facility
staff actually are saying they don't need a
di agnosis. The DOC facilities staff are saying.
Because again, what are you going to do if we tell
you the person is schizoaffective? Wat does that

mean for a corrections officer today? How woul d that




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

COW TTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH, DEVELOPMENTAL DI SABI LI TY,
ALCOHCOLI SM  SUBSTANCE ABUSE AND DI SABI LI TY SERVI CES JO NTLY
WTH THE COMM TTEE ON FI RE AND CRI M NAL JUSTI CE SERVI CES

AND THE COWM TTEE ON HEALTH 108
change how t hey approach the patient? And so, the
correction officers are asking for things like, Is
there anything -- do | need to know anythi ng about
this patient that's going to change nmy tour? Can you
tell me if a patient is not taking nmeds? | don't
need to know what the neds are.

| just need to know is there a chance --
do you know that the patient hasn't been taking their
nmeds and, therefore, it's going to put themat risk
of hearing nore voices or they' re potentially going
to be less up or nore dowmn? Tell ne that. Tell ne
the things that 1'mgoing to need to be safe on ny
tour, and to take better care of the inmtes. And
that is not diagnosis and nanmes of nedications.
That's pertinent up-to-date information about
synpt onot ol ogy and about behaviors that are changing
day-to-day with a patient. And that's the |evel of
information that we want to facilitate between the
staff.

COUNCI L MEMBER DROWM  Thank you very
much. | hope that that is communi cated, and |I'm now
going to just turn it over to the Chair.

CHAI RPERSON CROALEY: Thank you, Counci

Menber Dromm Before | recogni ze Council Menber
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Val | one for questions, a question follow ng up on
what was spoken about earlier in regards to Kendra's
Law. Kendra's Law has to do with people with nenta
heal th di agnosis. So anyone who works wi th DOC t hat
doesn't have access to DOH i nformation, the care of
those with nental health diagnosis woul dn't
necessarily be in with those types of innmates when
they are getting discharged. It is under your
purview at all?

DR MARY BASSETT: The decision this is a
court-mandated referral. So the setting in which--

CHAI RPERSON CROWLEY: [i nterposing] But
is that a partnership?

DR. MARY BASSETT: --we oversee at the
Departnent, the programit's called the Assisted
Qut patient Treatnent and follow up these patients who
have been given court-nmandated services. So we don't
make the -- we don't nandate these services.

CHAI RPERSON CROWALEY: [ nt er posi ng]
Ri ght.

DR. MARY BASSETT: W do have- -

CHAI RPERSON CROWALEY: [i nterposing] And

i nmat es- -
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DR. MARY BASSETT: --a responsibility for
managi ng the program followi ng up the people--

CHAI RPERSON CROMALEY: [i nterposing] But

the vast -- the vast majority of innates.
DR. MARY BASSETT: --in mandated
servi ces.
CHAI RPERSON CROWLEY: --of innmates that

are convicted of a serious felony are sentenced- -

DR. MARY BASSETT: [interposing] | don't
think -- | think that, yes.

CHAI RPERSON CROWLEY: Let ne ask this.
But sone have been on R kers Island for a nunber of
years of years waiting for this, okay. There's a
smal | percentage of inmates that finish their tine
served at Rikers, and then are going into-- back into
the cormunity. Now, there's a certain anount of them
that fall within your Mental Health purvi ew whereby
they ask officials. It is DOC officials and DOH
officials that will have to let the courts know t hat
this particular inmate cooperated and participated in
a nental health program So they're ready to go out
back into the conmunity. |Is that coordination that I
want to get a better handle on? Do we at DOC and DOH

have a good handl e on the popul ation that |eaves and
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goes back into the community because there is a way,
and working properly together that we could ask the
court to get involved, and the court may not be

i nvol ved? And everybody who is here that-- I'msorry
just two conmi ssioners needs to identify thensel ves
for the record, too.

ASSI STANT COW SSI ONER VENTERS:  So ny
nane i s Hone Venters, and |'m a physician and |
oversee healthcare in the justice system 1|'mthe
Assi stant Conmi ssioner of Correctional Health. So we
have two mechani sns to address to the point you just
made. First of all, there are patients that have
conme through the AOT Program And that's where
people start off with sone particular court nmandate
and our nmental health staff routinely interact with
the AOT staff fromthe courts. The other is and this
is |l think alittle bit nore precise scenario that
both you and the Public Advocate have raised is that
sonmebody on their way out the door exhibits synptons
that are worrisone.

So we routinely do what we call a civil
di scharge, which is our Mental Health staff because
they are Mental Health staff and we follow the letter

and the spirit of Kendra's Law and all the nental
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health laws in the State. W wll actually work with
t he Department of Corrections for sonebody who is

|l eaving the jails to take themdirectly to El mhurst
Hospital, or it could be another |ocal CPEP or nental
heal t h energency room They're taken there under
authority by us as the health providers to be
assessed by-- Even though they're |eaving the
authority of DOC, to be assessed by those nental

heal th providers in that energency room because we're
worried that there nmay be a threat of them harm ng

t hensel ves or others. So we do that routinely.

CHAI RPERSON CROALEY: How oft en?

ASSI STANT COW SSI ONER VENTERS: | woul d
have to check, but it certainly happens multiple
ti mes every nonth.

CHAI RPERSON CROALEY: And do you stay on
track to keep track of that particul ar person when
they go into the community after they |eave your
care?

ASS| STANT COW SSI ONER VENTERS: No, we
follow up with the hospital to assess, to find out

what happened with them but--
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CHAI RPERSON CROWNLEY: [i nterposing] But
there's never been a tine where you have worked with
the court to mandate treatnent, continued treatnent?

ASSI STANT COWM SSI ONER VENTERS: Wel |,
actually the responsibility for the patient's care
when they've left the jail system So the City
Charter says we're in charge of healthcare in the
jails. W make sure that there's a secure transfer
of that patient we're worried about to El nmhurst
Hospital or another hospital. Then at that point,

t hose physicians take over the care of that person.
Then those are the physicians that woul d seek a court
order or any other admnistrative process. But they
woul d be beyond the scope of the authority of the
heal th providers who don't care for the person.

CHAI RPERSON CROWALEY: [i nterposing] But
there is sonme report that you give to that physician
and the hospital --

ASS| STANT COW SSI ONER VENTERS:

[i nterposing] Absolutely.

CHAI RPERSON CROWLEY: --and sayi ng that
over the past couple of years, because sonetines we
have i nmates that stay with you. | knowit's rare,

but there are cases, and they have not partici pated
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in these prograns. And you mandate that they go to
El mhurst and see a physician. But then it's sort of
i ke you wash your hands of them and now they're in
the healthcare system And it's the hospital that
has to nmake sure that they're getting their care?

ASS| STANT COW SSI ONER VENTERS:
[interposing] Well, | think this is--

CHAI RPERSON CROWALEY: [interposing] Their
coordination with the hospital provider and sonebody
in probation that nmakes sure that this particul ar
person is taking and participating in nental
heal thcare while they're in the community?

ASSI STANT COWM SSI ONER VENTERS: That's
actually quite routine. Wen a hospital assesses
that soneone is a threat to thensel ves or other.
This isn't just for patients comng fromnmy care.
[soc] It could be patients who walk in off the
street. Sonebody who was adm tted through the CPEP
or into Bellevue or El nmhurst or any other hospital.
There will be Social Services that assess not only
does the patient need to stay in the hospital, but
when they | eave the hospital are there other
services, Social Services that are going to be out

there. So, they haven't returned there. [sic]
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CHAI RPERSON CROWALEY: |Is sonebody on
probation working with the hospital, the healthcare
provider. \Wen that person is in the community, and
they stop going to the healthcare provider, who is
al erted?

ASS| STANT COW SSI ONER VENTERS: We can
certainly ask our coll eagues at HHC what soci al
services they enact with to answer the question.

CHAI RPERSON CROALEY: |I'mtrying to get
at the heart of what happened with St. Hubert, and he
was not - -

DR. MARY BASSETT: [interposing] So, St.
Hubert - -

CHAI RPERSON CROWNLEY: --ordered, court
ordered to continue care. So there was a | oophole
that he escaped with. And | want to nmake sure that
anyone | eaving Ri kers under the Cty's responsibility
is tracked. Anybody who is not participating in a
program who has a history of violent outbreaks of
violence we're nmaking sure they're ready to go into
the community.

DR. MARY BASSETT: Yeah, I-- the only
part of that question that | can answer for you is if

they have a court order that mandates that they go
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into AOT, then there's a whole set of follow up
guesti ons.

CHAI RPERSON CROALEY: [interposing] |
realize that, but the question is--

DR. MARY BASSETT: [interposing] So
you' re asking about that gap or that --.

CHAI RPERSON CROMALEY: --who asked for the
court order?

DR. MARY BASSETT: Well, that's--

CHAI RPERSON CROWNLEY: [interposing] Are
we relying on a nental health professional at the
hospital --

DR. MARY BASSETT: [interposing] That's
correct.

CHAI RPERSON CROALEY: --who is not
affiliated with DOC directly or indirectly who nany
not even know about Kendra's Law?

DR. MARY BASSETT: The request for AOCT
starts with the court. The request to assess sonmeone
for court-mandated services starts with us with a
referral to the hospital--

CHAI RPERSON CROWLEY: [interposing] It

starts with you?
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DR. MARY BASSETT: -- that nmakes -- W
refer the patient to the hospital to ask themto make
the assessnent and referral to the courts. That's ny
under st andi ng.

CHAI RPERSON CROALEY: Are you sure?

DR. MARY BASSETT: | think we ought to
get back and clarify this, too, because | will do
t hat .

CHAI RPERSON CROWLEY:  Counci | Menber
Val | one.

COUNCI L MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you, Madam
Chair. As nuch as |I'mdying to ask questions for the
past two and a half hours, | know ny fellow council
nmenber Rory Lancman has to leave. So |I'mgoing to
slide this over to Rory.

[ Pause]

COUNCI L MEMBER LANCVAN:  Thank you.
Paul , thanks very much. Queens are | ooking out for
each other. [It's good to see you, Conm ssioners, and
| do appreciate the opportunity you afforded us with
t he coordination of our Chair to take a tour of the
Ri kers facility, Conm ssioner Ponte. A couple of
guestions for each of you, and I will go through

these quickly. First, just when do you expect the
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task force on Behavioral Health and the Crim nal
Justice Systemto nmake its recommendati ons? Because
you can give themto the Cty and to the Board of
Corrections as well as to the Gty Council for any

| egislation that m ght be necessary.

DR. MARY BASSETT: The first neeting for
the task force on Behavioral Health and the Crim nal
Justice Systemis next week, a week fromtoday. And
there's a 100-day cl ock ticking.

COUNCI L MEMBER LANCMAN: A 100-day cl ock?

DR. MARY BASSETT: A 100-day.

COUNCI L MEMBER LANCMAN:  Well, that's
good. That's positive.

DR. MARY BASSETT: That's good.

COUNCI L MEMBER LANCMAN:  That is good.
Conmi ssi oner Ponte, let nme just ask you about the
addi tional eight hours of nental health training.
What topics, if any wll it-- Well have you
determ ned which topics you' re going to cover? Wy
ei ght hours? Wy not 50 hours, why not four hours?
What is it that you're going to give in those eight
hours that you feel the correction officers don't

currently have?
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COWMM SSI ONER PONTE:  This is sonething
that we work with the officers and the Departnent of
Mental Health to | ook at what training, what's
mssing? | think it's probably at the end of the day
will be nore than eight hours as we | ook at what's
really needed. But this is, again, as the training
is running we've got officers on the units these
units doing the best they can. This is sonething
we're offering in the nmeantine as we | ook at the
overall complexity of the training that needs to
happen. So aren't being entirely specific of what's
bei ng of fered.

DEPUTY COW SSI ONER BERLINER:  It's a
nmental health first aid course primarily. So we're
tal ki ng about basic synptomrecognition, basic
behavi oral change, and qui ck nethods to adapt to
t hat .

COUNCI L MEMBER LANCVAN:  And this
additional training was it devel oped in collaboration
with the workforce?

DEPUTY COWM SSI ONER BERLINER:  This is
training that was devel oped by the Departnent of
Heal th. And we've worked with uniforned staff in the

facilities to make sure that this is training that
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they would find valuable yes. But not one that we
devel oped specifically.

COUNCI L MEMBER LANCVAN: Let's go back to
the budget. | know there were a | ot of questions
about whet her or not the budget was adequate to
reduce the tremendous anount of overtine, which |
thi nk the Conm ssioner agrees can be a contributing
factor to the violence in the jails. Have you had an
opportunity to exam ne the budget? And can you tel
us whet her or not the resources are there in your
view as the Manager of this Agency to significantly
reduce the overtinme or to reduce the overtine in a
meani ngf ul way.

COW SSI ONER PONTE: 1'd be guessing at
this point to give you an answer for that question.
| think we're a big organization. There's a |ot of
factors that contribute to violence. Lots of
overtinme and staffing are a couple of pieces to that.
But we're working very hard to get those answers to
of fer you our opinions of the staffing Ievels, the
overtinme, and responses to all of those. And nost of
t he budget work was done well before | arrived. So
it's really a One billion dollar budget that we're

trying to look at nowin a pretty short span of tine
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to see where the pieces shake out, and is it enough
to get the job done in a short anount of tine.

COUNCI L MEMBER LANCMAN: | under st and
that, and | think everybody is willing to cut you
some sl ack, or is cognizant of the fact that you
didn't make this nmess. And you've only been on the
job two nonths, but the reality is the budget is
going to get done in the next three weeks. And so,
it is incunbent upon you to exani ne the budget,
determ ne whet her or not you have the resources that
you need based on the problens that you have been
able to identify, the overstaffing -- the overuse of
overtine being one of them And to speak candidly to
the Mayor, if necessary, and say we need X nore
dollars to deal with these problens that we know
exist. Because it will becone incredibly difficult
to address that problemafter June 30th, until we get
around to next year's budget cycle.

And that's nore of an adnonition than a
guestion. Let nme ask just a quick question fromthe
Conmm ssi oner of Health and maybe it's appropriate for
both of you. | represent a ot of folks who work in
the correctional system blue-collar nen and wonen,

and I amvery, very concerned about the extent to
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which the jails have becone sort of the mental health
provider of last resort or first resort in the city.
But ny primary concern is the safety of the nen and
wonen wor king those jobs. Uniforned officers and
your folks in health. | have heard the concern
repeatedly that individuals will use, or detainees
rather will use, the nental health excuse to avoid

t he consequences of the infractions that they m ght
commt in the jail.

And let nme ask you whether or not when
you have 25% of the detai nees being evaluated at the
outset as having a nental health issue, but overal
38% of those inside the system have a nental health
issue. | understand you attribute that difference to
sonme degree to people who have a nental health
di agnosi s stay longer. So | guess over tinme they
accunul ate, but is there sone percentage that you
feel have been gaining the systen? And do you have
plans in place, or are you thinking of having plans
in place to nake sure that we are diagnosing people
correctly? And that those who have |l egitinmte nental
heal th i ssues are getting the treatnent that they

need in the setting that they need. But that violent
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inmates are not -- are msusing that diagnosis to
avoi d responsibility, and then posing danger.

DR. MARY BASSETT: Thank you for that
question. Let nme begin and then 1'Il ask Dr. Parsons
to comment who has been overseeig the systemfor
| onger than |I've been the Health Conm ssioner. The
first thing to tell you is that as Health workers, we
do not involve ourselves in the punitive conponent of
activities at Rikers. There are two sort of sets of
goal s on Rikers, and we share our desire to have a
safe and heal thy popul ation. And the principal
objective of our health workers is to ensure the
heal th of the patients. So when a patient is seen,
we are not trying to assess whether they should be
puni shed or not. W are trying to assess themon the
basis of the conplaints that they give to us. And
that is our responsibility as doctors, nurses,
psychol ogi sts, psychiatrists to assess the health and
wel | bei ng of the patient when they conme to us. Qite
apart fromthe issue of what brought themthere, what
infractions they may have incurred. W are their
heal t hcare workers. So, to say a little bit nore

about this, I'll turnit to Dr. Parsons.
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DR, AMANDA PARSONS: | think | would say
overall that people in the jails don't feign a nental
illness. | think the issue that you're referring to
is that for people who are about to go into CPSU, who
tell us, the nental health staff, that they want to
kill thenselves, or nake sonme attenpt to do so. W
are often asked by the corrections officers to say,
Tell us the real fromthe fake. And if there were a
way to do that, we would, but we can't. There is no
way to tell whether or not sonebody is serious when
they say they're going to kill thenselves or not.
And if we try to guess and we guess w ong, people
kill thensel ves and i ndeed they have. And,
therefore, it's our responsibility as nedica
providers to take what we hear and assune to the best
of our know edge that it is true unless we know
ot herw se.
And it is very hard to know ot herw se
what is in sonebody's head. Conpounded by the fact
that when we actually | ook at the research, people in
punitive seg do try to kill thenselves nore than in
other places. And so, it's very hard to do what it
is that you are asking us to do, which is to tell the

real fromthe fake. And | think anybody who's got
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ki ds, anybody who's got a young girl who says, |'m
going to kill nyself. And if you think you know

whet her or not she's going to do it, you need to talk
to sone parents of the people who didn't listen. And
we cannot be those people. It is our duty to protect
the health of the inmates, and we will do so even if
we can't tell whether they are telling the truth or a
lie.

COUNCI L MEMBER LANCVAN:  Well, | respect
that and this committee and this Council fromthe
time that |1've been here has been very commtted to
the nental wellbeing of inmates in the correction
system but there's a dual responsibility. And it's
not just to the inmates. It's to the staff, the
correction officers, and the health staff. And so |
hope, and I'm not a psychiatrist or a psychol ogi st,
but | hope that your training incorporates the
context in which these diagnoses are nade. And that
i s people who have an incentive, or a very strong
incentive to m slead about their nmental state.

DR. MARY BASSETT: | think Dr. Parsons'
remar ks stand for the record.

COUNCI L MEMBER LANCVAN:  All right,

t hanks very much. Paul, thank you very nuch.
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CHAI RPERSON CROALEY: Also, it's
i mportant to remenber, and Council Menber Lancman's
Iine of questioning when you have an i nmate whet her
or not they have a nental health diagnosis, but they
are continuing to conmt infractions, and there is no
consequence to that, of course, staff's lives are at
risk and they're in danger, but so is the entire
popul ation. So all those other inmates, it's not
right to those other inmates. And for ne, if you
have a nmental health diagnosis or you don't, if
you're disruptive and you're violent, you're not to
be with the rest of the population. |It's not fair to
the other inmates, and it's not fair to the staff.
we' ve heard today that although there are inmates
that have committed infractions, they' re not getting
any type of punishnent. |'mnot saying to put them
in punitive segregation. Maybe they need a program
but the fact of the matter is they cannot be with
other -- the general popul ation because they're going
to continue to do this. And that's why the viol ence,
which is spiraling out of control. Rikers Island
does not have the plan in place. You have 650 people
on a waiting list--

DR. MARY BASSETT: [interposing] Let ne--




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

COW TTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH, DEVELOPMENTAL DI SABI LI TY,
ALCOHCOLI SM  SUBSTANCE ABUSE AND DI SABI LI TY SERVI CES JO NTLY
WTH THE COMM TTEE ON FI RE AND CRI M NAL JUSTI CE SERVI CES

AND THE COWM TTEE ON HEALTH 127

CHAlI RPERSON CROWLEY: --and those are the
sanme people. Two or three weeks ago when a
corrections officer got their head beaten in, it was
by sonmebody who had a nental health diagnosis, who
had conmitted infractions and was on the waiting
list. And if you |look at the violence, you'll see
that they're nmuch nore likely, those that have
infracted in the pat, to reinfract again. And
unfortunately, there is no discipline and order
because you do not have the facilities to house those
who need to be segregated properly.

DR. MARY BASSETT: |I'm not sure whet her
that is a question, but let nme just refer the
Conmttee to a set of facts that are based on --

CHAI RPERSON CROWALEY: [ nter posi ng]
Everything that | said is facts.

DR. MARY BASSETT: --research that was
were done by -- that reflect the research done by the
Correctional Health Team on Ri kers. They --

CHAI RPERSON CROWNLEY: [interposing] This
Comm ttee has never asked for sonebody with a nental
heal th di agnosis to put in -- to be put in centra
punitive segregation. W are asking that they be

renoved fromthe general population so they' re not
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continuing to conmt violent acts agai nst other
inmates or a correction officer. They're in a
facility that has control, not with the general
popul ati on. You have 650 people who have conmtted
infractions who are nore likely than other inmates to
commt nore infractions, and right now you do not
have the facilities to help this popul ation, and
who's at risk? Qher inmates and the staff. Counci
Menber Val | one.

COUNCI L MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you, Madam
Chair. W are talking about a correctional facility,
are we not and are we not tal king about the | argest
correctional facility in the world? Are we talking
about a correctional facility that has the ol dest
bui | di ngs that were never neant to house over 10 to
12,000 detainees. Sonetines | listen to what's going
on, and | think the finger is unfairly pointed at
Corrections and the officers and staff that's on the
island for the nmess that we're tal king about. So as
we put this task force together, and we tal k about
changes, we have to talk about all of it together.
But the problemis we have to support those who are
on the frontline now there at the island and short

term
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And that was why Council Menber Crow ey
and all the chairs worked so hard at the budget
hearings, to have you have it not be so hard for the
Mayor to increase the budgets. To get our officers,
to get our health staff, to get our clinicians and
our psychol ogi sts and our grand contract. But if we
can't get any better than that, we should fight for
it. But we can get those resources now, and all of
the violence that we talk about. And the things that
are happening, we tend to say, Well, you know what,
the officers they didn't do the right thing. They
put sonebody in segregation, or they didn't have the
tools. And | think 1'd like to redirect what the
purpose of this is, and think you on the Board of
Corrections--

And by the way, Conmm ssioner, | heard you
say that the Departnent of Health is bound to the
court's on treatnent, for health treatnment, and
mental services and I'min agreenment. | have to tel
you | voted for mninmum standards for years ago, the
Departnment of Health, the Departnent of Corrections.
And there are many, many rules in our statutes
regardi ng di scharge pl anning. Regarding the anount

of hours that have to go by. The amount of treatnent
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that is mandated. It has nothing to do with the
court system So we can't sit back and say, Oh, the
courts told us, or we have to wait for a court to
tell us with a detainee or an inmate. So is that
actual ly what your testinony saying that the courts
are the ones?

DR. MARY BASSETT: What | was referring
to is what | understood that Chairman Crow ey, Chair
Crow ey, sorry, to -- Chairwoman, to say about
ensuring that people are in treatnment, people being
mandated to be in treatnment. And that is something
that can occur under what's known as Kendra's Law and
when people are referred for assisted outpatient
treatnment that is pursuant to a court mandate. And
that we in the Departnent cannot mandate individuals
to get treatnment. W can advise them refer them
try and ensure that there are no barriers to them
getting appropriate treatnment. But a mandate that
they continue treatnent is sonmething that cones from
the courts.

COUNCI L MEMBER VALLONE: You al so said
that there is no way for you to tell on a diagnosis
if someone is going to kill thenselves or if soneone

is not. Then, how can we take the next step in
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anything? How can we tell our correction officers at
t he Departnment of Corrections to make that

determ nati on on how they're supposed to provide
safety in the jails if the Departnment of Health can't
give that type of clinical diagnosis?

DR. MARY BASSETT: | don't think that any
of us pretend that we can see the future. | think
what Dr. Parsons was saying is that there's no way
that we can tell for sure that sonebody who has --
who says that they want to kill thenselves will do it
or not. And this is sonmething no physician, no
psychiatrist wants to err on. There are certainly
ways in which all of us trained to assess a claim to
try and figure out how likely it is to happen.

COUNCI L MEMBER VALLONE: [interposing]

But that was the nental health assessnent?

DR. MARY BASSETT: Yes.

COUNCI L MEMBER VALLONE: Ckay, have you
see a rise on those -- on the nental health
assessnents over the last couple of years in the
percentage of inmates or detai nees that have been
assessed? Are those nunbers increasing through that

assessnent ?
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DR. MARY BASSETT: | nean | can't answer
the time trend, and I want to clarify. Are you
trying to see whether we assess on entry whet her
peopl e have sui ci dal thinking?

COUNCI L MEMBER VALLONE: No, no, just on
the nental health, the scale.

DR. MARY BASSETT: [interposing] Wether
the proportion of people-- ?

COUNCI L MEMBER VALLONE: Uh- huh.

DR. MARY BASSETT: So right now, as you
know, or as you said or soneone else said that we are
finding 25% of people have nental illness on initial
screen. Because they're nore likely to stay in
longer, it rises to 38%

COUNCI L MEMBER VALLONE: Have you seen a
t he percentage increase over the years?

DR. MARY BASSETT: The serious nenta
illness that's a 4.5% who have psychotic nental
illnesses is stable. Mental illness is slightly up.

COUNCI L MEMBER VALLONE: Has there been
any change in the staffing priorities over the
increase with the nental health diagnosis?

DR. MARY BASSETT: Hold on. Let ne hand

you to Dr. Parsons.
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[ Pause]
DR. AMANDA PARSONS: |I'll hand you to Dr.

Venters. [sic]

ASSI STANT COWM SSI ONER VENTERS: So it's
i mportant to renmenber that during the tinme when we
probably had a 10 or 15% i ncrease in the nunber of
peopl e who cone into the Mental Health Service.
During that tinme we've also had a concom tant
decrease about 15%in the average daily population in
the jails. The jail's population is quite down.
However, we do think that in the Mental Health units,
the units where we have the people with the highest
| evel of acuity, there are a lot of things we need to
do to reach every one of those units. And we think
probably one of themis staffing, not just the anmpunt
of staffing, but the type of staffing. W have
soci al workers.

COUNCI L MEMBER VALLONE: Has anyt hi ng
been done?

ASSI STANT COW SSI ONER VENTERS: We're in
the m dst of probably a three-nonth redesi gn because
we need to | ook at not just staffing, not just
wor kfl ow, but the physical plan that these units are

in. Howinteract with our partners in Corrections
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and sharing the information. So there is no switch
to flip to nake these units better overnight, but
we're commtted with some of the bad outconmes that we
di scussed to--

COUNCI L MEMBER VALLONE: [i nterposing]
Have there been any budgetary adjustnments to hire
addi tional clinical psychol ogists and professionals
to deal with this rise?

ASSI STANT COW SSI ONER VENTERS: We
actually have prelimnary -- we had sone di scussions
internally, but this will take several nonths because
| think one of the things we need to discuss with the
staff and the correctional staff is do we sinply --
I"mnot sure if we want to ask themfor nore socia
workers for instance. | think we nmay need nore
support by psychol ogi st s.

CHAI RPERSON CROALEY: [interposing] |'m
sorry to interrupt, but the task force that the Mayor
has put together, have any of you served on the task
force that Bl oonberg had that dealt with this
popul ati on?

ASSI STANT COW SSI ONER VENTERS:  Yes.
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CHAI RPERSON CROALEY: Who did? How nmany
of you? Just one, two, that's it? Comn ssioner, you
didn't.

DR. MARY BASSETT: [off mic]

CHAI RPERSON CROALEY: Ckay, and do you
know how this task force is going to be different
than that task force?

ASSI STANT COW SSI ONER VENTERS:  Yes. So
that task force had a very specific proposition to
get people out of jail who nmet a certain profile.
That's a relatively small group of people. This task
force is a conprehensive group of people at every

poi nt along the conti nuum of interaction with the

police, the courts, arraignment, in jail, |eaving
jail. So it's a conprehensive | ook, and part of it
is reassessing how we do things in jail, but as the

Conmi ssioner said, it's nuch broader than that.

COUNCI L MEMBER VALLONE: Doctor, what
information is being provided to the officers at this
poi nt ? Because you had said-- You were speaking for
them and said they don't want to know the type of
treatnent or what nmeds they're on. They just want to
know how to be safe for that tour. So what

information is being provided now to nake sure that
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the safety of the staff on the island is first? As
everyone is saying is first and forenost?

ASS| STANT COW SSI ONER VENTERS:  Chair,
so | was just asked to re-introduce nyself. Honer
Venters, Dr. Honer Venters with Correctional Health.
So in the Mental Qbservation units where there's the
nost acute safety concern, and also there's a | ot of
information that's inportant. W've started tour by
tour, and | think you m ght have -- Sone of you
visited GRVC, the Mental Cbservation units. On those
units every tine the nmental health staff changes over
on the tour with the DOC security staff, they're
tal ki ng about who is doing well, and who is not doing
well. Wen we | ook at the safety probl ens people
have had; either been assaulted or harnmed thensel ves,
what we inexorably find, including all the cases
we' ve tal ked about today, there were bits of
information that health staff had and that security
staff had.

What we have now in place in GRVC and
those nental observation units is that they share
that stuff every single tour. And what's inportant
to assess risk of violence or risk of self-harmis

how i s the person behaving right now? And so that's
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the information we share. Things |like, Dd they eat
today? Did they cone out for recreation? D d they
yell. Didthey put their clothes on? Did they do
anything wild or weird, or did they refuse to engage
with us in some way on the health side. Al that
information is being shared, and the Correctional
staff is sharing with us their experiences: The
person was resistant. They wouldn't talk to ne.
They swore at us when we cane by. Things |ike that
that are really inportant for us to integrate. That
is the nost powerful way to predict a bad outcone and
prevent it in the jails.

COUNCI L MEMBER VALLONE: Well, I'm
optimstic. W started the hearing by saying that
t he comuni cati on between the departnents, and |
think that traditionally has al ways been soneti nes,
as | sat on the Board of Corrections for years there

woul d be no Departnment of Health, no Departnent of

Corrections, no Board of Corrections, no -- And I
think these are the steps that are wavering. | know
the Commi ssioners are optimstic they'll change. |
just -- | go back to the front line that's there, and

| think the way we can | ook at everything in the

short termand long term | think a lot of the stuff
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we're tal king about is probably going to be |ong
term

So what do we do short termto address
what the public sees as a rise to the street that our
officers and our staff on the island have to deal
with? And then we as elected official put nore
pressure and give us results right now, and it's not
fair. And | think there needs to be accountability
that we can | ook at what we can actually acconpli sh.
So | was at the |last Board of Corrections neeting,
and 1'Il just state this. And there was a study
perfornmed, and | think it's good for the know edge
here because no one else was here -- at that neeting.
To conpare Rikers Island to any other large city in
the country to see if there is sonmething being done
in the country that we're not doing here in New York
or at least in Rikers.

And the report cane back that there is
none. And in San Francisco, the closest one that is
provi di ng additional services, the nmain difference is
that they had an entire facility, brand new buil di ng
with |ike a nental health observation. Wth w ngs of
treatnment that could be provided for all -- It's |ike

we're tal king about CAPS, |ike expanding CAPS. W




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

COW TTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH, DEVELOPMENTAL DI SABI LI TY,
ALCOHCOLI SM  SUBSTANCE ABUSE AND DI SABI LI TY SERVI CES JO NTLY
WTH THE COMM TTEE ON FI RE AND CRI M NAL JUSTI CE SERVI CES

AND THE COWM TTEE ON HEALTH 139
don't have that at Rikers Island. So unless we talk
about a real infrastructure comitnent in the budget,
and maki ng changes so that we can -- the changes t hat
we cone up here, we're asking an old outdated
structure to do sonething it can't do.

So we're going to need your support to
fight for those budgetary increases for
infrastructure, for the proper staff that's going to
be there. Qherwise, all of these great ideas,
you're going to -- |If anyone spends five mnutes on
Ri kers Island knows those facilities can't nmake these
changes. And | think when you go into the w ngs, and
CAPS al ways says, Well, this jail is not really able
to do that. It's old, it's weak, and it's got no way
to provide these services. So |I'd like to continue
that. |Is there anything that we foresee that can be
i mredi ately done to address that this year or next
year? O do you see it just waiting on an
i nfrastructural change overall?

COW SSI ONER PONTE: | think there are
things we're doing now W' re doing sonme significant
renovations for all of our buildings, adding caneras
a lot of systens in place. But |ike the overal

structure is bad. So it's hard to overcone that, but
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there is an ongoi ng substantial anount of nobney being
put into these old facilities to inprove on them

both ventilation, fire safety, and a couple of other
things. But it doesn't change the design. Still
smal | cell blocks, not a |ot of programm ng space.

So those are the bigger hurdles to overcone.

COUNCI L MEMBER VALLONE: And there is one
new facility on that is being planned now?

COWM SSI ONER PONTE:  There is one 1, 500-
bed facility being planned now, yes.

CHAI RPERSON CROWALEY: [i nterposing] Thank
you Council Menber Vallone. Council Menber Andy King
-- Andy Cohen. [l aughter]

CO- CHAI RPERSON COHEN: Andy fromt he
Bronx. | don't knowif it was -- | neant to ask
before in ternms of the role of nedication in nanagi ng
the population on the Island. | don't know if the
4. 5% that are severely anti-psychotics or are there
anti - depressants avail able or other nood altering or

nood stabilizing nmedications? Do you think they play

arole. |Is that role -- should that role be
expanded? |Is it adequate? |'mjust curious about
t hat .
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DR. MARY BASSETT: So your questions is
about the sort of standard of care, and | woul d say
that in general we seek to neet the conmunity
standard of care. So that patients who are seen on
Ri kers are getting the sane type of treatnent. That
obviously would include talk therapy. It would
i ncl ude taking nmedications. Both of these are part
of the treatnent of people with nental illness. So
people -- there is a big pharmacy operation. There's
a full range of psychotropic nmedications avail able
for the treatnent of the inmate population. | don't
know whet her you're asking whether they're over-
treated. | haven't heard that concern raised before.
CO- CHAI RPERSON COHEN:  |I'm not suggesti ng

that they're over-treated or not treated, that

they' re adequately treated. | don't knowif there's
a correlation -- if you have any idea of what
percentage of the population is currently -- is
taking --

DR. MARY BASSETT: [interposing] Well, |
can give-- WlIl, of the portion of people who have
mental illness diagnosis, what proportion are getting
-- That woul d be possible for us to get from our

el ectronic record, but I'Il have to offer to get it
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to you at a later time. Unless either one of the
team here -- Hal f. About hal f.

CO CHAI RPERSON COHEN: O the 37%
approxi mtely half of those people are receiving --
mean.

ASSI STANT COW SSI ONER VENTERS:  About
hal f of the people in the Mental Health Service are
receiving sone sort of mental health or psychotropic
nmedi cati on. Mst of the people who have a serious
mental illness diagnosis obviously are on nedication.

CO CHAI RPERSON COHEN: On initial intake
if I didn't want to disclose that | was taking anti -
psychotic nedication, is there any vehicle by which
you would find that out, or just that it would nake
itself evident at sone point?

DR. AMANDA PARSONS: So we have a process
in place now where we-- As | nentioned before, we
can | ook up the community nmed history. So as |long as
t hey have had nedications in the history that are
captured, they didn't pay for them by cash, we can
come to know of that. W're also connected with our
-- we've al so connected our electronic nedical record
to the State Health Information Exchange, and over

time as information because populated in that, we'll
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be able to pull down not just nedications, but also
other issues. And then the other third way that we
can find out fromusing technology, is we are
connected to Psychease, which is the Medicaid clains
history for all of the patients. And so, assum ng
that we can match, and we can't match everybody, and
not everybody is on Medicaid. But assum ng that we
can match for a Medicaid eligible patient, we're able
to pull down actually a very easy to use
conmparatively speaking -- easy to use format. W can
| ook at where they were |ast hospitalized; where
their last treatnment was; what their nedications are;
and actually cone to know a fair anount about the
patient. So we don't have to be 100% reliant on the
patient's self-history.

CO- CHAI RPERSON COHEN:  Just one thing,
you don't think in other words that there is a
correlation between the violence and a |ack of the
proper application of the nental health nedication?

DR MARY BASSETT: W don't have data to
suggest that, no.

CO- CHAI RPERSON COHEN:  Thank you

CHAI RPERSON CROALEY: Thank you. Counci

Menber Cor negy.
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COUNCI L MEMBER CORNEGY: Good afternoon
and thank you, Chairs. So sitting here and listening
to this testinony, |'m having flashbacks because |
was on 95, 74, and in Rows E [sic] as an enpl oyee.
And | started as the Supervisor for Social Services,
and then went on to be the Assistant Director of
Substance Abuse. So | was very famliar wth working
in the MO Unit. And one of the things |I'm having
fl ashbacks because |I'mthinking of those hot nights
on Rikers Island and | ack of support. And the
decreased amobunt of psychiatrists that were there.
So just the staffing pattern was horrible in trying
to support those individuals with substance abuse
issues, and with nmental health issues. And then on
t he di scharge, you tal ked about recidivism
The recidivismrate for mental health is
way hi gher than the general recidivismrate because
at di scharge, the discharge planners are forced to
pl ace these individuals in facilities that are
subst andard, hal fway houses and those ki nds of
things. So the cycle just continues. So everything
about the way that the individuals who have nent al
heal th i ssues are handled in the system attributes

to increased violence. The best way that the
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vi ol ence was decreased while | was there was by
provi di ng adequate services. So nost officers and
enpl oyees will tell you that if you give people what
they need while they're there, it decreases the
amount of violence on these units and in the housing
ar ea.

So | think that there has to be an
i ncrease in budgeting for staffing especially as it
relates to those people that dispense nedication
psychiatrists, psychol ogists and all those kinds of
things. And until that happens | think we're just
going to be spinning our wheels. The support has to
be in place, and | think one of the things with the
officers weren't equipped to deal with the w de range
of increases of violence, and increases of diagnhoses
that they were seeing while | was there. So it was
really an awmful situation. Fromthe tine that you
come over to Rikers Island on the bus, and you could
be on the bus with everybody froma visitor to
inmates to -- Just the whole systemis set up
seem ngly not to support officers as well as innmates.

So | think there has to be an overal
change to way the systemis dealt with. And until

you do that like wholesale, we're going to deal with
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t hese problens increasingly. So, | just wanted to
know is there a plan to deal with everything from
transportation, and the way that officers are
supported? Because | think it was a tragic -- |I'm
just amazed that | didn't see nore incidents of

vi ol ence even being transported fromone building to
anot her based on everybody riding on the sanme bus. |
mean it was -- it seened |ike such a recipe for
disaster. |I'mtruly amazed that the years that | was
there, there was never an incident in transfer. So
everything fromthat suggests that there's really no
support for officers fromthe core staffing patterns
to the transportation system So all of those things
kind of contribute to viol ence against staff and
officer. So | just want to know if there is anything
bei ng done to address that.

DR. MARY BASSETT: There's observations
and the question. | don't know whether you were in
the room Council Menber Cornegy, when Dr. Parsons
was tal ki ng about sone of the findings about viol ence
agai nst staff occurring on the Mental Cbservation
Units. Mst of the incidents that we have observed
are what we call splashings, and they' ve done sone

work talking with i nmates about what drives themto
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initiate splashings. And she recounted how t he
inmates often in their viewresort to these actions
because they have not received the benefits to which
they feel they're entitled. O they want to have
nore interactions with people, get out of their cell,
and nunbers of reasons. So ny answer to your many
observations is that it's nmy hope, and |I'm sure
Commi ssi oner Ponte shares this thought that the task
force that's recently been established on Behavi oral
Heal th and the Crimnal Justice System

It's led by Deputy Mayor Barri o-Paol i
and the Crimnal Justice Coordinator Liz G azer, wll
address the whole continuum W' ve heard fromDr.
Venters that this -- this nmandate is broader than the
one that was previously convened under the previous
adm nistration. |It's intended to begin and foll ow
al ong the whole course fromarrest to arraignnent,
i ncarceration, discharge planning, to return to
community and re-entry. Two nenbers of ny staff are
involved in co-chairing subconmittees. There will be
sonmebody from OMB to speak to your budget questi on,
who is associated with each one of these work groups.
And it's our -- we've been tasked to tackle these

tough issues, and map our way forward in 100 days.
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COUNCI L MEMBER CORNEGY: Well, | thank
you for that response, but | just want to nake sure
that we include -- Wien we tal k about nental health
i ssues, that we include the staff and officers that
wor k there because they have probably the highest
rate in public service of heart attacks and nental
illness and suicides are on the Island. So, you
know, there was a common referral that when you
wor ked t here, whether you're doing one, two, or
sonmetimes three chores, you're incarcerated as well.
And there aren't substance abuse report services for
of ficers. And if you check the rates, and |'m sure
that the doctor can statistically support the fact
that the rate of heart attacks between 40-year-old
officers and staff is off the chart as well as
sui cide, and as well as every other -- And nental
health i ssues. So as we're addressing the inmates,
just want to nake sure that we address those issues
as it relates to the staff as well.

CHAI RPERSON CROALEY:  Thank you Counci
Menmber Cornegy. Council -- not council nenber, but
our Public Advocate Janes.

PUBLI C ADVOCATE JAMES. Just a couple

comments because | know the hour is long. The hour
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is late, and a nunber of other individuals want to
testify. | really want to look at this Corizon
contract, and who is nonitoring Corizon's conpliance
with the contract, and where can one find the annual
evaluation? 1Is it online?

DR. MARY BASSETT: This is the
responsibility of the Health Departnent. And Dr.
Venters also could corment on it. [sic]

ASSI STANT COW SSI ONER VENTERS:  Sure.
VENDEX, which is the citywi de systemwe use to
eval uate contractors is online. And | believe the
nost eval uation either was done in the |ast couple
nonths. Either it's online or will be online very
shortly.

PUBLI C ADVOCATE JAMES: And is the
Departnent of Health satisfied with the perfornance
Cori zon?

ASS| STANT COW SSI ONER VENTERS:  So,

Cori zon --

PUBLI C ADVOCATE JAMES: Cori zon.

ASS| STANT COW SSI ONER VENTERS: - -we
have 30, we have 40 performance indicators that we
use to access the adequacy of care. These are taken

strai ght fromHHC and other health systens. And
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there are consistently areas, every quarter when we
evaluate themit is probably simlar to other big
hospitals or other health systens. There are sone
areas where there is definitely inprovenent needed,
and there are areas where the care is adequate. And
sonme areas where the care is very, very high. So
recently, as we've all discussed here, nost -- nuch
of our scrutiny about the adequacy of care. But also
the health systemthat we designed, and our own
policies have focused on the nental observation
areas. And so, we believe that we've had errors in
those settings. W believe also we had to change our
policies and we need nore resources. But to sumup
your question, the area of the greatest scrutiny for
us has been the Mental Cbservation areas.

PUBLI C ADVOCATE JAMES: So in this
budget, as we are review ng this budget, have you
sought an increase in your budget to address the
mental heal th deficiencies?

ASSI STANT COW SSI ONER VENTERS: W
actually are init. W're just beginning the process
of the re-tooling of the Mental Cbservation. So |
think we're one step behind whatever budget is ours

t hat has been proposed. W're actually just
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begi nning the re-evaluation of this, but as
forewarned, | think that's part of it.

PUBLI C ADVOCATE JAMES: So of the inmates
with mental health histories, are nost of them
convi cted of non-violent crines? Anyone know. Yes.
Anyone have any idea?

DR. MARY BASSETT: | don't know the

answer to that question, but it's an interesting

questi on.

PUBLI C ADVOCATE JAMES: And we tal ked a
| ot about nental illness today. To what extent does
vi ol ence have -- how nmuch of the violence on R kers

Island is attributed to gang viol ence, and what are
we doing with respect to gang violence. And are
t hose deficiencies on staff related to that issue.
COWMM SSI ONER PONTE: It's a major issue
for us. | nean gang viol ence now we've got gangs
that we never heard of years ago. So the ability to
separate and keep these gangs at a | evel where
they' re not preying on each other or injuring staff
is avery difficult and conplicated task, and one
that | think we need to greatly inprove on. But it's
amazi ng how gangs in general the different -- just on

the recent arrests of gangs, they're nei ghborhood
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gangs. So it's getting nuch nore conpl ex than ever,
and we definitely need to apply nore resources to it,
and much better skill of our staff and training.

PUBLI C ADVOCATE JAMES:. And nore
resources neaning nore correctional officers?

COW SSI ONER PONTE:  That's correct.

PUBLI C ADVOCATE JAMES: So you're
advocating for additional, for an increase in
correctional officers?

COW SSI ONER PONTE:  To the -- we call it
a gang unit, an INTEL Unit--

PUBLI C ADVOCATE JAMES:. [i nterposing]
Yes.

COWM SSI ONER PONTE:  --that really
manages that popul ation. Yes, | think we need nore
resources in that unit.

PUBLI C ADVOCATE JAMES: And you support
the call of the Gty Council as well as the Public
Advocate for additional correctional officers?

COWM SSI ONER PONTE: Specific to that
unit | think w thout any question that unit needs
nmore manpower.  Yes.

PUBLI C ADVOCATE JAMES:. Thank you.
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CHAI RPERSON CROALEY: | have a few
suggestions to share with you conparing our nost
recent data. We'll call it Fiscal Year 2013 because
Fiscal Year 2014 is not conplete, although early
i ndi cations shows that there's an even greater
increase in violence since |ast year. | |ooked al
the way back to the year 2005, and in the year 2005,
there were 30 stabbings and slashings. For Fisca
Year 2013, there's been 73 stabbings and sl ashi ngs.
So that's nore than doubled. 1t's |ike alnost 150%
increase. And this is also keeping in nmnd that the
daily popul ati on back then was 15,000. Today the
daily population in 2013 is closer to 11,000 or 11-
1/2 thousand. And we | ook at another indicator or a
use of force where injury occurs, there were 72
i nci dents.

And if we |look at last fiscal year, there
was 147 so that is nore than double as well. Wsat is
anot her interesting performance indicator that |
believe is inportant, and it's sonething that I
started out with ny questions earlier today had to do
with overtine. And overtine let's not just say we
under stand the budget is always noving and getting

| arger because of the cost of living increase and
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expenses they continue to go up. But if you I ook at
2005 when the budget for the Departnent of
Corrections $819,962,000. It wasn't quite a billion
yet. It's not near where the budget was in 2013 when

you had $1 billion $90 mlli on. Back then in 2005,

of the overall percentage, you were -- less than 7%
of your overall budget was spent on overtine. It was
6. 8%

You're in line this year to spend double

that as it relates to your overall budget. You're in

line with your $140 million that you're spending on
overtinme, that's closer -- it's greater than 13% of
your $1 billion $90 mllion allocated in your

financial plan. So it's just a nunber that | think as
you -- as we as a council negotiate with the Mayor
over the next two and half weeks for Fiscal Year '15.
And it would be wise, | believe, to reduce that
nunber of overtine. And it may be that your staffing
needs an increase, but with officers working -- And |
saw sone high ranking officers, captains, wardens
actual ly working over 80 hours a nonth. It's just
not acceptable. 1In order to keep viol ence under
control we really need to reduce the nunber of

overti ne.
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I think that it's sonmething basic that we
could work together to do. | want to thank the
Adm nistration for being here today. | |ook forward
to hearing the results of the Task Force Study. |
want to thank ny col |l eagues, and encourage themto
continue to stay on with the admnistration. |If
everyone could identify thenselves for the record so
that we could have it in our witten testinony
everybody's nanme accurately. And | would inplore the
Adm nistration to stick around and listen to -- W
have advocates fromthe public that are going to
testify. | believe you'll hear a contradictory
story, and as we have heard in other hearings that
we' ve had where people will give you exanpl es of
inmates not getting the care, especially the
heal t hcare that they deserve. So once you're ready
just identify, and anybody who spoke today,
t hensel ves for the record.

DEPUTY COWM SSI ONER BERLI NER:  Eri k
Berliner, Deputy Conm ssioner, Departnent of
Corrections

COVMM SSI ONER PONTE:  Joseph Ponte,

Commi ssi oner, Departnent of Corrections.
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DR. MARY BASSETT: Mary Bassett,
Conmi ssi oner, Heal th Departnent.

DR. AMANDA PARSONS: Amanda Parsons,

Deputy Commi ssioner, New York City Health Departnent.

ASSI STANT COW SSI ONER VENTERS:  Honer
Venters, Assistant Conmm ssioner, Correctiona
Servi ces, DOHVH

CHAI RPERSON CROWLEY: Thank you again to
our Commissioners and to the staff from the
Departnent of Corrections, the Departnent of Health.
| would like to now call up Nornman Seabrook who is
the President of the Correction Oficers Benevol ent
Associ ati on.

[ Pause]

CHAI RPERSON CROMALEY:  kay, M. Seabr ook
once you're -- once you're ready if you could
identify yourself, and your coll eagues.

NORMAN SEABROOK: (Good afternoon. M
name i s Norman Seabrook. |'mthe President of the
New York City Correction Oficers Benevolent, the
association to ny left is Elias Husanmudeen, 1st Vice
President. To ny right is Thomas Farrell, the
Legi sl ative Chairman. Madam Chair, first, you know,

it's kind of strange how we went through, | don't
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know, two and a half hours and testinony. Then
everybody | eaves, and it's alnost like |I mght as
wel | just give you ny testinony and wal k, too. But
anyway - -

CHAI RPERSON CROALEY: Pl ease don't.

NORMAN SEABROOK: But anyway, the events
of the past couple of nonths has thrust correction
officers into the public consciousness. The tragic
deat h of Jerome Murdough; a series of assaults on
correction officers; the arrest of correction
of ficers; questions about punitive segregation and
mental illness are in the news, as they have been in
the past. Wth the new Mayor cones the New York City
-- with the new Mayor cones a new New York City
Departnent of Corrections, Conm ssioners, et cetera,
et cetera. And conmissioners are intent on making
sweepi ng changes into the way that we are allowed to
our jobs. These proposed changes range fromthe
process that a inmate i s due before he or she has
infracted to the protection to be afforded, and
medi cal treatnent of the alleged 40%that are
mentally ill.

How punitive segregation can be used, how

violent 18-year-olds are treated, and even whet her
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24-year-olds are to be treated as if they were in the
m d-teens. New York City Correction Oficers are
sworn peace officers in the State of New York. They
have a very tough job and they do a very tough job as
wel I under these circunstances, 24 hours a day seven
days a week. Wiat's becone very alarmng is that
correction officers are now faced with dealing with
some of the nost psychol ogically chal | enged
individuals in society, the nentally ill detainees.
They're al so charged with dealing with a grow ng
nunber of honel ess individuals. Has R kers Island
becone the dunping ground? Rikers Island is part of
a penal systemthat was established to detain
i ndi vi dual s who have been accused of commtting
crimes.

It appears now that we are in the
busi ness of housing inmates that need nental health
assi stance -- Excuse ne. W are in the business of
housi ng the honel ess. W are now charged with three
different types of individuals that are in our care,
custody, and control. Things are going wong. The
Cty Council, the Gty of New York, and governnment in
the city are responsible for providing services to

the citizens of the city that need services. Rikers
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Island is not a nental institution where correction
of ficers can be nade responsi ble for nedicating those
in our charge. To ensure that they are receiving the
proper treatnent that they so |likely deserve, and
that the Gty of New York has a fiduciary
responsibility to provide.

Ri kers Island is for individuals who have
allegedly commtted crimes. Mentally chall enged
i ndi vidual s do not conmt a crine. The only crinme
that the people want to accuse them of commtting is
not receiving their health or nedication. W don't
have solitary confinenent on R kers |sland, a New
York City jail. W are just a systemand not a
prison system W have punitive segregation, and
there's a difference. Terns |ike the box, the hold,
or solitary confinenent doesn't apply to Rikers
I sland New York City jails. Punitive segregation has
been an effective tool in controlling crimna
vi ol ent behavior and enforcing rules and regul ati ons
within the jail system It is a non-violent way of
effecting a punitive action on offenders after a due
process hearing i s conducted.

Punitive segregation is like a jail

within a jail. Punitive segregation is the nbst non-
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viol ent, non-adversarial tool in the Departnent of
Corrections for enforcing rules and regul ati ons.
Limted the use of punitive segregation is already
havi ng a negative effect on R kers Island. The
increase in violence by i nmates who when they break
the rules are not punished, they continue to commt
infractions. The managers of the New York City
Departnent of Corrections have decided to house gangs
separate fromeach other. Bloods in one house,
Crypts in another house; Latin Kings in another house
rat her than do what is done in state prisons. That
is, inmates should be housed according to their
classification, and not gang affiliations. There's
an 800 back-up of inmates waiting to go to punitive
segregati on because of crines and infractions
commtted by inmates since being incarcerated.

In 2013, there were a total of 3,285 use
of force incidents. O these 3,285 use of force
incidents, 73 were inmate-on-inmate slashings and
st abbi ngs; 195 were serious injuries frominmate-on-
inmate incidents; 147 Cass A use of force incidents
where inmates and/or correction officers were
injured; and 196 incidents with correction officers

receiving serious injuries including broken bones,
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sutures, fractures, et cetera. There is an increase
in violence, but a decrease in the ambunt of arrests.
How i s that possible. Correction officers are not
opposed to change. W are not opposed to pursuing a
mul ti-faceted approach of handling inmates. We're
opposed to being subjected to violence by i nmates who
beconme unpuni shabl e or untouchabl e behi nd the
mentally ill |abel.

We are opposed to not being able to
puni sh inmates who commt crines and violate the
rules while in jail. Rikers Island continues to deal
Wth inmates who commit crinmes against the public.

Ri kers Island al so has to deal with the huge gang
popul ati on and the continue to stab, slash, and
attenpt to nurder each other within the confines of
the jail. Wile doing all of this, correction
officers are very short staffed. W don't have the
staffing |l evel s we need to conbat the problens. W
don't have the equi pnent we need to conbat the
problens. Yet, everyone continues to say, \Wuat are
we going to do about the problen? Wll, the answer
is sinple. The noney that's allocated to provide
services to the honmes, let that noney go to the

honel ess.
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And provide housing for the honel ess.
Let that noney go. The noney that's allocated to
treat mentally ill individuals let that noney go to
those individuals so that they can be treated in
institutions that have the equipnent to treat them
i ke Bell evue Hospital, Creednoor. Like Upstate
facilities where they have institutions that have
al ready been set up to deal with the problens we face
everyday in the Cty of New York. Direct the
Departnent of Health to concern thenselves with their
busi ness, and stop dunping their responsibilities on
the New York City correction officers. They continue
to neglect individuals that need services in this
city and just rubber stanp the paperwork until
somet hi ng goes terribly wong. They then begin to
back peddle, blam ng others for their shortcom ngs.
According to statistics, the Departnent
of Corrections nentally ill inmates make up 37.5% of
the population n New York City jails, but are
responsi ble for 61.30% of the use of force and
assaults. Wiy is this? According to the experts,
this is a direct response to being placed in punitive
segregation. Nothing could be further fromthe

truth. Part of the reason for this spike is that a
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smal | group of inmates have | earned how play the
system and the correction officers are no longer in
charge of the jails. Inmates know that they just
have to request to see a nental health worker to be
classified as an inmate with nental health issues,
and they can't be housed in punitive segregation. It
is a fact that when we have inmates in our system
that are nentally ill, the correction officers are
conscious of this.

But we're al so conscious of the fact that
mentally ill inmates are not nenbers and | eaders of
gangs. Correction officers believe that prograns
such as Cinical Alternatives to Punitive
Segregation, CAPS, and Restricted Housing United,

RHU, are progressive, and if provided to the inmates
who are truly nmentally ill wi thout a doubt it can be
successful. But inside the CAPS and RHU prograns are
i nmat es who are gang nenbers, and innmates who are
guilty of crimes of assault against other inmates,
civilians, and correction officers. The reality is

i nmat es who have nental problens should not be housed
on Rikers Island. They should be housed in a nental

institution and/or Bellevue Hospital or a prison
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ward. They should be in custody of mental health
prof essionals, and not correction officers.

A newl y appointed correction officer
receives a total of 21.5 hours of nental health
training while assigned to the Correction Acadeny.
Thereafter, correction officers receive a one-day
refresher course. COBA, which is the Correction
O ficers Benevol ent Association isn't opposed to our
menbers receiving additional training and nental
health to better handle inmates who are truly
mentally ill. New Yorkers are a unique group of
peopl e who are nmade up of individuals fromall wal ks
of light -- all walks -- all walks of life. |I'm
sorry -- who suffer nental illnesses. It's not just
the minority community. Al walks of life suffer
honel essness. It's not just the mnority comunity.
Yet, when we | ook at R kers Island, you would | ook at
it as a dunping ground for individuals that conme out
of these sanme conmunities where gentrification is
t aki ng pl ace.

We have to do a little bit nore. W have
to work a little bit harder, and we have to give
correction officers and correction staff the

equi pnent they need to conbat these problens. The
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Ri kers Island dilemma is that the focus of the
Departnent has shifted fromrunning an efficient
organi zation to nunerical results. |It's nore
concerned with a parade of innate advocacy groups
than running a proper detention facility. On R kers
I sl and, violence anong i nmates and toward correction
officers is considered normal, and the blane is

pl aced on the correction officer charged with
patrolling this beat. Wat did the Cty or the
Departnent do about the crines of assault that took
pl ace | ast year? What does the departnment or the
City do for the victins of these crines.

What the City and the Departnent do about
the crines conmtted inside the jails. In March at
the Gty Council Budget Hearing for the Departnent of
Corrections, there was no noney in the budget for
hiring additional correction officers although the
previous conmi ssioner testified that the Departnent
of Corrections was under its staffing |level by nore
than 900 correction officers. There was no noney for
addi tional nmental health training for correction
officers. There was no noney to hire additional
correction officers to work in the gang intel

[siclunit to deal with the gang activity and gang
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viol ence. W wel cone the new Correction Conmm Ssioner
that has cone to the Gty of New York, Joe Ponte. W
are going to work diligently together, give Joe the
power .

If you give Joe the power to dismss al
t hat have been a part of the problem under previous
comm ssioners, and |et us do our job. As President
of the Correction Oficers Benevol ent Association, |
want to take -- | want to make this an environnment
where not only can inmates, correction officers, and
civilians be safe, but it's inportant that the public
be kept safe as well. [If the individuals are not
secure in the facilities, and they begin to escape
into the Gty of New York, they will continue to
conmt nore crines. Correction officers have been
the step-kids of |aw enforcenent. A police officer
interacts with these individuals for approximtely 60
m nutes. W then have themfor 60 days. W have Dr.
Dora Shiro who failed the system W have Martin
Horn who failed the system

We now have to work diligently to be able
to tell the Mayor of the Gty of New York, No, Rikers
Island is not a dunping ground for the nental health

inmates. Rikers Island is not a dunping ground for
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the honeless. Rikers Island is a penal system
establ i shed for those individuals who have conmmtted
infractions against the | aw, and have been pl aced
there pending the outcone of their trial and/or until
a judge decides he or she can go home. The Rikers
Island is sinple. W will -- I'"'msorry. WII the
prof essi onal i sm of the responsi ble for the care,
custody, and control of 12,000 detainees continue to
be questioned, or will the stakeholders in the City's
jail systemstart to act in a nore collaborative
fashion for the betternment of all?

And let nme say -- and | will answer any
questions that you have Council Menber -- it is
really in my opinion as a professional |aw
enforcenent officer, and President of the unit for
the past 19 years that nental health has no -- in ny
pr of essi onal opi nion should not be testifying
al ongsi de of the Departnent of Corrections. They
woul dn't put Fire next to Sanitation. They wouldn't
put Police next to Health and Hospitals. Putting the
Departnment of Corrections side by side with Mental
Heal th defeats the purpose of security and care,
custody, and control. | think that the Departnent of

Heal th continues to negate their situation. They
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have all owed i nmates to circunvent the system and I
sat here for two hours and | |istened to them
testify.

| listened to a lot of filibustering. |
listened to a | ot of yeah, yeah, yeah, no, no, no.
There is nothing that's going to be done. And |
think that the Departnent of Corrections needs to be
able to testify alongside a | aw enforcenent agency as
opposed to being lunped in with the Departnent of
Heal th who does not have our best interests at heart.
And continues to circunvent the efforts of the job
that they are responsible to do. Like |I don't want
to call them Verizon, Corizon or whatever, but the
heal th group that the Gty of New York hired for tens
of mllions of taxpayers' nobney, and supposed to be
hel pi ng these people, and it's not hel ping them at
all. So | wll answer any questions that you or your
col | eagues nay have.

CHAI RPERSON CROALEY:  Thank you M.
Seabrook. Thank you for being here today. Thank you
for your testinony, and for being here for, it was
actually three hours.

NORMAN SEABROCK:  Yeah.
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CHAI RPERSON CROWLEY: Three hours of
testinony fromthe Adm nistration. | understand how
you see that as a msfit of the tw different
departnents testifying together. However, in the
past we've had one w thout the other, and they'd
point the finger, Ch, that's not under our
responsibility. It's under DOH s, and so that's why
| felt it was inportant the constraints we're up
agai nst here as a Council. Now, you nust have had
the opportunity to neet with the new Conm ssi oner
Have you a little sit-down, you know.

NORMAN SEABROOK:  Several times.

CHAI RPERSON CROALEY: Ckay. Do you think
or have you heard any plan that is in place to change
or stop this tide fromturning in the wong direction
back into sonething to bring down the |evels of
violence to make the jail safer? |Is there anything
that you think that he's focused on right now that
you heard today or that you' ve had in your
conversation?

NORMAN SEABROOK:  Well, | think that the
comm ssi oner has indicated that he wants to nmake this
a safe environnment, and environnment for not only

correction officers, but innmates and non-uni form
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menbers alike to be safe, secure. And | think based
and his and ny private conversations, this wll
becone an environnment that next year at this tine we
can | ook back on it and say he's changed the system
As opposed to the previous comm ssioners that have
been here that have, | guess destroyed this agency.
And | w Il use that word.

CHAI RPERSON CROALEY: Well, that's good.
So you have faith in the new conm ssioner in that
he's determ ned to turn the departnment around? |
al so have faith in him but he's asking the Mayor the
resources. You nentioned in your own testinony he's
come -- he's only two nonths, but we're only two
weeks away from passing the budget. And our budget
has to bal ance, and we have to allocate the resources
to various different agency so that those agencies
can run efficiently. And he did not ask for any nore
resources in the budget than he did last year. In
fact, he asked for less, and we're currently in line
to spend.

NORMAN SEABROOK:  Well, | think that, and
| certainly can't speak for Joe Ponte, but | think
that in the position that the Council sits in, and I

think that in the position that Union sits in, we
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shoul d be asking the Mayor to give us nore resources.
Because certainly an individual that works for the
Mayor is not going to ask the Mayor for anything.
Because we saw what happened when a certain
comm ssi oner asked the Mayor for nore officers, and
he was sort of like -- You don't hear him asking any
nore for nore officers because he works for the
Mayor. So, in other words, don't go out there an
enbarrass ne.

CHAI RPERSON CROMALEY: [ nt er posi ng]
Ri ght.

NORVAN SEABROOK:  So hopefully the
Council and the Public Advocate that was here would
be the first to stand up with the union and say, G ve
us the finances and the funds that we need so that we
can better be able to conbat the problens that we
face everyday.

CHAI RPERSON CROALEY: What's an

acceptabl e |l evel of overtine?

NORMAN SEABROOK:  Well, it depends on who
you ask. | nean, what's the overtine for?
CHAI RPERSON CROWLEY: | nean you woul dn't

have the overtine if the staff positions they already

knew that they had to staff. [It's alnbst planned.
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NORMAN SEABROOK: Well, that's the
m smanagenent of the |ast administration that was
here. And you and | both know that we've tal ked
about this over and over until we're blue in the
face. And | think that what has to happen is that
t he m snanagenent has to strop. And Joe Ponte has to
di sm ss those that were part of the m snmanagenent
practices that took place nore than two nont hs ago.
So an acceptabl e anpbunt of overtine? | guess it
woul d depend on what are staffing the overtinme for?
|"mcertainly not going to sit here as a union
presi dent and becone nmanagenent, and say, Don't give
themno overtinme. Hell, | think we should all make a
ton of nobney. You, too. You get overtine?

CHAI RPERSON CROWNLEY: [i nterposing] Yeah,
but aren't your nenbers tired?

NORMAN SEABROOK: It's not -- it's not a
poi nt of being --

CHAI RPERSON CROALEY: Don't they have
famlies?

NORMAN SEABROOK:  No, it's not. It's
not .

CHAI RPERSON CROWNLEY: Are they nore

likely to get sick or get hurt on the job?
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NORVAN SEABROCOK: No, listen, Counci
Menber, | think it's msmanagenent. If you -- if you
-- | heard a question that was asked earlier in which
an inmate assaulted a -- | think it was a clinica
staff nmenber, and when asked, the innmate said
sonmething to the point of he or she didn't get what
they were supposed to have. |If the Departnent of
Corrections would staff each and every facility with
steady officers, steady tours, and put stability in a
person's life, they wouldn't have these probl ens.
But when you have inconsistency everyday -- Today you
have Correctional Oficer Farrell. Tonorrow you have
Correctional Oficer Seabrook. The next day you have
Correctional Oficer Husamudeen. You have three
different directions that this inmate is receiving
because we're all different. |If you have Correction
Oficer Farrell everyday four, five days in a row,
and the Correction Oficer Seabrook and Correction
O ficer Husanudeen everyday, that's consistently the
person knows their program They know what it is
they' re supposed to have. So if the Departnent of
Corrections would just concentrate on the basics of
staring back at basics and giving individuals

stability in their lives, they wouldn't have as nuch
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overtime. But I'mcertainly not going to sit here
and tell you what the overtine nunbers shoul d because
like |I said, | think we should nake a ton of noney
because we don't make enough noney as uniform nenbers
of the Gty of New York as we are right now.

CHAI RPERSON CROALEY: Wl |, before | pass
it along to ny coll eagues to ask questions --

NORVAN SEABROOK:  You didn't say that you
support us on that.

CHAI RPERSON CROALEY: No, | don't.

NORMAN SEABROOK: (Ckay, okay.

CHAI RPERSON CROALEY: | think we're all
human, and we all need tine to rest --

NORVAN SEABROCOK: [i nterposing] kay.

CHAlI RPERSON CROWLEY: -- even as counci
menber s.

NORMAN SEABROOK: Ckay, so we're talking
about overtine. W're not tal king about --

CHAI RPERSON CROWALEY: [i nterposing] Yeah,
| don't have a job with you

NORVAN SEABROCOK: [interposing] You're
right.

CHAI RPERSON CROWLEY: |I'm not enforcing

t he peace and --
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NORMAN SEABROOK: [interposing] You're
right

CHAI RPERSON CROWLEY: --and go on an
island to everyday.

NORMAN SEABROOK: [i nterposing] And
everybody that testified today don't have the sane
job that we have, and everybody that asked questions
today, don't have the sane job that we have. And
they never had urine and feces thrown in their nouth.
And t hey' ve never been punched in the eye, and had
their eye socket broken. And they've never had their
nose broken. And they've never had their finger
bitten off. And they've never had their arns broken.
And t hey' ve never been doused with bl ood m xed in,
and you don't know whether this inmte is HV
positive or not. So, until you've wal ked into the
shoes of a correctional officer, nobody shoul d pass
j udgnment on us.

CHAI RPERSON CROWALEY: And | have a
t renendous anmount of respect for the work that your
menbers do.

NORMAN SEABROOK:  Thank you.

CHAI RPERSON CROWLEY: That you do and

your two col |l eagues that are here today. | bet you
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woul dn't do the job if you didn't need to, right? |If
everybody was good and didn't conmmt crines, there
woul d be no need for jail and the world would be a
better place. But your job would be easier. You
menbers' job would be easier if there were people
that shouldn't be inside Rikers weren't. So those

Wi th severe nental health diagnoses, or a certain
popul ation that are in there that you spoke about in
your testinony, and that you --

NORMAN SEABROOK: [interposing] That's
correct.

CHAI RPERSON CROWMLEY: And just tell us
how frustrating it is that there's a line or a |long
list of -- waiting list for people to get into RHU or
CAPS. W have 650 peopl e who have infracted.
Sonetines the re-infract. 1Is it frustrating for you
as a correction officers to your nenbers?

NORMAN SEABROOK: [interposing] It's very
frustrating

CHAI RPERSON CROWALEY:  You know, is that
the contributing to the violence? Wat's the plan?
How do you handl e this?

NORMAN SEABROOK: It's very frustrating

that's first of all, and | think nore paranount to
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that is, is that the individuals that are waiting to
go in have comrtted serious -- sone serious
infractions of violating the rules and regul ati ons
inside the confines of the jail. [It's equivalent to
violating the rules and regulations in the law in the
five boroughs of the Gty of New York. You break the
law, here's a penalty that goes along with it. You
run a red light, you pay a ticket. You punch an
officer in the eye, you go to punitive segregation.
It's not solitary confinenent. Solitary confinenent
you have no wi ndows. There's a |eaky ceiling.
There's bulb that doesn't work and there's a nouse
that eats your food. Punitive segregation is totally
different. Punitive segregation you get your visits,
you go to the law library.

You get everything that you're supposed
to have, one hour of recreation. The only thing that
you are not allowed to do in punitive segregation is
that is run the corridors any nore, and conmt a
crinme against other inmates any nore. You're not
allowed to slash other inmates any nore. You're not
allowed to extort other inmates anynore. That's the
only difference between punitive segregation, and the

person being out in the general public in population.
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As a matter of fact, | would think that inmates in
the Gty's jail systemif you ask them they would
say they're safer because the guy that's extorting
them or sl ashing them or raping themor beating them
is in punitive segregation. Because at the end of
the day this is not a punishnent. Punitive
segregation is not for punishnent.

Punitive segregation is to prevent
further crimes being commtted against i nmates and
corrections officers. |If that be the case, what are
we supposed to do with then? People are going to
tell you well there shouldn't be punitive
segregation. And | say, What the hell do we do with
thenf Just allow themto continue to prey on those
that they have preyed upon, and destroy the |ives and
the fabric of those children that conme to the
Departnent of Corrections that their parents want to
see them go hone the sanme way that they cane. Not
everybody in the city's jail systemis guilty of a
crinme. There are sone people in jail that have not
even conmtted that crinme. But at the end of the
day, our job of care, custody, and control is to
treat everybody equally and fairly. And protecting

them and keeping themsafe is part of what we do by
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pl aci ng an individual that has conmitted an
infraction in violation of the rules and regul ati ons
in punitive segregation.

CHAI RPERSON CROALEY: Thank you. Counci
Menmber Johnson.

COUNCI L MEMBER JOHNSON:  Thank you M.
Seabr ook.

NORMAN SEABROOK:  Uh- huh.

COUNCI L MEMBER JOHNSON: | too--

NORVAN SEABROOK: |'m sorry.

COUNCI L MEMBER JOHNSON:  No, it's okay.
|, too, respect the work that you all do on a daily
basis, which | know is dangerous, and | know you take
with a very high | evel of seriousness. | want to
understand currently what is the staffing level in
nunber of correction officers?

NORMAN SEABROOK: | woul d think that the
staffing level in sonme facilities would probably be
three to one.

COUNCI L MEMBER JOHNSON:  Three to one?

NORMAN SEABROOK:  Yes, sir.

COUNCI L MEMBER JOHNSON:  But what is that
raw nunber? How many corrections officers are there?

How many uni on nmenbers do you have that are active?
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NORMAN SEABROOK: W have 8,900? 8, 700?

MALE SPEAKER: [of f mic]

NORMAN SEABROOK: The average nunber is
8, 000.

COUNCI L MEMBER JOHNSON: Ckay, and to do
the job in a safer way w thout huge anmounts of
overtinme to get a force that you feel |ike can be
doi ng the control and custody work at Ri kers and
other facilities, what type of increase do you think
you woul d need fromthe City of New York for new
of ficers?

NORMAN SEABROOK: | think | woul d need a
20% i ncr ease.

COUNCI L MEMBER JOHNSON? 20% so that's
about -- that could be |ike 1,500?

NORMAN SEABROCK:  Yes.

COUNCI L MEMBER JOHNSON:  That's a |ot.

NORMAN SEABROOK: That's not a | ot
considering the job that we have to do. If we're
spendi ng twi ce as nuch noney on overtinme as we did
| ast year, and we had nore nenbers, then certainly
the math would work out that if we got an additional
1,500 officers. Starting themoff with a starting

salary less than what you're paying a person with top
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salary with overtine | think it works out very well
for the Gty of New York. But unfortunately, we
don't have those that really advocate for Correction
because Correction is out of sight, out of mnd. And
as long as it's not in ny neighborhood it's okay. As
long as crinmes are not being conmitted in front of
me, it's okay. But if you give all of those
individuals to the correction officers that patro
t he toughest precincts in New York, the city jails 24
hours a day, then there's a probl em when nent al
health is the issue.

But when nental health wasn't the issue,
there was no problemw th Corrections. They did
what ever they wanted to do us. They disrespected us.
They did whatever it is that they wanted to do. And
|"ve got to be honest with you Council didn't really
step up to say, Hey, what about correction officers?
Oh, it's great we have these hearings, but at the end
of the day not hing happens. There's not going to be
anybody that wites any letters on the Council that
say, Hey, Mayor, by the way, Correction needs nore
noney. W aren't going to get no letters for that.
You're not going to get anybody to advocate for

correction officers. You'll get themto advocate for
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police officers, for fire fighters, for Sanitation,
for teachers, but you' re not going to get anybody to
advocate for crimnals.

COUNCI L MEMBER JOHNSON:  You're tal king
about the public.

NORMAN SEABROCOK:  Yeah.

COUNCI L MEMBER JOHNSON:  Yeah, | think
you're right. It is an out of sight, out of mnd
i ssue --

NORMAN SEABROOK: [ nt er posi ng]
Absol utely.

COUNCI L MEMBER JOHNSON:  --very nuch.
There have been tal ks | ast week. And nenbers of the
Council, the Chair of the Public Safety Commttee,
Counci| Menber G bson fromthe Bronx held a press
conference that | attended tal ki ng about
civilianization. And getting police officers that
are currently doing desk jobs, roll call. And are
bei ng paid a good wage to actually get them back into
the force doing the type of work that they were
trained to do, and that only they can do. There has
been conversations around civilianization [sp?] with
correction officers as well. That there are

currently correction officers that are doi ng what
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could be civilian jobs currently in the departnent.
Woul d you support civilianization to actually get
sonme of your correction officers back doing this type
of work and handi ng sone of those jobs that could be
done by civilians back over to civilians?

NORMAN SEABROOK: Wl |, we support that
now because we have a piece of legislation that's
called Anti-Privatization where you cannot use a
civilian to do the job a correction officer. And I
certainly would not interfere with a person that is
supposed to get a job and ny nmenbers are interfering
with their livelihood. Everybody deserves a job, but
every job is not for everybody. So to answer your
question, | have no problens with individuals that
are working out of title, and they are correction
officers. Let thembe correction officers. Because
I"mnot going t interfere with soneone that also
needs to be working at the sane tine.

COUNCI L MEMBER JOHNSON: You spoke in your
testinony about the clinical alternatives to punitive
segregation, the CAPS Program Currently there are
three at Rikers. They were only able to handle a
very small nunber of the inmates that are currently

there. Both Conm ssioners testified that they think
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that CAPS is a success, that they think that handling
t hese patients who have been di agnosed with nental
illness to get nore holistic treatnent to be
progranmed in sone way is actually helping. Wuld
you assess that CAPS has been a good hel pful program
for the inmates that are in your custody and care?
NORMAN SEABROOK: | think it -- Listen,
| think it has been helpful, and | think that it
could be even nore helpful if we had the staffing
levels to do it. W don't have the staffing | evels
todoit. | think that it goes back to what |
originally said about m smanagenent. W could have
the correction officers to do it, but then Mental
Health is holding us up on certain parts of it. And
| guess key questions to the entire programis, Ckay,
Mental Health, do you have enough staff that when the
Departnment says they're going to up four or five nore
CAPS prograns, can you provide the service for it.
They're going to tell you they can't doit. Soit's
easy for themto cone here and sit here, and nake
believe that it's all good. But at the end of the
day it's not. It's an environnent where you're
supposed to nmake tours, you' re supposed to do certain

things. They don't do what they're supposed to do
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all the time, and | have no problemsaying it.
Correction officers are not going to take the
responsibility for bring a nental health clinical

doct or, psychol ogi st --

COUNCI L MEMBER JOHNSON: [i nterposing]
Nor shoul d t hey.

NORVAN SEABROOK: Exactly right. So they
have to be held accountable to do what it is that
they are charged to do, and they don't do that. Now,
if they did their job, we would better be able to do
our job. But our job is so bureaucratically
bottl enecked that when we ask for certain things, we
can't get information. A correction officer needs to
know that this person here is dangerous. You don't
just give this inmate to a correction officers, and
you don't tell him or you don't diagnose him as
bei ng schi zophrenic. You need to tell us, Listen,
this guy is dangerous. Be very careful. He could
possibly go off any mnute. That tells us we need to
prepare in a different environment fromthis person
You don't put this person in an environnent where you
rel ease themto the general population. [|'m not

saying put themin punitive segregation. |'m not
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saying any of that. |'msaying put themin an
envi ronnment where you know they can be controll ed.

COUNCI L MEMBER JOHNSON:  So | was not on
the Council for the previous 12 years under the
previous admnistration --

NORMAN SEABROOK: [i nterposing] You got
| ucky.

COUNCI L MEMBER JOHNSON:  --with the
previ ous conm ssioners that you had so sweetly
mentioned in your remarks. But | -- maybe |'mjust
an eternal optimst, but | would hope that with a new
adm ni stration, a new conm ssioner, a new Council,
and us having this hearing today, | think hopefully
shows you that the Council does take this seriously.
And that nmany of the questions that were rai sed today
t hat have been asked that you have raised and that
ot her fol ks have raised are hopefully going to start
a serious substantive conversation. Not just on
these short-termfixes, which I know are inportant
for your nenbers, for the inmates. The short-term
stuff matters, but to have a broader conversation
about what are sone of the |large scale things that we

can be doing to actually help change what is going on
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at Ri kers and our other detention correctional
facilities in the city?

And this task force that is set up, | am
al ways slightly wary whenever soneone puts a task
force together or a blue ribbon conm ssion to | ook at
sonmet hing. Because a |ot of times reports are
written, and not nmuch change cones out of it. It's
nmy hope that with a Council that has real oversight
authority, and with the Public Advocate that's
engaged that hopefully with our Comm ssioner that
really does want to do the right thing and change
things in the systemthat we all can work together on
these issues. | knowthat | take it seriously. |
know t he col | eagues here today really care about this
issue. So | would just say that today |I think is a
starting point, and I know that we need resources to
actually nove this. You can't tal k about these
things in a pie-in-the-sky Pollyannai sh way w thout
confronting the realities that are going to happen
day in and day out in these facilities.

So | would just say that we have to do
this together, and that's why | nentioned to the
Conmi ssi oners that whatever reconmendati ons cone out

of this task force, everyone needs to be invol ved,
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whether it be the correction officers, the nental
heal th professionals, the healthcare workers, even
the inmates to understand what's going on. To have
real broad scale change in a way that's meani ngful, |
t hi nk everyone needs to cone together and do that. |
know I|'mcommitted to that. | know you're commtted
to that for the safety of your nenbers, and for the
future of the Correctional system And | woul d say
that let's work together. Let's work on this
together. |It's not the sexiest issue. |It's not the
i ssue as you said the public is calling us about, but
it's an issue that really matters | think norally.
But also there is a cost to our city both
financially, and in letting people back out onto to
streets that have been -- that have not been
rehabilitated in any way. And they are comitting
crimes, and put right back into the system

NORVAN SEABROOK:  And Council Menber, you
are a thousand percent correct about what you've
said. And that's why this year | sent ny vice
president, ny first vice present, and nmy second vice
president and a couple others over to the Wst Coast
to look at the city -- the jail systens over there.

And, they canme back and the reports are that they
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have a building. It's a jail, but it's strictly for
individuals with mental illnesses. They know how to

work with them The officers know how to work with
them The staff knows how to work with them and
they're in their own type of environnent that they
get the help that they need. If we're spending tens
of mllions of dollars, and we're not getting any
results for it, there's sonething seriously wong
her e.

And if the noney that is allocated in the
budget that is for housing is not going to housing
it's going to :arks and Recreation. O the noney
that is supposed to be going to nental illnesses or
nmental health issues are not going to nental health
i ssues. They're going sone place else, there's
sonmet hing wong. W need to take the nonies that's
all ocated, and use it for the people that it's
allocated for to give these people the help that they
need. O we are going to have a nmajor problemin the
Departnent of Corrections before the end of the year.
Yes, sir.

CO CHAI RPERSON COHEN: Thank you, M.
Seabrook. | appreciate your testinony, and I

appreciate your patients. | knowit took a long tine
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to get you up there. And also | was the Law
Secretary in the Bronx Suprenme Court, and we woul d do
crimnal arraignnents periodically. And | did have
interactions with your nmenbers, and | do have a snal
sense of the great difficulty and challenges in that
work. Could you just expand a little bit because I'm
not clear on your testinony regarding the interaction
bet ween the Departnent of Mental Health and the
Departnent of Corrections, and dunping their
responsibilities. Do you think --- is it something
happening in the system or is it -- are you
referring to sort of the bigger picture that people
are not getting the resources they need?

NORVAN SEABROOK: It's sonething that's
happening in the system and what do | nean by that?
If an inmate barricades hinmself with five other
inmates in the housing area, and starts a mni riot,
the inmate is then -- after the security is breached,
and we go in and we take the inmate out, the innmate
t hen goes down to the clinic and is then seen. The
i nmat e then goes, and has to be seen by a nental
heal th physician. The nental health physician says,
We charge [sic] him Wwy? It's nental health

Ckay, we can't put himin punitive segregation.
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Okay, so what do we do with this person? That's what
| mean. Now, before he came to Rikers Island, there
was no indication that he had any nental problens.

Al'l of a sudden because they're in the systemfor a
nont h they have psychol ogi cal probl ens. But when they
came to us they didn't have any psychol ogi ca

probl ens.

So they're hiding behind the fact that
they are nentally ill, and the nental health staff is
allowing themto hide behind it because it nakes
their job that nmuch easier. As opposed to signing
off on it say, You know what, this person jeopardized
the safety and security of the institution. The
safety and security of the other inmates in the
housi ng area. The safety and security of the staff,
and shoul d be noved and/or placed in punitive
segregation. They won't do that. So the problem
becones our problemagain. So now we put himright
back in the housing area that he cane from So he
goes back in the housing area that he canme from and
he says, Look at nme. Nothing can happen to ne
because I'"'mnentally ill because |I'mdribbling on

nyself. Now, there are legitimate individuals in the
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Departnent of Corrections that have nmental illness
probl ens, and they need hel p.

Not the guy who's neking believe that he
has nmental illness problens and he's the head of the
Bl oods. Not the guy who's naking believe he has
mental illness problens, and he's the head of the
Latin Kings. W have people that legitimately need
hel p, and these individuals that have gone to school
for many, many years to determne a person's
capability or thinking, is going along with the
program And to nme, that's just ludicrous. So |
thi nk that what needs to happen is that we have to
hol d those accountable for the areas in which they
are responsible. Just like I'mheld accountable as a
correction officer. You' re held accountable.

Counci | nenbers are held accountable, she's the
Chair. Everybody has to be held accountable. W
can't allowthis to continue because it's only

getting worse, and it's going to get soneone killed,

if you will.

CO CHAI RPERSON COHEN: | nean | guess
it's part of the problemalso, |I nean what we tal ked
about earlier the backlog that there is no -- if

someone -- it is hard | guess to ultimately deterni ne
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briefly whether a person is really -- it's nental
health issue or a it's a pretext. But | guess
because there's no capacity to deal with that
problem and then they're ending up back in genera
population. | mean in order -- The goal | think
everybody is interested in keeping -- in reducing
vi ol ence across the system (Qoviously, it would
confront your officers as well as anybody else in
connection with the system

NORMVAN SEABROOK: Well, M. Cohen, |
think that part of that cones with comuni cation. |If
they were conmunicating with correction officers
nore, there would probably be a better understanding
of how to deal with an individual because the officer
is with that inmate for 8 hours and 31 nminutes a day.
The clinical staff that comes through, conmes through
on a skate board. |In and out and they're gone. But
for 8 hours and 31 mnutes this correction officer
sees, deals, interacts with this person, and I'm
going to be able to tell you whether or not this
person has got a problemor not. There is no way
that you could sit in front of a person for 8 hours
and 31 mnutes and not tell nme that this person has a

person. There's no way. So | think that what has to
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happen is there has to be nore conmuni cati on between
the clinical staff and the correction officer, and
give the correction officer alittle bit nore | guess
i nformati on about the person, and then we will be
able to conbat a problembefore it gets worse

COUNCI L MEMBER COHEN: 1'mgoing to
apol ogi ze for ny ignorance, but do you have -- do
your officers have an opportunity to get input back
like this guy doesn't exhibit any synptons at al
except when confronted? | mean do you have an
opportunity to go on the record and tell that side of
it?

NORMAN SEABROOK: | don't have that
opportunity. W don't have that opportunity. W
don't have the opportunity to sit down and say, You
know, Doc, you were here for five mnutes. And after
you left, for the next 8 hours and 25 mnutes, this
person was interacting |like nothing was wong wth
them But as soon as you wal ked in, they went in the
corner and started dribbling on thenselves. So at
the end of the day, sonething has got to give.
Sonet hi ng has got to change.

COUNCI L MEMBER COHEN: Thank you.
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CHAI RPERSON CROWALEY:  Counci | Menber
Val | one.

COUNCI L MEMBER VALLONE: Again, thank you
M. President, and | appreciate you staying for this
entire testinony. You know, | think we should have a
day in the life of a correction officer, an hour in
the life of a correction officer, and see how thi ngs
change. Because you can hear how sonetines it's so
easy to put the blane on what the people think is the
Corrections responsibility. As you heard in ny
guestions to the Departnment of Health, it's not the
case. And that's -- when we put these groups
t oget her and we tal k about changes, | think what you
said there at the end is one of the nost telling
points that no one is communicating with us. So I
think is one of the first things we have to address,
and it has to be nore than one hour a nonth at a
Board of Corrections neeting, and it has to nore than
having to cone to testify here. | think that the
real comunication with the officers has to take
pl ace. Because |ike you said, it's not nme or Counci
Menmber Crawl ey or King that's there in the jail with
them So how do you think that's -- \Wat change

woul d you envi sion through | egislation, through
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policy to get the officers to have that comuni cation
with that we need?

NORMAN SEABROOK: | think that it's
probably going to have to happen through sone type of
| egi sl ati on because of what individuals will hide
behi nd call ed the H PAA Law where you can't divulge a
person's nedical records and/or illnesses. But I
think that being incarcerated should supersede that
because what you're doing is preventing perhaps a
nore serious crine being conmtted in the confines of
ajail. So |l would think that it would have to
probably be legislation wise. But to nmake it easier,
| think just having | guess weekly neetings with
managenment, and the officers assigned to that area in
CAPS, if you will. Saying, you know what, these are
all the officers assigned to CAPS. Today, we're al
going to be here at 4 o' clock to have a discussion
about each one of the individuals that are in our
care, custody and control. Have the doctor there.
Have the officer there. Have the supervisor there.
Have the warden there. Have the deputy warden. Have
everybody that plays a role in this in that room and
then you'll get a better sense of what's wong with

this person, if anything is wong with this person.
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COUNCI L MEMBER VALLONE: | nean the
Conmi ssioner testified that she thought, or the
doctor thought that the officers don't need this
information, that they don't want the health
information. They just want to be safe, and | don't
think that's a true statenent

NORMAN SEABROOK: | don't think it is
either. | definitely don't think it's a true
statenment, but | don't want to be disrespectful to
t he doctor who spent many years in school to get that
degree. But at the end of the day, we're talking
about safety and security and | aw enforcenent. And
we're tal king about justifying their job, if you
will.

COUNCI L MEMBER VALLONE: Well, whether or
not they're allowed or not is one thing. Wether you
need the information is different.

NORMAN SEABROOK: [interposing] This is
true.

COUNCI L MEMBER VALLONE: And that's what
we' re sayi ng about statutory changes, and | think
Counci| Menber -- Chair Cowey is right that if --
if they're not allowed, then we have to | ook at why

not. And | think the H PAA | aw that you nentioned,
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and not many people are famliar with that, the
boundary or defense that people can throw up and say,
Sorry, you can't get that. But | do believe that if
soneone has committed a crinme within Rikers Island or
ot her watch, and has knowi ngly violated that trust,
then | think there is -- there should be a way for
those officers to -- for the safety for everyone at
the island to know what's going on wi thout revealing
whet her soneone has a disability. It's nore to the
poi nt that basic information could be -- would be
given to the officers. And | think that's inportant.
There is one other thing you put here in your
testinony, which nade the little hair | have |eft
stand up. The correction officers are no |longer in
charge of the jails.

NORMAN SEABROCK: That is true.

COUNCI L MEMBER VALLONE: Can you expand
on that?

NORMAN SEABROOK:  Well, it goes back to
what | was talking to M. Cohen about where innates
barricade a housing area. They do whatever it is
that they want. They destroy property; they slash,
cut stab each other; assault correction officers.

They' re taken out of the housing area. Goes down to
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Mental Health. Mental Health says, Send them back to
the housing area. You can't nove them You can't do
anything. So at the end of the day, hell, we m ght
as well just give themthe keys, and, you know what,
et them do whatever it is that they want to do
because there is no nore security of these jails.
What's happening is we've becone babysitters, if you
wll. 1'mnot talking about punishing people
because, Council Menber Vallone, | don't think a kid
that's 16 years old that gets caught snoking a
cigarette should go to punitive segregation. | don't
think that a kid that's horse playing should go to
punitive segregation. But at the end of the day, I
think that people that commt violent acts
j eopardi zes the safety and security of the jail, and
barricades a housing area in an attenpt to escape, if
you W Il needs to be placed in punitive segregation.
And that being said --

COUNCI L MEMBER VALLONE: [interposing]
And do you think helps the rest of the staff? [sic]

NORVAN SEABROOK: That being said, the
correction officer has no nore authority because he
or she is told by the supervisor, Before we nove this

inmate to OBCC or any other facility that person has
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to be cleared by the Mental Health staff. W take
that person to be cleared by the Mental Health staff,
and Mental Health says, You can't nove him Wy
can't you nove hin? Well, we can't tell you. Ckay,
so you can't tell ne why | can't nove him So you're
telling me to put himback in the sane area that |
just took himout of. So at the end of the day,
there's a serious problemhere. A perfect exanple is
there was an incident that occurred |last nmonth in
AMKC. The inmates, 12 of themor so, barricaded the
housi ng area. The energency unit had to respond. It
was a whole big thing. The inmates were then
transported to another facility to be placed in
segregation. They were then ordered back to AWKC
because the nental health doctor had not cleared
there. | was standing in the corridor at 1 o'clock
in the norning when these i nmates cane back. They
weren't acting unruly. They were |ike church nouse.
So shouldn't these guys be put in punitive
segregation?

COUNCI L MEMBER VALLONE: Is there a
statistic follow the anount of inmate on officer --

NORMAN SEABROOK:  [i nterposing] Yes.




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

COW TTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH, DEVELOPMENTAL DI SABI LI TY,
ALCOHCOLI SM  SUBSTANCE ABUSE AND DI SABI LI TY SERVI CES JO NTLY
WTH THE COMM TTEE ON FI RE AND CRI M NAL JUSTI CE SERVI CES

AND THE COWM TTEE ON HEALTH 201

COUNCI L MEMBER VALLONE: --crime? And
has that been followed up with actual expl anations
and incidents just |ike you ve done today?

CHAl RPERSON CROALEY: I'msorry to
interrupt. Council Menber Vallone, we nentioned that
earlier. It's out of control. Wat Norman is saying
isit's out of control. | said it in nmy earlier
openi ng statenment. The violence be it staff, inmate
on staff or inmate on inmate, it is doubling and
nearly tripling what it was years ago when there were
nore inmates. And I'msorry. | appreciate you
comng in today. Norman, |I'msorry you had to wait--

NORMAN SEABROOK: [i nterposing] Thank
you.

CHAI RPERSON CROALEY: --as long as you
did to testify. I'msorry to interrupt your
questioning. |'ve got a list of about 15 people.

NORVAN SEABROOK: |'m not | eaving yet.
[laughs] | want to stay for three hours nore, and
t hank you gentl enen.

CHAI RPERSON CROALEY: | won't probably be
as long as that, but | have to --

NORVAN SEABROCOK: [i nterposing] kay,

t hank you Madam Chair.




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

COW TTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH, DEVELOPMENTAL DI SABI LI TY,
ALCOHCOLI SM  SUBSTANCE ABUSE AND DI SABI LI TY SERVI CES JO NTLY
WTH THE COMM TTEE ON FI RE AND CRI M NAL JUSTI CE SERVI CES

AND THE COWM TTEE ON HEALTH 202
CHAI RPERSON CROMLEY: --see exactly who
is still here to testify to figure out how nuch to

allot themin terns of tinme. But you do represent
nearly 10,000 staff nenbers that work on Rikers
Island. So thank them for the work that they do on
behal f of the city.

NORMAN SEABROOK:  Well, listen, and |
t hank you, Council Menber Crowl ey and Val |l one and M.
Cohen and the other nenbers that were here for the
work that you do. But |I would just Iike to add that
| hope that you woul d consi der separating Correction
fromMental Health. |If you want to join us up with
sonmeone, join us up with that Police Departnent.
Join us up with the Fire Departnent, join us up with
t hose agencies that nmaintain safety and security for
the Gty of New York as opposed to sonmeone that's
trying to circunvent what we do every single day.
Al'l right. Thank you.

CHAI RPERSON CROWALEY:  Thank you, Nor man
Seabrook and to COBA. Now just by a show of hands if
these people are still in the roomJanes G Iigan,
are you still here? No. A Dr. Kirk Anthony Janes.
We're not ready for himyet. Just checking. Sarah

Kerr? Mchelle Bellaine [sp?], Joanna MIler, Mary
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Bet h Anderson, Dahlia Al bertson, Beth Powers, Dr.
Henry Weinstein. Sonmeone fromthe Jail Actions
Coalition. Anybody fromthe--? Ch, okay. Soneone
nanmed N ck Mal ai nowski [sp?]. Thank you. [|'m going
to call up first the Doctors Council SEIU. | have
Dr. Frank Pasca - Proscia and Maya Escal ona

[ Pause]

CHAI RPERSON CROWLEY: And unfortunately
because we do have so many people testifying, if you
don't lead off fromyour testinony, it would be
better. | mean we can refer to it, but we're going
tolimt your testinony to five mnutes, and we're
going to limt the questioning.

DR. FRANK PROSCIA: Could | just say |
have a little laryngitis and | have not been able to
read this repeatedly out loud. So | need to read
fromthe testinony. | apologize. M nane is Dr.
Frank Proscia, the President of Doctors Council SEIU
Good afternoon, Chairs and the City Council Menbers.
|"mDr. Frank Proscia, as | just said. W're a union
of doctors, and a voice for patients. Thank you for
the opportunity to speak today. W represent doctors
t hroughout the country including those that work in

HHC hospitals, facilities, DOHVH and Ri kers Island
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and other city agencies. Today's oversight hearing
cones at a volatile for tinme for healthcare workers
and ot her professionals who have been faced wth a
mar ked i ncrease in violent assaults while providing
care at Ri kers Island.

Ri kers saw ei ght assaults on healthcare
staff in 2011; 22 in 2012; 32 in 2013 according to
DOHVH. It is worth noting that the uptick in
vi ol ence has coincided with an increasing nunber of
mentally ill offenders in our jails. Thirty-seven
percent of inmates, as was said, on R kers in any
gi ven day had a nental health diagnosis according to
the 1BCs you reported. W support Intro 292, which
ainms to track and assess punitive segregation -- in
segregation especially with respect to those innates
with mental health issues. These statistics may help
t he various agenci es invol ved nake inforned decisions
on how to better address certain volatile behavior in
the prison setting, and enhance safety for everyone
at Rikers, and actually throughout the City.

Through working with the Board of
Corrections, and through our contact with Corizon,

t he Doctors Council has advocated for imediate

changes that can inprove the work environnent for al
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staff. Steps are being taken in the right direction,
but recent incidents show that this continues to be a
serious issue. First, we are calling for nore
training of staff across all agencies. This is key.
The DOHVH is training their staff. The DOC is
training their staff. Corizon is training their
staff. That's not the way it's done in hospitals.
It's cross-training police, techs, nurses, the LPNs,
doctors. W respond as a team Each one knows we're
part of the healthcare team and that's key. And we
call on Corizon and the City agencies to nmake
trainings and safety protocols nore of a priority.
Sufficient staffing of doctors and COs is
also a critical issue, as you nentioned. Excuse ne.
The inmate wait tines in nmedical clinics are
excessi ve causi ng over-crowdi ng and agitation, and
putting inmates, correction officers, and heal thcare
prof essionals at risk. In 2013, alnost half of
65, 000 i nmates schedul ed for inportant follow ups and
care were not seen, and had to be cancelled, nore
than half. And that just creates, it just pronotes--
The next day when they have to return to the clinics
it's even nore people waiting |onger periods of tine,

and especially if alot of themare nentally ill it




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

COW TTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH, DEVELOPMENTAL DI SABI LI TY,
ALCOHCOLI SM  SUBSTANCE ABUSE AND DI SABI LI TY SERVI CES JO NTLY
WTH THE COMM TTEE ON FI RE AND CRI M NAL JUSTI CE SERVI CES

AND THE COWM TTEE ON HEALTH 206
causes agitation. Wth respect to CO[sic]staffing
nore individuals are clearly needed to provide a
safer environnent in all the clinics.

In some clinics inmates can wal k around
unescorted, and in other clinics there are no COs at
all. Another critical area is the physical setup of
the health clinics. Cear sightlines so that the
correction officers can see doctors is inportant. W
woul d l'ike nore input into how clinics are physically
set up, and maxinm ze the security. W are pleased to
see that panic buttons have been added in several
clinics recently, sonething we have | ong been
advocating for. But now all of a sudden they find
the funding in order to provide that. But that is
jus the first step. Wile doctors are called on for
on- person panic buttons, cuff bars in all clinics and
energency egress for nedical staff in treatnent
ar eas.

Any nmental health practitioner knows that
when you're dealing with the nentally ill, if a
patient is walking in fromthat side of the room you
want your back to the door. There has to be anot her
way out of that room You just can't have way in and

one way out. Wrking with the Board of Corrections
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and the DOHVH Doctors Councils has hel ped convene and
take part into two interagency working group neetings
in recent nonths at Rikers. And we will continue to
take a | eadership role in this, and to coll aborate
with other various parties including the Council to

i nprove the safety standards and quality care at

Ri kers Island. W would also like to thank the
Mayoral Adm nistration and various City agencies for
reaching out to us recently in phone calls to address
this work safety issues at Rikers.

This we woul d not have believed to have
occurred in any other previous admnistration. It is
this type of inclusive dialogue that will help effect
change on this difficult issue. W welcone the
Adm nistration news on the formation of the task
force on Behavioral Health and Crimnal Justice
system[bell]. Qur doctors understand, though, that
many of the chall enges involved wll need
col | aborative change [sic]. W just can't have
agency heads as part of the task force. They're
going to have to reach out to community groups, to
i nmate groups, and to staff groups to bounce back any

type of dial ogue or opinions. Thank you very rnuch.
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CHAI RPERSON CROWALEY: You're a col |l eague
fromthe Doctors Council ?

MAYA ESCALONA: |'m a nmenber of NYSNA
actually, New York State Nurses Association. M nane
is Maya Escalona [sp?]. |'ma psychiatric nurse
practitioner working at Rikers Island. Thank you for
allowing ne the opportunity to speak to day. For
going on three years, |'ve worked nostly full-tinme in
the Mental Qbservation Units. These are the areas
where nentally ill inmates wi th higher treatnent
needs are housed. | enjoy working with these
patients, although there are challenges at tines, of
course. But it's an opportunity to help people in
the community who are in great need. WMany of them
have serious chronic nental illness, and the jail is
one of the few places where they have access to
treatnent. But sonme of these inmates can be viol ent,
as we all know. 1In the |ast year assaults agai nst
civilian nedical staff have spiked.

Most of these attacks have occurred in
the Mental Qbservation or MO Units as they're call ed.
One intern was punched in the face unprovoked, and
she sustained nultiple fractures, a broke jaw, nose

and eye orbit. Another intern was sexually
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assaul ted, and assaults against officers has also
risen. Sadly, |'ve seen few changes to inprove the
safety of these areas despite worsening violence. As
aresult, I refuse to visit MO patients in their
housi ng areas. Many of ny col |l eagues who continue to
work in the MOs are in constant fear and anxiety.
Bei ng escorted by an officer onto these units does
not necessarily guarantee safety, as sone of the nost
recent attacks have shown. These clinicians were
attacked unprovoked and they had an officer next to
them | reconmend that until conditions inprove,
clinical staff should not visit patients in their
housi ng ar eas.

This is a high risk interaction for
caregivers, officers, and patients. Instead, the
patients should be brought to the staff in secure
clinic offices. | understand that Gty wants to
i ncrease programm ng and treatnment to the patients in
the MO areas. And as a nental health professional, |
certainly understand the value of this. But this
woul d require an increased clinical presence in the
housing areas. |If conditions continue as they are,
then nore staff would be placed at risk. If Rikers

or part of Rikers is to operate |like a psychiatric
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facility, then refornms need to be nade so that we can
treat patients safely and effectively. | chose to
reduce ny hours, work part tines and with patients in
t he general population rather than in nental
observation to avoid becom ng another statistic. W
understand, | understand we work in a potentially
dangerous place, but we don't have to be in danger.

| urge the agencies on Rikers to work
col l aboratively, and to develop solutions to this
very serious problem W need safe |evels of
staffing at all tines, of all staff, and that
i ncl udes both healthcare workers and officers. W
need better protocols for healthcare is delivered on
the Island. The Gty Council Resolution being
consi dered today will create nore transparency, which
is an essential first step. But we need to go
further to address -- excuse ne. To address these
issues at their roots to create a safe environnent
for workers and inmates at Rikers. Qur union is an
ongoi ng construction dialogue with the Mayor's
office, and with Gty officials regarding the assault
on caregivers a Rikers. And we appreciate both the
City Council's and the Mayor's comm tnent to

addressing this situation. W |look forward to
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working with all parties to find a long-term
solution. Thank you

CHAI RPERSON CROWALEY: Thank you. | want
to thank both of you for coming in and representing
the staff. | know that nmy office has been in touch
with SEIU and Jeff fromny staff has been out to the
nmeeti ngs and has been giving ne an update. And
unfortunately it seens |ike the Departnent of Health
is painting a rosier picture than it actually is. 1In
a previous hearing, | asked the Conmm ssioner if he
was goi ng to change the policy of escorting innates
into all Mental Health Oobservations roons with maybe
nore officers or an additional officer, and there was
no internal plan to change that process, which
frustrates ne. | want to nake sure that you're safe,
and | think that has everything to do with what | was
bringing up earlier. | don't know if you agree, but
there nmust be a need for nore officers. |If you are
going into a housing unit rather than them com ng
into office, either way you're in a dangerous
situation if there isn't enough oversight. |If you're
an inmate then you're seen as violent and known to be
violent. 40% of the population is, thus commtting

violent acts. So we're going work with this new
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admnistration. | nmean | feel heartening that

t hey' ve reached out to you, and will be working with
you. It nmakes ne feel that you're being included,

and that shows there's a change within the new
admnistration in terns of the task force. W'|
reach out to them and also let the know that -- ['1|
let themknow | think it's a good idea to include
representatives fromlabor both fromthe healthcare
and fromthe correction officers and their task
force. Thank you. Thank you both for being here
today. W're going to get the --

COUNCI L MEMBER: [interposi ng] Madam Chair
one second. Maya thank you and doctor, thank you.

Is there office space now, clinical to do these
eval uations or is this sonmething that has to be al so
related to the structural concerns.

DR. FRANK PROSCIA: It is a problem You
know -- I'msorry. You know, the main problemwth
Rikers is that it's a jail facility.

COUNCI L MEMBER: Yeah, it's supposed to
be.

DR. FRANK PROSCI A: Doctors, you know,
nmental health practitioners they work in hospitals or

heal thcare facilities. The doctors and nurses are in
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charge. The healthcare professional are in charge.
On Rikers they're not. Their enployers are totally
different. It's either the DOH and the DOC on one
side, or it's Corizon --

COUNCI L MEMBER: But Maya nmade a poi nt
about that you can't provide that type of observation
or care because it's not safe to walk the halls. But
we want to bring it back to a place that would be
safe to do that. So is there existing space at this
point or --?

DR. FRANK PROSCI A: Maya woul d be best
for that. That's it.

COUNCI L MEMBER:  Thank you, doctor.

MAYA ESCALONA: I n many of the Mental
Qbservation Units there are no office spaces for us
to use. So we'd have to go into a corner or neet the
patient at his cell. Mre needs to be done in that
area. Sonetinmes we're in a closet that has cl eaning
supplies, and we're seeing patients in there. |
suggested that --

CO CHAI RPERSON JOHNSON: i nt er posi ng]
Wel |, Maya, thank you for com ng today because we

woul dn't have know that if you didn't tell us.
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MAYA ESCALONA: Yes, and not only shoul d
there be nore clinic offices, but these nental
observations, which are not CAPS, which are not --
They' re other prograns RHU, they're overcrowded and
the inmate to officer ratio is high, and | feel it's
unsafe.

CO CHAI RPERSON JOHNSON:  Thank you.

CHAI RPERSON CROALEY: Thank you bot h.
And next we're going to call up the Jail Action
Coalition. W have Deborah Hertz and we have
El i zabeth Myers, and then there's sonebody el se?
Five, is that sonebody's first nane?

[ Pause]

CHAI RPERSON CROWLEY: Pl ease begin your
testi nony, whonmever would like to go first.

[ background di scussi on]

ELI ZABETH MYERS: Thank you for this
opportunity to testify concerning the brutality and
viol ence that are endem c throughout the jails at
Ri kers Island, and which fosters an environnent that
is extrenely destructive for all who are confined
there. | ama new nenber of the Jails Actions
Coalition. JAC includes fornerly and currently

i ncarcerated people, famly nenbers, and ot her
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communi ty menbers working to pronote human rights,
dignity and safety for people in New York City jails.
| am please to be active with this dedicated group
about the devastating problens that are part of life
on Rikers Island, a place |I could not have i mgi ned
before ny visits there.

| have been a visitor at Rikers for 2-1/2
years, acconpanyi ng the nother of a young nan, now 20
years old who has been in the vine [sic], a/k/a
solitary confinenment for nuch of this tine. W have
never understood why he has been in the bing so
frequently and |l ong. Wat we do know is that he has
a nental illness, and has been taking nedication
since he was eight years old. Presently, he is in
protective custody, which is solitary confi nenent
with a TV. Those of us who are on the outside have
very little know edge of what goes on inside. This
opacity is profoundly troubling, but seens to be the
nodus operandi at R kers.

For this reason, | amgrateful for what
we have | earned fromrecent information obtained
t hrough the Freedom of Information Law. |nformation
whi ch woul d not otherw se have been available to

t hose outside the departnent and the Board of
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Corrections. These docunents shed sone |light on the
secret activities in the jails, but flourish Iike
mushroons in a dark and danp environnment. For
exanpl e, because of information contained in an enai
sent by the Executive Director of the Board of
Corrections to nenbers of the Board on Novenber
13,2013, we know about the plight of Jose Bauti sta,
who was admtted to the Ois Bantum Correctional
Center on January 10, 2013.

According to email, after adm ssion M.
Bauti sta was quote, "Subject to a new adn ssion
medi cal exam after which he was sent to an intake
pen. In the pen, he attenpted to commt suicide by
tying hinmself up by his neck on the bars of the cell.
A video shows i nmates taking himdown, officers
entering the cell, and then use of force and rear
cuffing of the inmate on the ground. The inmate
appears to junp to his feet at one point, and is then
subject to nore force. He and the officers nove out
of the canera's view [bell] and then..."

CHAI RPERSON CROALEY: [|'msorry you don't
have the time you would like or we would like you to

have.
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ELI ZABETH MYERS: Can | finish ny
par agr aph?

CHAI RPERSON CROWLEY: You can finish your
paragraph you can pl ease submt your testinony --

ELI ZABETH MYERS: [i nterposing] kay,
okay, okay.

CHAI RPERSON CROALEY: -- for the record,
and it will be entered as part of the record. |
apol ogi ze. That was part of the reason | was rushing
trying to trying to rush testinony of the
conmi ssioners earlier, which took al nost an hour. So
it delayed the whole hearing, and there are a | ot of
peopl e today after you, about ten people who want to
testify.

ELI ZABETH MYERS: Ckay. Finish ny
paragraph? Yes? Thank you. "He and the officers
nove out of the canera's view, and then come back
into view where the officers are seen repeatedly
punching the inmate on the floor. The innmate
sustained potentially life-threatening injuries
requiring energency for a perforated col on and
hospitalization. Alnost finished.”" Although this
emai | contains descriptions of three deaths, two by

sui ci de and acts of use of force on four other
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i ncarcerated persons, | chose this particular case to
hi ghl i ght because it includes issues of nental
heal th, brutality, and | ack of transparency. A nman
with nental illness attenpts suicide, and corrections
officers' officers response is to use significant
force against him including while he was on the
fl oor and handcuffed. A portion of the incident
cannot be seen on video because the video |ine of
sight is partial. But we know the truth of what
happened because it was captured on a video.
Unfortunately, these brutal acts are often commtted
outside the canera's range. And | thank you for this
opportunity to speak

DEBORAH HERTZ: M nane is Deborah Hertz.
I'ma nenber of the Jails Action Coalition. | thank
you for the opportunity to speak today. | actually
want to clear up a conmon m sconception both here and
in the press that there is no difference between
punitive segregation and solitary confinenent. |
have had the opportunity working at the U ban Justice
Center to -- | goon -- | do Brad Hinterviews, and I
speak to roughly 20 incarcerated individuals per week
that also are dealing with nental health issues. And

|"ve spoken to many who are in solitary, and the idea
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that they are two separate things is sinply not true.
And the idea that it's not a punishment is -- it's
fl awed because it the word 'punitive' in the title
itself. But in any event, the -- Sorry.

And the fact that one can owe days to the
box neans you can at one tinme during your
i ncarceration have commtted infractions and be
released. And then at a later date, be expected to
conpl ete those days. So that -- it's so far renoved
at that point fromthe actual infraction that that's
not going to be a deterrent for that, or proper
puni shnment for that behavior. | have submtted sone
copies for all of you. This is called Voices from
the Box, and it is a collection of personal accounts
of people that -- you use the termpunitive
segregation but we use the termsolitary confinenent.
And as you can see, there are really-- Wen you read
through this, there really aren't many differences,
and just very quickly for exanple being |locked into a
cell, and a very small cell for a mninumof 23 to 24
hours a day.

It's not always -- you don't always get
your hour of recreation. Sonetines you're denied

recreation. People are denied food. They're denied




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

COW TTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH, DEVELOPMENTAL DI SABI LI TY,
ALCOHCOLI SM  SUBSTANCE ABUSE AND DI SABI LI TY SERVI CES JO NTLY
WTH THE COMM TTEE ON FI RE AND CRI M NAL JUSTI CE SERVI CES

AND THE COWM TTEE ON HEALTH 220
showers. They are -- they do not have any hunman
interactions or very few. There's no human contact.
The idea is to truly isolate you fromany kind of
social role, and this has really detrinmental effects.
And, in fact, has been called "torture' by the United
Nat i ons Rapporteur on Torture, and people's nental
heal th deteriorates when you're inside, and if you --
and it exacerbates those synptons that one has. But
al so, people without any nental illness can becone so
[bell] while in solitary confinenent. Thank you.

CHAI RPERSON CROWALEY: Thank you and you
both. W're going to try to stay as brief as we can.
You know, I'mgoing to follow up with sone questions.
We have your content information. W have Sarah Kerr
here fromthe Legal Aid Society. I'mgoing to call a
few people up at the sane tine. Mary Beth Anderson
fromthe Urban Justice Center

[ Pause]

SARAH KERR: Good afternoon. Thanks for
staying so long and hearing fromus. You'll see |I'm
handi ng out a termpaper. Don't worry. | never plan
to do that as a ny oral testinony, and |'ve now cut
nmy oral testinony significantly. The scope of

problens in our jails are well known. The tragic
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outcones of the failure to act are also well known,
and a nunber of you have brought up sone of those
tragedi es today, and I'mnot going to repeat them
could recount stories of medical neglect. | could
recount seemngly endless stories of brutality
inflicted on people who are incarcerated in our city
jails. But we need to talk about reform and we need
to take action. Qur jails have a culture of violence
that is unacceptable. Staff resort to force first
and fail to inplenment interventions that would stop
the cycle of violence, and address root problens in
an appropriate managenent of the individuals who are
in their care.

The increase in the use of punitive
segregation in the Bl oonberg Adm ni stration was
outrageous. \While New York State prisons and the
rest of the country were inplenenting reforns, New
York City, ny city, our city inexplicitly was
increasing its use. This was irrational, tortuous
and harnful to countless people in the jails. The
absurdity of the punishnment continues to be obvious.
The wait list for punitive segregation, and there is
a policy to inplenent old bing tinme regardl ess of

whet her individuals later adjust to the jails and
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don't reinfract. The wait list, you don't get taken
off of the wait list if you don't have nore problens.
You stay on the wait list. This is wong. W nust
have rational policies that elimnate this punishnment
for the sake of punishnment. Sentences are too |ong.
The 22 to 24-hour isolation is to onerous for our
fell ow human bei ngs.

I ndi viduals with serious nental health
needs and our young people in particular cannot
withstand this isolation. Yet, we continue to use it
agai nst them \When soneone cuts thenselves in
punitive segregation cell, our policies nust
recogni ze that this is a cry for help. The attitudes
t hat suggest that individuals are gang | eaders or
mani pul ati ve are wong headed and result in tragic
cases of neglect that we have seen all too recently.
Many studi es have al ready been done. | was happy to
hear a | ot of them nentioned today. The Justice
Center, the Council of State Governnent did a study
as part of their -- Bloonberg' s task force and DOHVH
has done a nunber of studies denonstrating the
i kelihood of injuries to people in jails who have
mental illness. The Board of Correction has also

conducted sone studies. W know we need to increase
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the beds in CAPS. W know we need to increase access
to CAPS. W need mnunicipal |eadership to inplenent

| ong-lasting reforns, and we need to change the
violent culture [bell] in our jails. 1'll stop.

CHAlI RPERSON CROWALEY: Can we have your
testi nony?

[ Pause]

MARY BETH ANDERSON: Thank you for
allowing us to testify here today. | simlarly am
not going to read fromny testinony, but wll
hi ghli ght sone of the reforns that | think are
needed. That--

CHAI RPERSON CROWLEY: Pl ease state your
nane.

MARY BETH ANDERSON: GCh, |'m so sorry.
Mary Beth Anderson. |1'mthe Director of the Urban
Justice Center, Mental Health Project. But before
that for many, many years | was a col |l eague of Sarah
at the Legal Aid Society in the Crimnal Defense
Di vision where | worked as an attorney representing
people with serious nental health problens for about
15 years. | also got nmy Social Wrk Degree during
that tine period because | found it hel ped inforned

ny practice. So I'malso now a |licensed socia
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worker. And that our jails have experienced an
uptick in violence does not surprise ne, but it does
di smay ne because | cannot believe that it's getting
worse. | do believe that the increased use of
puni tive segregation does help contribute to the
culture of violence, and that, therefore, elimnation
of punitive segregation is warranted.

| think that the Departnent of
Corrections does need to have additional training
and, in fact, | know they are going to be
i mpl emrenting the Mental Health First Aid Training,
which is a nodel done for our public safety officers,
and | hope that that helps. But they're only
starting with the new training class. So | hope that
t hey expand, and provide this training throughout the
Departnent of Corrections. They do, indeed, have a
difficult job, but they -- it's the job the signed up
for and they have to expand and provide this training
t hroughout the Departnent of Corrections. The do,
i ndeed, have a difficult job, but it's the job they
signed up for, and they have to do it in a way that
is consistent with professional ethics as well as

safety.
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In addition, we would recommend that al
enpl oyees -- all enployees, everyone who works in a
city jail facility be trained on trauma inforned
care. Mny, many, nany people, in fact, the vast
majority of people who cone in contact with the
Crimnal Justice System as defendants do have traunma
issues. |It's not a soft-on-crine approach. It's an
approach that's been shown in other prison systens to
decrease incidents. Finally, | think that for us to
have any true difference, neaningful difference on
nmental health in our society, we have to becone nore
transparent, and elimnate the stignma and
discrimnation that people with nental illness face.
Nor man Seabr ook showed how terrible it can be for a
person with nental illness when he said --

And |'msure he didn't nean it this way.
He said they should use the noney to send people with
mental illness Upstate to institutions. W are
trying to help people engage in recovery in the
community, not in institutions, and ideally that's
what we do, be nore open, and pronul gate policies
that pronote nore openness and recognition of nental
health i ssues. The City does have an Initia

Psychiatric Episode Initiative. [bell] So, for




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

COW TTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH, DEVELOPMENTAL DI SABI LI TY,
ALCOHCOLI SM  SUBSTANCE ABUSE AND DI SABI LI TY SERVI CES JO NTLY
WTH THE COMM TTEE ON FI RE AND CRI M NAL JUSTI CE SERVI CES

AND THE COWM TTEE ON HEALTH 226
peopl e who have first grade episode of psychosis, |
amon the advisory board. | think initiatives |ike
that need to be expanded. Thank you.

CHAI RPERSON CROMALEY: Next, we're going
to hear fromthe Fortune Society, Dr. Kirk, Anthony
James, and at the sane time | would like to invite
the Brooklyn and the Bronx Defenders. W have from
Brookl yn Nick Malinowski [sp?]. I'msorry. | can't
read your handwiting, and Pagenette Franklin, and
t hen Skylar [sp?] Al bertson fromthe Bronx.

[ Pause]

CHAI RPERSON CROALEY: Mbve in so you fee
confortable. [sic]

DR. KI RK ANTHONY JAMES: MW nane is Dr.
Kirk Anthony Janes fromthe Fortune Society, and I
just want to say thank you for allow ng us an
opportunity to testify. | have often heard the
saying that insanity is doing the sanme thing over and
over and expecting different results. W've known
for probably 200 years that solitary confinenent does
not work. There is a |lot of research that has been
conducted that has shown that solitary confinenent
has |l ed to psychosis in various settings. A question

that hasn't been asked here today, which | think is




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

COW TTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH, DEVELOPMENTAL DI SABI LI TY,
ALCOHCOLI SM  SUBSTANCE ABUSE AND DI SABI LI TY SERVI CES JO NTLY
WTH THE COMM TTEE ON FI RE AND CRI M NAL JUSTI CE SERVI CES

AND THE COWM TTEE ON HEALTH 227
really interesting, is that if we can acknow edge
that so many people in prison are nentally ill, why
are we not asking then why are they going to prison?

And maybe this is not the hearing for
that, but if we're all under the understanding that
there's a |large anobunt of people in prison that are
mentally ill, | think a question should be asked why
are they in prison to begin wwth? The first person -
- I"malso a licensed therapist, and | renenber
wor king with an individual once they were rel eased
fromprison. And their crime was actually during a
psychotic episode they tried to kill thenselves, and
do you know what happened? They were arrested and
charged with possession of a weapon. And | thought
that's a real problemin regards to our understandi ng
of nmental health. So the person that testified spoke
about trauma, and the pervasiveness of trauma in
prisons.

And | think we listened to a | ot of
testinony today that makes nme really very aware that
our understanding of nmental health is still very
limted. And what we're actually doing is we're
actually creating the environnent for a lot of this

viol ence to happen in prison. And we're actually
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creating the environnent that will actually contin
the violence in the community once released. So |
think the answer is for all sets of society to
devel op a greater understandi ng of nental health,
al so a greater understandi ng of what works, right?
Because it's not - -doing the same thing over and
over and not having the results that we're | ooking
for. So we're seeing solitary confinenent doesn't
wor k.

It doesn't work for the correction

228

ue

and

of fi cers. It doesn't work for the individuals. And

a personal itemthat | wanted to share right, was
that I|"malso fornerly incarcerated. And | can te
you, you know what, | spent nine years in prison
under the Rockefeller Drug Laws, and the experienc
that were the worst for nme was actually going to t
box or the bing or whatever you want to call it.
| was sent there for a mnor offense. | was sent
there because | worked in the law library, and |
possessed sonebody's | egal docunment, which I was
maki ng a copy for them right.

And this was consi dered enough of an
infraction to send ne to the box. And | was

fortunate that | only got a chance to spend a week

es

he

And
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there before a riot in the prison actually allowed ne
to | eave and themto put other people there. But I
can tell you that it was the | owest period of ny

life, and I only spent a week. So inmagine all these
ot her young nmen, wonen nentally ill, pregnant wonen
that are being sent to solitary confinenment. | think

it'"s really in humane that as an advanced society we

still feel that punishnent is a way to respond to
social ills. Thank you
[ Pause]

SKYLAR ALBERTSON:. Good afternoon. My
name i s Skylar Al berstson, and I'mthe Assistant to
the Executive Director of the Bronx Defenders. In
this capacity, | have been conducting interviews
since January with clients of the Bronx Defenders
currently or fornerly held in solitary confinenment at
Ri kers Island, including in RHU. | would like to
thank the Council for the opportunity to testify on
this matter. One year ago | graduated from coll ege
excited to begin ny first full-time job at the Bronx
Def enders. Having interned at a public defender
of fice as a undergraduate student, | assuned that not

much woul d shock ne. For several nonths, this




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

COW TTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH, DEVELOPMENTAL DI SABI LI TY,
ALCOHCOLI SM  SUBSTANCE ABUSE AND DI SABI LI TY SERVI CES JO NTLY
WTH THE COMM TTEE ON FI RE AND CRI M NAL JUSTI CE SERVI CES

AND THE COWM TTEE ON HEALTH 230
expectation held true. Then in January, | began
neeting with clients held in solitary.

Not hi ng coul d have prepared ne for what |
woul d hear. The treatnment of individuals placed in
solitary confinenent at Ri kers Island goes far beyond
what | ever inmagined could be possible in the United
States. It is horrifying and it is shaneful.

Roughly three nonths ago | sat across the table from
Luguan [sp?] Berkeley in a cranped interview in

Ri kers. Laquan was hunched over with one arm
handcuffed to a wall. The fear in his eyes was
painfully clear. 1In a word, he | ooked broken. Prior
to arrive at Rikers, Laquan had been di agnosed with
multiple mental illnesses and |earning disabilities.
Yet, once Laquan entered solitary confinenent, he
found it incredibly difficult to access even the nost
basi c services such as nedi cal care, phone calls, and
shower s.

On nore than one occasi on, Laguan was
ordered to hang hinself so that he could see a nental
heal th professional. The correction officers
responsi bl e for Laquan would taunt himtelling himto
hang it up really good, and to call them when he was

about to die. | wish | could say that Laquan's
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situation is unique, but based on the interviews that
| have conducted over the past six nonths, many
aspects of his experience are all too comobn anong
our clients at Rikers. Inexplicitly, solitary
confinenent is the only form of punishment used for
nost infractions at Rikers. Once a person faces

al l egations and appears at an internal hearing for
which there is no right to counsel, the only question
remaining is just how long he or she will be | ocked
away in solitary confinenent.

The nedi an age for our male clients
interviewed this year about their experiences in
solitary is only 20 years old. Once our clients
enter solitary, it becomes shockingly easy for
correctional officers to pile on tickets for alleged
infractions. The nedian amount of solitary time for
our male clients interviewed this year is 105 days.
At least two of our clients have received tickets
totaling well over 1,000 days. The proposal at hand
is crucial for devel opi ng neani ngful changes to the
use of solitary confinenent at Rikers. It is
i nexcusabl e, but arguably the nost severe puni shnent
that the governnent inflicts upon individuals in this

city is shrouded in secrecy.
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Unfortunately, transparency is just the
first of many changes that nust be made. Despite the
guar ant ees contained in the M ninum Standards, our
clients are often denied access to phones, showers,
nmedi cal care, nental health professionals, and
outdoor recreation. Solitary confinenment, as it is
practiced at Rikers Island, is cruel, unusual, and
inflicts both severe harmto our clients. [sic] It
wi Il take nmuch nore than nonthly reports to check the
over-use and abuse of solitary at Ri kers. But
wi t hout knowi ng the full scope of the problem[bell]
and wi t hout being able to nonitor any progress that
we achi eve, we have nowhere to begin. Thank you.

CHAI RPERSON CROALEY: Thank you.

NI CK MALI NKOABKI : My nane is Nick
Mal i nkowski. |'m here on behalf of Brooklyn
Def enders Services, and we represent 40,000 people a
year in crimnal and famly court in Brooklyn. About
6, 000 of our clients have spent tinme in city jails.
Hundreds of themw || be subjected to solitary
confinenment, which we've heard from everyone today is
torture, unqualified. | agree with a ot of stuff
peopl e have said before ne, including fromJails

Action Coalition, and the Justice Center and Lega
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Aid, and would just like to add a few points. One, |
want to express ny di sappoi ntnent that there doesn't
seemto have been nuch effort to include people who
are housed within the cells on Rikers Island in this
di scussion. It's over 100,000 people a year, and
over a mllion in the last ten years, and you woul d
think that they would have a representative here.

| think solitary confinenment needs to be
abol i shed. Like ny colleagues said, there's
centuries of research on this that it creates
problens that it's pathogenic, that it | eaves people
nore prone to violent and anti-social behavior.
There shoul d be zero tolerance for brutality from
correctional officers. Adolescents should not be in
adult facilities. They shouldn't be in jails of any
kind, but as we work towards that goal, | think one
option would be to use their borough-specific
facilities to have 16 and 17-year-old in their
communi ty where they would have better access to
services, their conmunities and famly nenbers. As
we heard from just about everyone today, the
infrastructure and personnel in city jails are not

set up for nmanagi ng conplicated nental health needs.
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So people with conplicated nmental health
needs shouldn't be there until that is rectified. W
don't see the RHUs as a good nodel to resol ve that.
As for the bill, we fully support it. Over the
years, the transparency fromthe Departnent of
Corrections has decreased, and we find it inexcusable
that so many people woul d be subjected to these
policies without any kind of oversight. |In addition
to the reporting outline in the bill, as attorneys we
woul d like notification fromthe Departnent of
Corrections when any of our clients are subjected to
an infraction hearing. Wen any one of our clients
is noved froman observation to punitive segregation
there's typically an interview, which often has
crimnal consequences.

Peopl e are asked to waive their rights to
self-incrimnation, and things like that. And we
think it's inportant to have an attorney there.

W' ve seen this benefit in our inmgration practice
where after the Gty Council funded us to defend
peopl e in deportation hearings, the success rate for
people went from3%to 50% The circunstances did
not change. You just gave them an advocate, and 50%

of the people were able to assert real defenses that
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they belong in this country and were not guilty of
what they had been -- the administrative conflict.
Lastly, | just to share two stories that | think kind
of exenplify situations that woul d hopefully be
rectified by the Bill 292.

CHAI RPERSON CROALEY: [off m c]
[interposing] You have only one mnute. [sic]

NI CK MALI NKOABKI :  Ckay. One client was
i ssued an infraction ticket on May 12th because a
correctional officers alleged he had found sonet hing
in his rectal cavity during his cell search. [bell]
As a result, our client was placed in isolation --

CHAI RPERSON CROWLEY: [interposing] Your
testinmony will be submtted for the record. You
don't have to read it. | understand that you hope
for nore people who have been victinms of solitary
confinenent to cone to the public hearing. Everybody
was invited. The next tine | have a hearing with the

DOC if you want to bring any of your clients, please

do. We'Il read through your testinony, and it wll
be part of the record. |If | have any questions, we
| eap [sic] back at you. I'msorry. W're pressed

for so nuch tine, but it's alnpst 6 o' cl ock, and

there are people who wanted to close this room al nost
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an hour ago. M apologies. Thank you for the work
that you do. W have Dr. Henry Winstein [sp]. W
have Joanna M|l er and Mchelle Bollaire [sp?]

[ Pause]

MEAGAN O TOOLE: Hi, |I'm obviously not
Dr. Henry Weinstein. He had to leave. M nane is
Meagan O Toole. |'mthe Executive Director of the
New York County Psychiatric Society. W represent --
we have sone non-profit menbership association, with
psychiatrists in Manhattan and Staten Island with
over 1,800 nenbers. W' re pleased that the three
commttees are here today on this inportant issue,
and the recent deaths at Ri kers Island have obviously
shed light on what nmany of us already knew that we're
not adequately treating and caring for people with
nmental illness who end up in our jails.

And while overall jail population may be
decreasing, we heard already today that the
popul ation with nental health needs is actually
increasing. W believe that nmuch nust be done at al
stages of the process frompre-trial detention to
i ncarceration to post-rel ease supervision and
treatnment. And we're proud that many of our nenbers

are already making strides in the process including
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havi ng menbers on the Mayor's task force. [|'m going
to be very brief and just say that we're encouraged
by your attention to this issue, and we know t hat
addressing the problens are not going to be quick.
It's not going to be easy, but we stand by ready to
be a resource to the Council whenever our doctors are
needed.

CHAI RPERSON CROWNLEY: [off mc] Thank you
for your testinony. [sic]

M CHELLE BIHA: Hi, nmy nane is Mchelle
Biha, and | actually work nostly in Rhode Island. |
work as an intern, a nedical intern in the Mental
Qbservation Unit in both the wonen's nedi um security
facility and the nen's high security and medi um
facility. And | just wanted to share that recently I
spoke with the Col orado Director of Corrections who
directs the whole state's Corrections Departnent so
it's prisons and jails. But he actually reduced --
He made headlines in New York when he spent a night
in solitary confinenment. But he reduced the
popul ati on of their nunbers in solitary confinenent
fromthe triple digits to the single digits. And his
first priority is leaving all nmentally ill inmates

out of segregation.
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And he did that w thout any increases in
violence. So | just wanted to throw that out there
because a | ot of the evidence today that sort of
suggests how it's been predicted of hypothesis about
increases in violence or decreases in violence
dependi ng upon the use of punitive segregation. But
it's been done in Col orado very successfully, and he
al so previously worked in Woning, or in this
context. So you can talk to himabout it, and | hope
t he Council does seek his advice. He's very open to
sharing his techniques that he used for that because
| think they really need it here in New York. And as
a nedical worker, | also want to echo what the nurses
sai d about needi ng specific roons.

W don't see any patients at all in their
cells whether they're housed in segregation or not.
We have our own nedical roomand we see themin
clinics. And | think that's really fundanmental. So
to the extent that you've all supported that health
and safety, | would nake that environnmental and
structural change as quickly as possi bl e. And t hen
| also want to echo what everyone el se had to say
about changi ng punitive segregation. W should not

have any youth awaiting trial in punitive
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segregation. There should be no use of punitive
segregation for people who have a non-vi ol ent
infractions. There was one youth that | spoke to in
several of ny interviews that |I've done in Rhode
Island. He was given an infraction for having an
expired prescription bottle in his room and then he
woul d - -

In his cell and he was given a sentence
of 300 days in punitive segregation. And it seens
i ke those were, you know, the situations that
Seabr ook descri bed where you have inmates rioting.
There are situations where the Corrections Departnent
needs ultimte authority in determ ning those. But
that's not what's being used for the majority of
people held in these units. They' re small
infractions. They're things that need to be dealt
with |ike throw ng out the prescription bottle and
maki ng sure that person is taking their nedication.
They don't need to be put in segregation that causes
nore pain and psychiatric illness and all these sorts
of things. They can be fixed imediately. So if
you're | ooking for solutions nowin the short term
that's a really good place to start is changing the

infractions that they use. And |ooking to other
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departments that were able to reduce their popul ation
dramatically. So thank you for your tine.

CHAI RPERSON CROWALEY: Thank you both. |
want to thank everybody for staying so |ong today
especially those that had to wait a long tinme to
testify. The Committee will follow up with
questions. So please if you could respond that wll
be great, and we'll add it to the Cormttee Report.
Thi s concludes the hearing of June 12, 2014, co-
chaired by Council Menber Andy Cohen who chairs
Mental Health, and co-chaired by Council Menber Corey
Johnson, who Chairs Health. And |I'm Council Menber
Eli zabeth Crowl ey, and this concludes the hearing.

[ gavel ]
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